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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
OF COUNTRY 

 
In the spirit of reconciliation, Bourke Shire 

Council acknowledges the traditional 
custodians of Bourke and country throughout 
Australia and their connections to land, sea 

and community. 

We pay our respect to our Elders past and 
present and extend that respect to all 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
today. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE MAYOR  
 

In last year's Annual Report, after many years of drought, I reflected on water 
once again flowing in the Darling River and noting that in late April 2021, a minor 
flood level of some 10 metres had arrived in Bourke. La Nina weather conditions 
across eastern Australia have been such that essentially water has been 
flowing over the weir at Bourke since that flush back in 2021. During this time, 
water equivalent to many hundreds of “Sydney Harbour’s” have flowed past 
Bourke.  
 
It is very easy to forget the most difficult times of late last decade when, due 
to extended drought, Bourke was at a “very high risk” of running out of 
water. Drought inflicted stagnant water, dead fish, Bourke’s most popular 
tourist attraction (the Jandra Paddle boat) resting on the sandy base of a 
dry Darling River and a desolate townscape bereft of green grass, or any 
grass for that matter, being the situation. Since those tough times, much work 
has been undertaken to “Drought Proof Bourke.” Whilst these physical works 
are of great benefit, there is a no better fix to drought than rain.    
  
It is with the thought of these drought images in mind, that Council is very 
focused on increasing the capacity of the Bourke Weir Pool. When water 
ceases to flow over the Bourke Weir and based on no further inflows as is the 
case during drought periods, the Weir Pool only has a capacity of 6 month’s 
supply of water for the town. This capacity simply isn’t enough for our 
community and leaves little scope for economic development opportunities 
to be pursued. As it stands with the current weir, once water ceases to flow 
across the weir, water restrictions commence in Bourke as per Councils 
Drought Management Plan. 
 
Council continues to pursue funding for the final business case study to be 
completed and ultimately, for improvements to the weir to be undertaken 
by Government. 
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As I write this introduction, the re-opening of the Bourke Small Stock Abattoir 
is a reality. With the plant having originally opened in January 2019 and then 
closed by the original owners in May that year, due to challenges including 
seasonal conditions at the time, the facility was purchased by Thomas Foods 
International (TFI) in November 2021. TFI are a large, Australian owned, family 
company that operate both nationally and internationally. The acquisition of 
the Bourke Abattoir by this large company is a significant opportunity for 
Bourke and I warmly welcome TFI to our town. May they be part of Bourke for 
many years to come. 

Similar to the previous financial year, much of the 2021/2022 period was 
significantly impacted by COVID when, commencing in August 2021, stay at 
home and travel restriction orders were implemented by Government. Close downs, 
vaccinations (up to three shots plus boosters for many residents), tourists being unable 
to travel and a large number of the community catching the virus. Fatalities were 
thankfully limited and significantly lower than what health officials predicated early in 
the pandemic. Condolences to those families who lost loved ones due to the virus. It is 
pleasing to see that the Nation appears to have learnt to live with the virus as events 
and travel continue to move towards pre pandemic levels. During this difficult period of 
COVID, the community was very well served by members of the Bourke Local 
Emergency Management Committee who worked diligently and effectively to keep 
the community as safe as possible during a most turbulent time. 

Unfortunately, crime in our town perpetrated by children aged 10-16 years of 
age continued during 2021/2022. This poor behaviour in our town continues 
to hold the community back, affecting both liveability in our community and 
tourism visitation. Council works hard with Police, Government and NGO’s to 
seek solutions and I recognise and thank all those working towards such 
solutions.  
 
One of the many impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic was the need to 
postpone, on two (2) occasions, the Local Government Elections which were 
originally planned for September 2020 and then September 2021, until 4 
December 2021. With two (2) former Councillors advising that they would not 
be contesting the December 2021 election and two (2) nominations 
received, an uncontested election was subsequently declared. Councillors 
Grace Ridge and Nathan Ryan joined the Council and I welcome them 
accordingly. To former Councillors Ian Cole and John Thompson, I extend my 
thanks to them for their civic service and contribution to Bourke. Council also 
welcomed Leonie Brown to the role of General Manager following an 
extensive recruitment process. Leonie is passionate about Bourke and I look 
forward to continuing to work with her.      
 
To all my fellow Councillors, thank you for your support and commitment 
to our Shire. The year had its share of challenges and as always, our 
community, Councillors and staff rose to the occasion. We have a lot 
to be proud of in our Shire and I look forward to continuing working for 
the community. 
 
Councillor Barry Hollman – Mayor, Bourke Shire 
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
GENERAL MANAGER  
 

I am pleased to present Council's 2021/2022 Annual Report, a financial year 
that was another difficult period due to the global COVID-19 pandemic. It is 
not my intention to name individuals; however, I take this opportunity to 
acknowledge the contribution of many people in our community who 
helped guide and assist our residents through one of the most challenging 
times in our history. 
 
The “on again off again” NSW Council elections were finally conducted 
across the State on 4 December 2021. Delayed on two (2) previous 
occasions due to COVID, in Bourke’s case, it was an uncontested election 
which enabled Council’s Mayoral Election to be conducted in December 
2021 prior to the Christmas/New Year break. Due to the time taken to 
conduct the election count, most Councils were unable to conduct their 
Mayoral Elections until into the New Year. In Bourke, Councillor Barry Hollman 
was re-elected as Mayor and Councillor Lachlan Ford was also re-elected as 
the Deputy Mayor for the period ending September 2023. With inductions 
and training completed for Councillors Ridge and Ryan, as new Councillors, 
and then for all Councillors, the elected Councillors continue to work for the 
betterment of Bourke, and I thank them accordingly for their contribution. I 
also acknowledge and thank the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for their 
continued enthusiasm in seeking to progress Bourke.      
 
Notwithstanding the pandemic, and its various implications, 2021/2022 was a 
successful year for Council. Whilst this Annual Report outlines in detail the various 
achievements of Council during 2021/2022 and the status of Council’s ongoing 
projects and services delivered to the community who reside in the Bourke Shire 
Council Local Government Area, I make comment on some of these various 
projects. 
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In conjunction with the NSW Government, work has continued towards the 
drought proofing of Bourke. Council has undertaken numerous projects to 
upgrade our infrastructure to ensure the strength, security and sustainability 
of our water supply, with such projects now approaching finality. 
Unfortunately for a remote locality like Bourke, as everyday elapses, it sees 
the region a day closer to drought conditions being undoubtedly 
experienced again. 
 
During the period, Council was successful in achieving significant grant 
funding that has resulted in major improvement projects for the community 
being either in the planning phase, works commenced or works completed. 
With further roads reconstructed and sealed, new footpaths and cycleways, 
new toilet facilities, extended irrigation systems, upgrades to our village halls, 
fencing upgrades and tree plantings, all being examples of some of the 
projects undertaken, Bourke is the recipient of many compliments in respect 
of its positive amenity.  
 
The high-profile reconstruction of the Bourke Memorial Swimming Pool, which 
was unfortunately delayed due to COVID, was successfully completed 
during the period and was the location for Bourke’s 2022 Australia Day 
Celebrations on 26 January. I consider it fair to say that all who were in 
attendance that January day were very impressed with the new facilities. 
With work currently underway on the learners pool and pool entry and kiosk, 
completion of such works will see the rejuvenated swimming pool as the hub 
for aquatic recreation in our community for many years to come. 
 
As residents would undoubtedly be aware, Council in 2016 was successful in 
obtaining grant funding of $10m from the Australian Government to 
undertake enabling works associated with the construction of the Bourke 
Small Stock Abattoir. Despite the required enabling works having been 
completed by Council, acquittal of the grant required the abattoir to be 
operational. Council was delighted in December 2021 when, as a result of 
numerous representations by Council, the Federal Government signed off on 
the grant, clearing the way for the sale of the Abattoir to Thomas Foods 
International (TFI) to proceed. 
 
Various Council staff have been working with TFI in terms of addressing 
Government requirements that has assisted in enabling the facility to reopen. 
Such reopening is now a reality, and this is most exciting for all concerned 
and, undoubtedly the abattoir will be a significant benefit to the region.      
 
As I write this message in November 2022, I would like to thank Council’s 
former General Manager Mark Riley, who retired from full time employment 
in July 2022. Marks retirement was the culmination of a near 40-year career in 
Local Government in NSW. 34 of those years were at Dubbo City/Dubbo 
Regional Council and 14 of those years as General Manager. Mark first came 
to Bourke in November 2019 to assist Council with the impending visit to 
Bourke by the NSW Cabinet, with then General Manager, Ross Earl, away 
from Bourke visiting family overseas. Mark never left! He initially worked on 
Special Projects before accepting the invitation of Council to hold the 
position of General Manager until the Council recruited for a permanent 
General Manager after the Local Government Elections. Marks expertise in 
all areas of local government and as a leader are respected by Council and 
all staff, the quite unassuming nature that he delivers has certainly taught me 
and the management team at Council a lot. 
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I acknowledge Councils staff from across all departments for their 
work in helping to deliver progress and value to our community. I 
also acknowledge the outstanding contribution of community 
volunteers for their continued commitment to the Bourke 
community. We would be lost without their assistance. The 
community is integral in providing feedback and ideas to Council 
for programs and projects and this was exemplified by the 
excellent input by both Bourke and village residents as part of 
Councils review of the Community Strategic Plan during early 2022. 
By working with the community, Council is able to ensure that it is 
meeting the needs and aspirations of the people it serves. 
 
Leonie Brown 
General Manager 
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What we want our future  
community to be 

(Our Vision) 

Bourke Shire will continue to grow as an iconic, outback, regional community 
and destination, which is united and productive, thriving on practical access 

to all modern services. 

 
Our primary purpose and focus 

(Our Mission) 

To provide leadership and initiative in maintaining and improving services 
and opportunities that meet the needs of the communities in the Shire, 

through proactive Councillor Representation, responsible asset management 
and efficient, effective service delivery by staff. 

 
Our guiding operating principle 

(Our Motto) 

Building a strong united community, proud of our past and 
committed to our future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS 
(2022 – 2032) 
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OUR STRATEGIC AREAS  

OF FOCUS 
 

(Our Priorities) 

 
Growing Prosperity  

 Improving the economic prospects for people who live in the region 
 Promoting Bourke as a regional service centre 
 Developing industry and business 
 Promoting population growth 

 
Enhancing Community Wellbeing  

 Taking leadership with our community and governments, to improve social 
issues in the region 

 Encouraging and supporting initiatives with local indigenous communities, 
particularly through the Community Working Parties 

 Promoting participation and coordination between the community and 
Council 

 Encouraging and supporting community initiatives to enhance community 
benefits 
 
Living in the Environment  

 Managing the natural and built environment responsibly 
 Securing a sustainable water supply for all users 
 Considering future generations in all our decision making 

 
Delivering Better Services  

 Providing infrastructure to support community needs 
 Effectively managing Council’s assets 
 Planning for future service needs of our communities 
 Pursuing continuous improvement in the business of Council 

 
Promoting Leadership   

 Advocating the iconic regional benefits of Bourke Shire areas, its people 
and resources 

 Providing strategic leadership for the community 
 Being recognised as an employer of choice 
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OUR PLATFORM FROM WHICH  
WE OPERATE  

(Our Strategic Pillars) 

 

Community:   primary stakeholders and service recipients 

Councillors:   provide governance, representation and leadership 

Staff:    manage assets; deliver services to the community and to  
   Councillors. 

Assets:   roads; water and sewerage; plant, equipment and machinery; 
community facilities and service buildings; staff and finances 

Legislation:       meet all legislative requirements 
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STATEMENT OF VALUES 

As Council strives to achieve its Strategic Direction, all Councillors and staff 
of Council will act in a manner which: - 

 Provides sound civic leadership to the communities in Bourke Shire 
 Continually strives for improvement in every aspect of Council’s activities 
 Focuses on our customers 
 Protects and enhances the environment for future generations 
 Recognises initiative. 
 Is fair, equitable and does not discriminate. 
 
Everyone who either deals with Council, or works at Council, has the 
right to expect that Councillors and Council staff will make decisions 
based on consistent and high ethical standards in line with the general 
conduct obligations of Council’s Code of Conduct.  
 
To this end, Councillors and Council staff shall not conduct themselves 
in a manner that: 
 
a) is likely to bring the council or other council officials into disrepute;  

b) is contrary to statutory requirements or the council’s administrative 
requirements or policies; 

c)  is improper or unethical;  

d)  is an abuse of power;  

e)  causes, comprises or involves intimidation or verbal abuse;  

f)  involves the misuse of your position to obtain a private benefit;  

g) constitutes harassment or bullying behaviour under this code or is 
unlawfully discriminatory.  

Councillors and staff must act lawfully and honestly and exercise a 
reasonable degree of care and diligence in carrying out their functions 
under the Local Government Act or any other Act. (section 439).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



                 17  |   Annual Report 2021 – 2022                                                     

www.bourke.nsw.gov.au                                                                                                                        

COUNCILLORS 

As a result of the uncontested December 2021 Council elections, 
Council is now comprised of the following community members: 
 
Cr Barry Hollman (Mayor)               Cr Lachlan Ford Deputy Mayor)  
Cr Victor Bartley                               Cr Sarah Barton 
Cr Sally Davis                                       Cr Cecil Dorrington 
Cr Sam Rice                                          Cr Grace Ridge 
Cr Nathan Ryan                                        Cr Robert Stutsel 
 
These Councillors have been elected for the Council term ending September 
2024 whilst the Mayor and Deputy Mayor having been elected to office by their 
fellow Councillors for the Mayoral term ending September 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillors as elected for the term December 2021 – September 2023. 

 
L-R:  Cr Sarah Barton, Cr Robert Stutsel, Cr Grace Ridge, Cr Sam Rice, Cr Lachlan 

Ford (Deputy Mayor), Cr Nathan Ryan, Cr Barry Hollman (Mayor), Cr Victor 
Bartley and Cr Cec Dorrington  

 
Absent:  Cr Sally Davis 
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As per Section 223 of the Local Government Act, the role of the governing body, 
that is the Council, is as follows: 
 
(1) The role of the governing body is as follows: - 
 
(a) To direct and control the affairs of the Council in accordance 

with this Act, 
(b) To provide effective civic leadership to the local community, 
(c) To ensure as far as possible the financial sustainability of the Council, 
(d) To ensure as far as possible that the Council acts in accordance 

with the principles set out in Chapter 3 and the plans, programs, 
strategies and polices of the Council, 

(e) To develop and endorse the community strategic plan, 
delivery program and other strategic plans, programs, 
strategies and policies of the Council, 

(f) To determine and adopt a rating and revenue policy and 
operational plans that support the optimal allocation of the 
Council's resources to implement the strategic plans (including 
the community strategic plan) of the Council and for the benefit 
of the local area, 

(g) To keep under review the performance of the Council, including 
service delivery, 

(h) To make decisions necessary for the proper exercise of the 
Council's regulatory functions, 

(i) To determine the process for appointment of the general 
manager by the Council and to monitor the general manager's 
performance, 

(j) To determine the senior staff positions within the organisation 
structure of the Council, 

(k) To consult regularly with community organisations and other 
key stakeholders and keep them informed of the Council's 
decisions and activities, 

(l) To be responsible for ensuring that the Council acts honestly, 
efficiently and appropriately. 

 
(2) The governing body is to consult with the General Manager in 

directing and controlling the affairs of the Council. 
 
Public Forum 
 
Members of the public can make representation to Council at the 
Public Forum which is held at 9.00am at each Ordinary Meeting of 
Council. Anyone wishing to take the opportunity is asked to contact 
Council on 6830 8000 by 4.00pm on the Friday before the date on which 
the public forum is to be held. Ordinary meetings of Council are 
generally held on the 4th Monday of the month. Any changes to this 
schedule are advertised in the Western Herald, broadcast on radio 
Station 2 WEB and on Council’s website. 
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COUNCIL’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

 
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1993, reports were submitted to 
Council on a quarterly basis as to the extent to which the performance targets set by the 2021/2022 
Operational Plan had been achieved during the year. Whilst Council has many functions, such 
functions are distributed to one of the above five (5) Departments in terms of responsibility.  

  

GENERAL 
MANAGER

Leonie Brown

ECONOMIC  
DEVELOPMENT 

MANAGER
Melanie Milgate

MANAGER  
WORKS

Peter Brown

MANAGER  
ROADS

Paul Flanagan

MANAGER 
PLANNING, 

REGULATORY & 
ENVIRONMENTAL 

SERVICES
Dwayne 

Willoughby

MANAGER OF 
CORPORATE 

SERVICES
Ang Pasang Rai
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES  
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Councils Corporate Services Department is responsible for a wide array of functions including: 
Governance, Administration, Payroll, Information Services, Grants, Human Resources and Payroll, 
Risk Management/Insurance, Creditors/debtors, Business Papers, Work, Health & Safety, 
Community Strategic Plan, Delivery & Operating Plan, Financial Management, Customer Service, 
Leases and Licences and Corporate Asset Management 
 
Achievements for the Department during 2021/2022 include: 
 

 Following an extensive community consultation process, including village meetings at 
Byrock, Enngonia, Louth and Wanaaring, Council adopted its revised Bourke Community 
Strategic Plan (CSP) 2022 for the period ten-year period ending 2032. This plan replaced 
the previous CSP as adopted in 2017. 

  Provided to Council in November 2021, an “End of Council Term Report” which addressed 
Council progress of implementing the CSP. Report shows high level of achievements. 

 2022-2026 Delivery Plan and 2022/2023 Operational Plan both developed, exhibited and 
adopted with implementation proceeding.  

 Financial Statements for 2020/2021 completed, audited by the NSW Audit Office and 
presented to Council in September 2021 with the Audit Report being unqualified and 
reflecting Councils sound financial position.   

 Focus on Asset Management capability maintained.  
 Having regard to applicable COVID requirements at the time, Council joined with the 

Bourke RSL Sub – Branch to host Remembrance Day and ANZAC Day Ceremonies in 
Central Park, Bourke. 

 Australia Day Celebrations were held in January 2022 at the recently redeveloped Bourke 
War Memorial Olympic Pool Complex. International Open Water Swimmer, James Pittar 
was the Australia Day Ambassador with Kelly Lienesch awarded Bourke Citizen of the Year 
with Trae Wilson being Bourke’s Young Citizen of the Year. Laura Gordon was announced 
as Sportsperson of the Year and Dustin Nott awarded the Junior Sportsperson Award.  

 Local Emergency Management Committee, chaired by General Manager, worked in 
close liaison with representatives of representatives of NSW Police, Health NSW Rural Fire 
Service, NSW Fire & Rescue, SES, Ambulance, and other agencies, to address the COVID 
Pandemic in Bourke Shire. 

 High level of grant funding once again achieved. 
 Redi Crew continued with successful beatification of Bourke Central Business District. 
 Successfully negotiated the finalisation of the Deed of Agreement in respect of funding for 

enabling works associated with the Bourke Small Stock Abattoir and in doing so, 
concluding Councils obligations in respect  
of the Deed. 

 Inductions held for new Councillors and training held for all Councillors following the Local 
Government elections in December 2021, albeit that the Bourke Shire election was 
uncontested. 

 Statutory review of Policies as required following a Council election completed and 
adopted by Council. 
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Councils Economic Development Department is responsible for: Bourke Public Library, 
Economic Development, Tourism (Inc Back O’ Bourke Exhibition Centre) Events, Cultural 
Partnerships, Youth Support, Community Engagement and Public Relations. 

 

BOURKE PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
The following items for the 2021/2022 period are presented: 

 
Item 2020/21 2021-2022 

Total Loans 6662 5961 
New Members 153 164 
Number of Visitors 4711 4366 
Internet/Wi-Fi 672 320 
Information Requests 743 638 
Tech Help/Printing 995 575 

 
Highlights for the Year 
 
Children’s Services 

 Children’s Craft and Storytime resumed in the library in November. The Library held 7 
sessions, with a total of 30 children attending. Prior to resuming in-library sessions, take-home 
craft kits were prepared each month, which could be collected from the library. A total of 
41 kits were given out. 

 The Library’s first STEM session for kids was held in March, with 4 children attending. The 
children attending enjoyed trying the new VR Merge Cubes to examine planets, dinosaurs 
and other interesting subjects. The Library is planning to conduct STEM sessions quarterly. 

 The Library has started a new LEGO Club for kids and is planning to conduct the LEGO Club 
monthly, with children given a challenge from our Brickman Family Challenge book. 

 
Programs and Services 

 The Library provided a Tax Help service again this year. Despite the Library being closed 
due to COVID for a large portion of the Tax Help period, Library staff were still able to assist 
with 14 tax returns. 

 Be Connected sessions were able to resume in the Library during April. These sessions aim to 
assist older people improve their skills with technology. Sessions are held in the Library every 
second Thursday morning. 

 In March the Library began a Dungeons & Dragons Club, with 6 participants, sessions are 
being  conducted on a weekly basis. 

 
Events 

 The Library celebrated Children’s Book Week in August, and despite the Library having to 
close again due to COVID lockdown, it was able to run competitions online. Activities such 
as escape rooms were made available on the Libraries website.  
During our lockdown closure in September/October, the Library was looking for ways to 
engage online. It decided to hold weekly online trivia sessions for both adults and children, 
using Kahoot and Zoom. These were extremely popular, with 269 people attending the 9 
general sessions, and 32 children attending the 8 children’s sessions. Due to the popularity 
of the online trivia nights, they have continued with general sessions being conducted 
monthly, with 118 people attending the 7 sessions held. In December a Christmas Special 
was conducted with a half ham generously donated by Bourke’s Butchery as the grand 
prize. 
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 The Library provided access to some fantastic videos by Stig Weymss during the September 
school holidays. Stig had been planning a visit to Bourke but had to reschedule 3 times due 
to COVID, so during lockdown he put together some comedy routines, and these were 
made available through our website. 

 The Summer Reading Club ran throughout January 2022. This year there was also a 
challenge for adults as well as children. The challenge was available in print and online 
through the Beanstack app. Related activity packs for adults and children, were available 
to be picked up from the Library. Great prizes were given out, including audio books 
generously donated by Bolinda. 

 The Library celebrated International Women's Day in March, in conjunction with the Bourke 
High School. As there were still COVID restrictions in place in schools, Library staff put 
together a special online trivia, and over 50 high school girls joined with community 
members on Zoom to participate. All the girls had a wonderful time. 

 The Library had a very exciting visitor in June, with Stig Weymss coming to Bourke to talk to 
kids from Bourke Public School, St Ignatius Parish School, Koinonia Christian Academy and 
Louth Public School. Stig is the narrator of the Andy Griffiths Treehouse books, and put on 
two fabulous shows, promoting the library and BorrowBox. All the children attending 
enjoyed the shows enormously, with several coming to the library to sign up. 
 

Other 
 A number of boxes of children’s picture books and adult fiction books were sent to Lismore 

this month, to assist the library to recover from the recent devastating floods. Library staff 
were very grateful to receive the items. 

 

YOUTH ACTIVITIES 
Council is fully aware of the need to ensure youth of the Shire are engaged in pursuits that 
stimulate the development of the mind and body. The Police Citizens Youth Club (PCYC) 
organised programs in association with Sport NSW, Active Kids Program, Touch Football Clinics, 
and the Maranguka School Holiday Program, which have all been resourced and supported by 
Council. 

In early March, Council worked alongside the NSW Office of Sport to deliver the second Far West 
Active Fest, a festival of “fun fitness and laughter. The free event delivered fun activities, sports 
gear and mental health programs through a whole of community wellbeing events.  

 

SMALL BUSINESS 
Council was proactive with small business throughout the LGA following the introduction of Service 
NSW QR code check-in systems and the lifting of stay-at-home orders. In October 2021, two online 
information sessions were held. 18 local business operators attended the morning session with a 
further 15 businesses taking up the opportunity to meet with council staff, health organisations and 
NSW Public Health to provide information and work with Bourke business venues in readiness for 
this 70% vaccination rate reopening. 

Council and NSW Public Health staff followed up these sessions with visits and audits of all business 
that requested assistance during the reopening period. The Service NSW QR code check-in 
system remained in place in the general community for some time. This system was used to notify 
people who were in the same venue as to a positive COVID case. People were then asked to 
monitor for symptoms and get tested if they became unwell. 

During March 2022, Council hosted two Small Business Month forums. This first session was not only 
for business operators but for residents who were interested in making better financial decisions for 
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themselves and their family. Topics included superannuation, basic investment, debt 
management, budgeting and retirement planning.  

 The second session; Empowering Your Business – was extended to all business operators and 
provided information to help the Bourke business community make better financial decisions 
within their businesses.  

 

THE ARTS 
Council continues to be proactive in the sphere of sourcing ways to engage with the community, 
businesses, and service providers for the betterment of all who live in the region.  

In early June 2021, Council officially opened the Bald Archie Art Exhibition at the Back O’ Bourke 
Function Centre. The opening night, to celebrate the 25th Anniversary of the exhibition, didn’t 
disappoint with over 70 people attending the event to get together and take in the amazing 
artworks that showcased the winners of the past. 

The Community Centre in Mitchell Street has also been used and brings about affordable space 
that can be used by community groups including The Bourke Garden Club and Bourke’s Art 
Council with Flix in the Stix. 

 

DEVELOPING PARTNERSHIPS 
The annual ‘Welcome to Bourke’ function, held in conjunction with the Bourke Rotary Club, was a 
successful event with several new residents taking the opportunity to meet Council and 
represented community groups. Over 80 people attended this event at the Back O’ Bourke 
Exhibition Centre. Council always encourages business, schools, community, and sporting groups 
in our community to participate in this evening by attending with information flyers and local 
conversation with our new residents. 

The Community Consultation and Village Tours that occur in the early part of each calendar year 
are a powerful tool for both communities. In early 2022, Councils Management team completed 
the Village Tours and enjoyed meeting the characters of each village for breakfast or lunch and 
took the opportunity to plan for the future. Whilst involving a commitment of time and resources 
from Council, it also requires a similar commitment from residents and Council acknowledges that 
commitment and trust. 

Maranguka, meaning ‘caring for the people’ in Ngemba language, is a community hub that 
works alongside the people of Bourke. Council has actively supported Maranguka in their Early 
Childhood Working Group, 8–18-Year-Old Working Group and the Role of Men’s Working Group 
with the General Manager also being an active member of the Maranguka Cross Sector 
Leadership Executive. 

During the Covid Epidemic Councils partnership with the local Health Network strengthen. Staff 
worked alongside health teams and organisations daily. A success story from the days of covid 
included our ongoing commitment to welcome new nurses and health staff to our community. 
This also included the visiting SES and RFS staff deployed to assist the communities with Covid 
Testing Clinics. Council thanked these volunteers by providing a Jandra Cruise and a touch of 
Bourke merchandise to remember their time in our communities. 
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TOURISM OVERVIEW 
It would be an understatement to say that 2021/2022 was a year of change. Fortunately for 
Bourke, although COVID restrictions were in place for many parts of Australia, visitor numbers to 
the region were relatively unscathed and despite all the adversities, Bourke managed to obtain 
an average season. 

Visitors found that their options were limited for overseas and interstate travel, and were more 
cautious about their movements, but they still wanted to travel, and Bourke was fortunately the 
beneficiary of that. 

Tourism operators in the Shire complied with COVID regulations and provided a safe clean, Covid-
free environment for visitors to the region. Through these efforts they built confidence for the Shire 
as a destination and highlighted to our “baby boomer” market and the emerging market of 
“millennials” (22%) that Bourke was definitely on their return list with a number of businesses 
reporting strong forward bookings into 2022. 

Whilst overall customer satisfaction has remained high, we are continually improving our offerings 
to ensure tourism grows and remains strong into the future. The funding received from both the 
State and Federal Government over the past 12 months has supported tourism initiatives in our 
shire that will strengthen our position in the market as a strong destination to visit. 

Staff at the BOBEC continued to maintain the core functions of the centre and dealt with the 
various bookings, enquiries, and customers when people started travelling. Without these key staff 
ensuring the attractions in the Shire, including the Back O’ Bourke Centre, Crossley Engine and 
Café, maintained their presence; we would not have been able to bounce back as quickly as we 
did.  

Floods and rain in the early part of December meant we stopped the Jandra Paddleboat for 
some time. The staff were lucky enough to get the Jandra PV back on the Darling for the first day 
of our Back O’ Bourke Easter Festival. The Jandra certainly made up for lost cruising and set sail 
four time each day. After the Easter Festival in Bourke more rises along the Darling present 
themselves and the Jandra was docked again. 

 
Events  

Christmas in the Park 

Bourke Shire Council, in partnership with Maranguka, kicked off the festive season on Friday 10 
December at Central Park with its annual Christmas in the Park event. The successful event 
attracted hundreds of families who enjoyed market stalls, live entertainment and a range of kids’ 
activities such as a giant water slide and jumping castle, before the lights were officially switched 
on on the Christmas trees. To the delight of the many small children in attendance, Santa also 
made a special appearance on the night. 

Families in 2021 noticed the 5 new trees along with the larger Christmas tree on top of the Pergola 
at the end of the park, with even more fairy lights being added to trees inside and around Central 
Park and festive Christmas banners down the main street, appearance by Santa Claus, giant 
slippery slide and sumo wrestling, food, and beverage outlets and PCYC activities. Crowd 
numbers again exceeded expectations from last year with well over 600 people in attendance. 
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Australia Day 

Australia Day was the highlight event for January 2022 along with the newly upgraded Bourke War 
Memorial Swimming Pool. Overall, the kids enjoyed the pool party theme that had inflatables, 
Dash for Cash, Watermelon Eating Competition, Dive for Dough and a lamington stack to 
celebrate. 

Everyone was encouraged to Reflect, Respect and Celebrate our nation and our people — it was 
an opportunity to open our hearts, respect our differences, and celebrate our strength, our 
generosity, and our strong sense of community. 

Bourke Shire Council’s Australia Day Ambassador –James Pittar, (Endurance Swimmer) delivered 
the official ceremony along with Mayor, Clr Barry Hollman and Phil Sullivan, delivering the 
Welcome to Country and Smoking Ceremony. Flag ceremony was conducted by Tristian Gale 
along with Clontarf Academy- Riley Parnaby and Trae Wilson. 

The official winners were: Kelly Lienesch- Citizen of the Year; Trae Wilson-Young Citizen of the Year; 
Laura Gordon- Sportsperson of the Year; Archie Nott- Young Sportsperson of the Year; and Bourke 
Rural Fire Brigade volunteers- Emergency Services of the Year. 
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Welcome to Bourke 

The Welcome to Bourke social event was held on 8 March 2022 at the Back O’ Bourke Exhibition 
Centre for all new residents to the Shire, along with representation from a wide range of 
community groups.  

Over 80 people were in attendance with 24 new residents to Bourke. It provided those who were 
new to the area with the opportunity to meet members of the community. All new residents were 
provided with a complimentary gift bag of local goods and information. 

Easter Festival                                                        

The Back O’ Bourke Easter Festival has been running for eight years now, initially developed to 
provide an opportunity for the local community to come together to celebrate Bourke’s people 
and places. While the festival has never been formally evaluated, the staff have been able to 
provide some anecdotal information based on observations and surveys completed over the 
festival weekend. 

Attendance at previous festival weekends since 2015, saw over 4000 people at its inaugural event 
and since has fluctuated anywhere since from 4000 to 6000 pending seasonal conditions. The 
festival audience has always broadly reflected the local community and the visiting friends and 
relatives (VFR) market, with a growing interest by intrastate visitors attending in recent years.  

There has also been an increase in the proportion of people from interstate travelling through over 
the Easter weekend that could be associated with the relaxation of COVID restrictions in recent 
years.  

This year the festival was held from 15 April to 18 April 2022. The festival offered over 5000 free and 
ticketed attendances across more than 50 events in music, sporting, art and cultural events.  

The Colour Run, having established itself as a festival favourite saw 320 participants run, walk or jog 
5kms around the town to be dosed in an array of colourful chalk and water.  

Back O’ Bourke Billabong Sessions attracted a crowd of more than 300 and echoed through the 
Back O’ Bourke Information & Exhibition Centre Café gardens on the first day of the festival. Live 
performances featured special guest Kevin Sullivan – “The Sulli- Vans”, as seen on The Voice 
television show earlier this year and supporting act by Kaitlyn Thomas. 

Other free events included the popular Street Parade–one of the biggest community events on 
the festival calendar had over 500 onlookers cheering on vintage cars and fine historic machinery. 

Crowds then migrated to Central Park for the Easter Markets for loads of free entertainment with 
market stalls offering local art and craft, produce, plants, food and refreshments, along with the 
display of vintage cars and surprise visit by Easter bunny and his friends. 

The Old boys Rugby Union game saw a crowd of over 300 and the Back O’ Bourke Picnic races 
with over 2000 patrons. The Easter egg hunt had over 250 children scampering through the Back 
O’ Bourke gardens looking for the elusive Golden Eggs and collecting over 5500 Easter eggs on 
Easter Sunday morning.  

Guided tours to the Cemetery and the Back O’ Bourke Exhibition Centre with historian Paul Rowe 
again were very popular.   

Over the weekend we were also very fortunate to have the Jandra Paddleboat back in operation 
after floodwaters dropped enough to operate Good Friday, Easter Saturday, Easter Sunday, and 
Easter Monday. Paul Roe (local historian) was also aboard the lunch time tours to commentate on 
the history of the boat. 
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The growth and support by Council and the community are the contributing factors to the 
success of the festival which not only hit all the targets for this year but also ensured as many 
people as possible were able to access the best the Back O’ Bourke has to offer. 

Boneyard Sessions- Sunday 24 April 2022 

The Back O’ Bourke Café area played host to “Boneyard Sessions” in April for an afternoon of 
original music and stories from the Boneyard Collective- musicians living and creating in and 
about regional Australia.  

The show was the third in a series of four sessions taking place across regional NSW, each with an 
elemental theme, of earth, air, fire and water. 

Visitor Servicing 

Bourke Information and Exhibition Centre collects positive feedback from visitors with 85% of 
surveyed visitors rating the Centre as excellent or very good. These satisfaction rates compare 
favorably with tourism industry standards. 

The Centre also recognises the benefits of employing and training young people in Bourke into 
possible job pathways that will foster an understanding and passion for tourism in the shire. 
Accordingly, 5 young people have been employed on a casual basis in tourism operations at the 
centre. 

Marketing and Promotion 

The Bourke Visitor Guide, over 120 pages of information that will see it as one of the biggest visitor 
guides in Western NSW was completed and sent to print. The team at the Back O’ Bourke centre 
worked tirelessly on this guide amongst COVID illness and isolation lockdowns. Staff have written 
copy, sorted through thousands of images, and selected and sourced photography and 
photographers, coordinated sections and layouts, advertisers, editing and budgeting.   

The first rollout of signage for the Bourke Shire got underway with contemporary signs popping up 
around the villages of Enngonia, Barringun and Byrock with further instals planned (pending 
weather conditions) for Louth, Fords Bridge, Yantabulla & Wanaaring.  

The Kamilaroi Highway group engaged a film crew in the region that delivered a series of short 
videos to showcase the region, as well as the route, in an informative and easily consumable 
manner. Kamilaroi Highway members collaborated with designers of the new Kamilaroi Highway 
website and brochure development, with the focus being on the highway’s indigenous offerings 
along the way. Both website and the brochure will champion the indigenous products and 
attractions on another creative level. 

Destination Country and Outback NSW identified some great opportunities for Bourke and the 
region through the Capability Development Program to strengthen the visitor economy. In 
partnership with Destination Country & Outback and the Bourke Hub- Bourke, Bogan, Cobar and 
Brewarrina Shires, we engaged Central NSW Business HQ to run a series of “Becoming Bookable 
Online” workshops for tourism operators in our shire. 
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Local Government Collaboration 

Kidman Way Promotional Committee worked collectively with Murrumbidgee, Carrathool, Cobar 
and Griffith councils to promote the whole region touring route. In April the social media contract 
rolled out. Regular meetings were conducted with the Dowling Track committee that is made up 
of Bulloo, Quilpie and Bourke shire councils. 

The Northwest Joint Organisation developed the Far North West Tourism Marketing Strategy to 
assist the delivery on a range of marketing initiatives as a result of that on behalf of its local 
government partners. 

The campaign will aim to drive destination awareness and tourism-related visitation, and yield 
opportunities for our regions. 

The marketing campaign will be innovative and integrated, utilising a range of mediums and 
channels to effectively engage with our region’s most important target markets. 

It has enormous merit to assist councils, business and community to assist rejuvenate their areas 
given the impact of COVID 19 Virus. This will be integral to a Far Northwest Tourism Marketing 
Campaign using the grant in rolling it out.  

The regions appeal to domestic travellers aged over 50 campaign aims to drive more overnight 
visitation amongst our older market, whilst attracting a younger demographic of 35 to 50 years of 
age to come and stay. 

Representation on the Kamilaroi Highway Committee along with Brewarrina, Walgett, Narrabri, 
Gunnedah and Liverpool Plains councils is continuing to progress the groups marketing strategies. 

The Darling River Run committee, that is made up the shires of Bourke, Brewarrina, and Wentworth, 
meets regularly to discuss development and tourism opportunities. 
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Councils Roads Department is responsible for the construction, reconstruction and maintenance 
of local bridges, the 11.29 kilometres of sealed local roads and 1,834.96 kilometres of unsealed 
local roads, 192 kilometres of sealed regional roads and 379.58 kilometres of unsealed regional 
roads outside of the Bourke urban area. By way of a contract with Transport for NSW, the 
Department also undertakes construction and maintenance road works in respect of the Mitchell 
Highway, from Bourke to the Queensland border to the north and from Bourke to basically Byrock 
in the south; the Kidman Way towards Cobar and the Kamilaroi Highway to the east towards 
Brewarrina. The Department is also responsible for the management of Councils light vehicle and 
heavy plant portfolio, plant hire and the operation of Councils Workshop at the Council Depot in 
Anson Street, Bourke. In terms of funding for its road activities, Council is very dependent on 
government grant funding income.  
 
REGULAR FUNDING 
 
Regional Road-Block Grant 
 
2021/2022 Budget: $2,089,00. This amount includes the Regional Road Repair Program. 
 
Roads under the Regional Road Block Grant are MR 68 South Bourke – Tilpa; MR 407 Louth – Cobar, 
MR 405 Bourke – Wanaaring & MR 404 Bourke – Hungerford. 
 
2021/2022 Expenditure General Maintenance on these roads:  
 
$901,002 spent with this expenditure including grading, clearing of table drains, grid maintenance, 
signage, bitumen patching, reformation, clearing mitre drains. 
 
2021/2022 Asset Management Resealing  
(MR 68- $ 599,357.00 and MR 404- $195,030.00)  
 
As per Council’s Asset Management Plan, Council has undertaken the resealing of 8.1 km of roads 
on MR 68 Bourke to Louth and, 12 Km on MR405 Bourke – Wanaaring.  

Contribution towards other Grants 
 
Bourke to Louth Road MR-68- Sealing- $ 393,611.03 
 
Roads to Recovery (R2R) Funding 
 
2021/2022 Budget: $2,156,728.00  
2021/2022 Expenditure: $2,156,292, comprising the following projects: 
 
Oxley Street Reseal and Mitchell Lane Improvement 
$ 253,094 
 
Dowling Track Yantabulla Improvement  
$ 28,232 
 
Louth Road- MR68- 10 Km of Road  
Total Project Cost - $ 1,468,577 
Contribution from Regional Roads-$ 393,611 
R2R Funding $ 1,074,966 
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Contribution to other grants 
Fixing Country Roads- $ 400,000 (Jandra and Compadore Creek Bridge) 
Fixing Local Roads-$ 400,000 (Caronga Peak Road) 
 
Rural Local Roads including Town Streets (49 km Town Streets) 

 
Budget: $1,049,000 
Sealed:  11.29 km  Listed Roads: 48  Unsealed: 1,834.96 km 
Expenditure: $1,076,581 
 
This funding provides for routine maintenance, grading, signage, minor gravel resheeting, reseals 
and patching, grid and culvert repairs and Local Road Storm damage.  
 
CAPITAL WORKS 2021/2022 
 
Fixing Local Roads-Round 2 
Council secured $4.6M from the Fixing Local Road grants program to conctruct various sealed 
roads in the Shire. In 2021/2022 Council sealed 38.62 KM of roadway of the local network using this 
funding as follows:.  

 
Corogna Peak Road  
Total Expenditure: $1,211,000 
 
Parkdale Road  
Total Expenditure: $561,000.00 
 
River Road  
Total Expenditure: $836,000.00 
 
Weir Road  
Total Expenditure: $498,500.00 
 
Polygonum Swamp Road  
Total Expenditure: $355,620.92 
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FIXING COUNTRY BRIDGES  
MR 68 South Jandra Creek No 2 and Compadore Creek Bridges 

 
Budget: $ 1,915,000 
 
Project Scope: Replace Two Bridges – Jandra Creek No 2 and Compadore Creek Bridges.  
Fixing Country Bridges Funding - $1.515m and Fixing Country Roads Contribution- $ 400,000 (Road 
to Repair Program)  
 
Expenditure: $1,915,000 
 

In April 2020, Council received advice from the then Minister for Roads, the Hon. Paul Toole, MP on 
behalf of the NSW Government that under the Fixing Country Bridges/Roads Programs Council 
had been successful in securing a total of $1,915,000 for the replacement of wooden bridges on 
Main Road 68 South (Kidman Way) at Jandra Creek No 2 and Compadore Creek with two (2) 
lane concrete bridges. 

Works on the Compadore Creek Bridge commenced in mid-July 2021 and were completed in 
September 2021. Works on the Jandra Creek No 2 started in mid-September 2021 and were 
completed in late November 2021. 
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STATE ROADS 
 

Sealed Roads: 357 km 
Unsealed Roads: Nil 
 
Road Maintenance Council Contract (RMCC)  
2021/2022 Routine Budget: $1,018,205  
2021/2022 Expenditure: $1,202,512.68 
 
Routine activities carried out were pot hole patching, edge patching, signage & guide post 
maintenance, correct surface shape, shoulder grading, rest areas and rubbish removal, ground 
vegetation control, wearing surface repairs, grid repairs and restoration of stock pile sites.   
 
RMCC Works Orders  
 
Funding Received:  
Council received $5,249,998 in works orders for the financial year including accruals for works 
completed during the months of July and August 2022. 
 
HW7 South Widening Segment  $ 725,767 
HWY7 South Widening Segment $ 1,858,621 
HWY7 North Widening Segment $ 461,198 
HWY29 Widening Segment  $ 920,000 
HWY7- Reseal Program  $ 801,238 
HWY29 - Reseal Program  $ 483,174 
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PLANT MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 
2021/2022 Expenditure: $ 3,183,542.38 
 
Small Plant Replacement Maintenance & Repair 
Budget: $35,000 
Expenditure: $50,751.00 
 
Plant Purchases 
 
Light Plant Replacement 2021/2022 
Budget: $180,000 
Expenditure: $147,000 
 
Heavy Plant Replacement 
Budget: $1,614,000.00 
Expenditure: $875,672.09 
 
Plant Item Expenditure $ 

1 John Deere Tractor 132,399.99 
2 John Deere Tractor 137,600.01 
3 Street Sweeper Scarab Minstral 398,343.00 
6 Delta Wing Slasher 54,454.55 
7 Gason Slasher 17,136.36 

10 Case Skid Steer 57,865.45 
11 Toro 2 WD Rear Mower 33,782.73 
12 Toro Ground Master 3280 2WD 44,090.00 

Total $ 875,672.09 
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Councils Works Department is responsible for Town Services, (inc roads/kerb and 
guttering/footpaths), Parks and Gardens (inc. provision of sporting facilities and amenities 
cleaning), Main Street, Water and Sewerage Services, Roadside Slashing, Shire Aerodromes, and 
Emergency Management.   

 
TOWN SERVICES 
TOWN STREETS, FOOTPATHS & LEVEES. 

Achievements for the Branch during 2021/2022 include: 

 Town maintenance of Bourke and North Bourke. 
 Reconstruction and sealing of programmed street shoulder works completed in accordance 

with program. 
 Programmed routine repairs and maintenance on streets, footpaths and lanes 

completed. 
 Kerb and guttering replacement program undertaken. 
 Tree replacement program with Essential Energy undertaken. 
 Stage one of Councils tree replacement program completed. 
 Stage two of Council tree replacement program commenced. 
 Installation and maintenance of back lane gates in line with adopted plan. 
 Plan developed for the upgrade of Bourke Stormwater System targeting trouble areas. 
 Back lane cleaning and poisoning undertaken. 
 Tree trimming for street sweeper access undertaken. 
 Rest area rubbish control continued. 
 Street sign replacement for Bourke and North Bourke undertaken. 
 Levee Bank Inspections undertaken. 
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WATER & WASTEWATER 

Council seeks to provide a cost-effective Water and Wastewater Service that meets customer 
service standards and complies with all NSW Health and Environmental Guidelines and 
Regulations and continues to upgrade the town water storages and water storage options to 
fight against ongoing droughts. In addition, Council continues to work with NSW Water and the 
Western Weir program to secure a larger weir pool storage for Bourke. 
 
Councils Strategy for its Water and Wastewater Programs comprise: 

 
 Continue with the Installation of a new sewerage cell at the Bourke Sewerage 

Treatment Works and meet all EPA guidelines as funding allows. 
 Continue to represent and evaluate options and the availability of funding to drought 

proof Bourke and North Bourke which includes the raising of the existing weir by one (1) 
metre or more and the possible construction of a second weir upstream of the current 
Bourke Weir.  

 Regulate the Darling River as part of the Western Weirs Project. 
 Meet all Australian Drinking Water Guidelines (ADWG) Standards where possible 

and practical. 
 Meet Best Practice Guidelines set out by NSW DPI – Water. 
 Explore measures to reduce Council expenditure. 
 Reduce water demand with implementation of Water Wise education activities. 
 Introduction of water saving measures – new meters and telemetry have been introduced 

to help with this strategy. 
 Continue to upgrade Council’s ageing Water and Sewerage Infrastructure by 

applying for funding under all government funding programs. 
 Secure village water supplies and increase storage capacity and water access. 

 
Progress 

 
Council contractors have been working towards the completion of the Charles Street reservoir. 
Council expects that the new 1ML Potable water reservoir will be commissioned in December 
2022. 

Council is working toward the removal of the old Water Treatment Plant; work has begun with 
further funding required to complete the project.   

Council continues to seek funding under the Safe and Secure Water Program to construct new bores 
at all the villages within Bourke Shire. This is a long-term strategy to ensure the future water supplies for 
Councils villages are maintained. 

 
Ongoing Strategies 

 
 To upgrade Council potable water pipelines. 
 Continue to investigate cost effective methods to meet EPA License Standards. 
 Maintain a Sewerage Manhole Lid Replacement Program. 
 Continue to replace all troublesome sewerage boundary traps. 
 Comply with key customer service performance requirements. 
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Asset Improvement/ Replacement 
 

 North Bourke potable water mains to be upgraded. 
 Continual Upgrade of Council telemetry system. 
 New Charles street reservoir and headworks. 
 Replacement of raw water pipes and valves in Bourke and North Bourke. 
 Enngonia water towers renewal. 

 
PARKS, GARDENS AND SPORTING GROUNDS 
 

 Programmed routine repairs and maintenance undertaken. 
 Shade trees planted in strategic locations at Davidson Oval, Central Park and around 

Bourke. 
 Watering and fertilising of all ovals and parks undertaken. 

 
BOURKE AIRPORT 
 

 Routine maintenance works undertaken. 
 Maintenance to fencing to keep vermin out and off the airstrips. 
 Yearly technical structural inspection completed. 
 Yearly Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) survey completed. 
 Ensure adequate numbers of trained Airport Reporting Officers (ARO’s). 
 RPT Accreditation maintained. 
 CASA Audit completed. 

 
VILLAGE AMENITIES 
 

 Routine repairs and maintenance undertaken as required. 
 Assistance provided by village communities. 
 Continued support during village functions. 
 Village street reseals undertaken in accordance with programmed. 
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Councils Planning, Regulatory and Environmental Services Department is responsible for a variety 
of functions including Land Use Strategic Planning, Building and Development, Property 
Information Services, Regulatory Services and Environmental Control (inc. food premises and dog 
control), Solid Waste Management (inc. Kerbside Waste Collection and Bourke Tip), Bourke War 
Memorial Olympic Pool, Cemeteries and Property Maintenance. 

Land Use Planning and Regulation 

Council continued to adhere to its principal land use planning and regulation instrument in the 
reporting year, the Bourke Local Environmental Plan 2012. Development applications approved 
for 2021/2022 totaled 20, with no Section 96 applications and Complying Developments 
applications received. The total value of projects amounted to $14.757m. 

The Far West Regional Plan 2036 applies to the Bourke Local Government Area. The Regional Plan 
is the NSW Government’s planning blueprint for the Region. The vision of the Plan is to create a 
diverse economy, supported by the right infrastructure, an exceptional natural environment and 
resilient communities. It is anticipated that the vision will be delivered through three goals: 

 A diverse economy with efficient transport and infrastructure networks; 
 Exceptional semi-arid rangelands traversed by the Barwon-Darling River; 
 Strong and connected communities 

 
The Far West Regional Plan 2036 identifies that there are many successful examples of 
collaborative partnerships and innovative solutions to meet the challenges of demographic 
change and service delivery in rural and regional communities. It further identifies that proactively 
planning for change can provide the most benefit to communities. Together, the Department of 
Planning and Environment (Western Region) and Bourke Shire Council have prepared a localised 
action plan which brings together the numerous actions contained in the Far West Regional Plan 
2036 and the Bourke Community Strategic Plan. 

Bourke Shire Councils local strategic planning statements (LSPS) have been implemented and are 
a pivotal tool for local strategic planning in NSW. The LSPS will inform local statutory plans and 
development controls and give effect to regional and district plans. The LSPS will also identify 
where further strategic planning effort may be needed. The statements act as a unifying 
document, drawing together and summarising planning priorities identified through state, 
regional, district and local strategic work. They provide the local context and local-scale 
expression of actions and priorities from these plans. In practice, the statements will shape how the 
Local Environmental Plan (LEP) and Development Control Plans (DCP) evolve over time. 

The statements will be the primary resource to express the desired future for the LGA as a whole 
and for specific areas. This will guide and indicate what significant changes are planned for the 
LEP and DCP to deliver the vision. The LSPS identifies the need for further local strategic planning 
effort such as precinct and master planning, local character statements, and local housing and 
infrastructure strategies. 

The LSPS assist councils in their consideration of infrastructure needs to support growth. This 
promotes transparency and clarity by identifying upfront the strategic infrastructure priorities for an 
area, which can then be delivered through a range of methods such as government funding or 
planning agreements. The LSPS is a succinct and easy to understand document that allows 
community members to contribute to and understand the future direction of land use in their 
area. This future direction is framed in the LSPS as a 20-year vision for the LGA, which builds on the 
10-year vision in council’s Community Strategic Plan. Importantly, it includes a planning vision, 
emphasising strategic land use, transport and environmental planning, clearly demonstrating how 
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the area will change to meet the community’s needs in 20 years’ time. The 20-year vision is 
derived from a community strategic visioning process conducted as part of the Community 
Strategic Plan prepared under the Local Government Act 1993, or from a separate engagement 
process. 

The LSPSS includes a very specific vision for Bourke Shire in that Bourke Shire will continue to 
establish as an iconic, outback, regional community and destination, focusing on engagement 
and unity within the Shire to foster sustainable prosperity and productivity. 

Our unique environment and remote location are key assets to further promote and utilise as a 
major tourism draw card. Using current trends in tourism and supporting value add opportunities 
are a priority for Council. 

Continuing to value and protect our natural environment including the majestic Darling River, 
iconic National Parks and diverse landscape is vital to the sustainable prosperity and productivity 
of our region. These natural assets are core to the everyday livelihood of our communities. 

Diversification in primary production and a continued tourism focus will be pivotal to the 
sustainability of local industry and employment opportunities. Building resilience and adapting to 
climate change and natural hazards will continue to be an ongoing focus for Council. 

Establishing water security for our villages and the Bourke township is essential to secure the 
longevity of the community. Bourke is a major thoroughfare for several arterial roads. 

Representing the central access point to major cities including, Adelaide, Brisbane, Melbourne 
and Darwin, investigating and promoting Bourke as a potential freight and logistics hub for 
Western NSW is an opportunity for industry development. 

Council recognises that the Shires population is declining. Councils core aim is to ensure we 
stabilise change for the community across the LGA and optimise services available to residents for 
the next 20 years. Council is committed to supporting key opportunities that will support the Shire’s 
villages, particularly tourism. 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (S93G.5) 

The Bourke Local Environmental Plan 2012 was gazetted by the NSW Government in January 2013. 
Council continued to comply with the Plan during the reporting period with development and 
planning issues being assessed in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act and any other legislative act that may be relevant. 

Heritage Conservation 

Council continued its commitment to providing Heritage Services during the reporting period by 
funding the engagement of a Heritage Advisor. The Heritage Advisor’s role in Council included 
providing advice to owners of heritage listed buildings, assisting owners and Council with grant 
applications and providing comments for proposed developments on heritage buildings. The 
Heritage Advisory Service, along with Councils annual $15,000 Local Heritage Fund, are funded 
jointly by the NSW Heritage Office and Council. Council continued to offer the Local Heritage 
Assistance Fund for residents to apply for funding of restoration and to undertake routine 
maintenance of older building. This is offered on a dollar-for-dollar basis with grants up to $2000. 
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Environmental Health – Administration, Inspection, Control 

Routine water sampling and testing continued throughout the year to ensure Council’s potable 
water supply service meets NSW Health and Australian Water Quality Guidelines. Samples were 
collected weekly and sent to the Division of Analytical Laboratories (DAL) in Sydney for micro-
biological analysis. Chemical samples were collected every 6 months and Fluoride Sampling was 
undertaken monthly for analysis by the DAL. Non-compliant samples were acted upon. Routine 
water sampling of the untreated non-potable village water supplies, as recommended by NSW 
Health, was undertaken and analysed by the DAL. Village residents are reminded that their water 
is a non-potable supply and should not be used for human consumption. Council also assisted the 
NSW Office of Water in collecting raw river samples and sending them to Hunter Laboratories for 
analysis, and for the monitoring and control of Blue Green Algae under the River Watch Scheme. 

Council continues to apply its On Site Sewerage Management Policy with all new applications for 
onsite sewerage management systems requiring applications, assessment and approval under 
relevant guidelines and legislation. Council has a register of systems and a routine of inspections 
of existing systems is programmed as outlined in the policy on a risk priority basis. 

Council staff have been proactive with its swimming pool barrier inspection program that meets 
Council’s obligation under the Swimming Pools Act 1992 and Swimming Pools Regulation 2008, to 
increase pool safety awareness and to reduce infant drowning and near drowning events within 
the Bourke Shire Local Government Area. Council utilised local media outlets to promote safety 
for pools and promoted the NSW Swimming Pool Register. Council staff undertook mandatory 
inspections as part of the Swimming Pool Inspection Program with 1 inspection carried out at 
Tourist and Visitor Accommodation sites and 3 inspections carried out on residential swimming 
pools. These inspections resulted in the issuing of non-compliance certificates under clause 21 of 
the Regulation but later mandatory re-inspections for these pools resulted in the issue of 
certificates of compliance under section 22D of the Swimming Pools Act. No inspections were 
carried out on premises with 2 or more dwellings. 

Ranger Services 

Animal control and regulatory services continued to be the main focus in the provision of Ranger 
Services for the year. In 2020/2021 Council spent $152,602.00 on companion animal management 
and regulatory related activities. 

A strong focus throughout the financial year was on greater liaison and more positive relationships 
with the community, particularly in relation to assisting in capturing stray animals, the surrendering 
of unwanted pups and educating the broader community on responsible pet ownership. 

Bourke Shire Council continued its alliance with various animal rescue organisations to rehome 
suitable companion animals. Before the animal leaves the pound, the animal is microchipped by 
the Ranger and the necessary Companion Animal paperwork is filled out and handed over to 
Rescue Group. Bourke rehomed a total of 107 animals in the financial year. 
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Food Premises 

Bourke Shire Council is an active member of the combined North West/Central West and Far West 
Regional Food Group who met regularly with the NSW Food Authority to discuss issues concerning 
food premises. Being part of the group enables Council staff to keep abreast with new legislation 
and procedures and provides a good network of colleagues with whom food related issues can 
be discussed. Bourke Shire Council is a Category B Enforcement Agency in food safety with the 
NSW Food Authority partnership model. 

The Food Regulation Partnership clarifies the responsibilities of local government in relation to food 
regulation, improves food safety coordination between councils and the Food Authority in several 
areas, including food inspections, enables quicker responses to food emergencies and food 
recalls, enables all councils to recover the costs of food regulation enforcement and provides a 
food regulation forum for consultation with councils and the retail food sector. 

Category B is the most common level of food regulation responsibility. It is the duty of a Category 
B enforcement agency to exercise the functions within “the area” conferred on, and delegated 
to, them through their instrument of appointment (s.111D of the Act). These enforcement 
agencies and their authorised officers act where there is an imminent threat to public health and 
safety or the health of any individual in connection with food, and exercise functions with respect 
to retail food businesses. For example, routinely inspecting retail premises and examining food. All 
required food premises were inspected in Bourke with 20 inspections being undertaken. 

Overall, the standard of food premises in the Bourke Shire Council was generally good with an 
education-based enforcement practice generally working well. The NSW Food Authority standard 
assessment inspection report books were used in food shop inspections, which provide a 
consistent approach throughout. These assessments are signed off by the proprietor and a copy 
provided to them at the end of the inspection, the details of which are discussed on site negating 
the need for additional letters to be sent out. 

Waste Management 

Council continued its Waste Management (collection and disposal) operations during the 
2021/2022 period. The operation continues to be structured on a cost recovery basis, as provided 
for under the reasonable waste charges of the Local Government Act 1993. 

Sound management practices, including the separation of some recyclable materials from the 
waste stream and sustained compaction techniques will increase the operational lifespan of the 
cell in regard to the forecasted lifespan in the environmental impact statement for the landfill. 
Village Waste Facilities were kept to a good standard, clean-ups of cells took place, including the 
removal of scrap metal from the cells at the various village waste facilities. The ‘Recovery Shop’ 
continued to be operated at the Bourke Waste Depot and has gained significant community 
acceptance and appreciation and importantly diverts waste from landfill to encourage reuse. 
Goods are selected and diverted by staff and re-sold through the shop at very reasonable prices. 
Council continues to separate scrap metal from the waste stream and sells the metal for recycling 
as part of the NetWaste Regional Contract. 

Council once again was a participant in the NetWaste group which is focused on collaborative 
approaches to waste and resource management. Council benefits significantly from being a part 
of the NetWaste group and were proactive in participating in regional contracts and education 
strategies through the group. 
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Cemeteries Administration and Maintenance 

Grave location queries are mapped, and as a result, visitors that pass-through Bourke wishing to 
locate relatives or friends’ graves, receive a map of the area with the grave clearly marked. The 
Mud Map tours continue to be an integral part of the cemetery for tourists and visitors. The graves 
that are part of the mud map tour are clearly marked for the ease of people to find and learn 
about the vast and rich heritage of people who lay at rest at the Bourke cemetery. 

Council Staff have seen a continued increase in genealogy requests during recent times, with 
larger numbers of people enquiring about burials and history of the people buried at the Bourke 
Cemetery. 

Maintenance of the Bourke Cemetery was undertaken to keep the area in a clean and tidy state, 
with roads and the watering system upgraded. The replacement of damaged crosses continued, 
with new painted crosses installed. New name tags were also put on making it easier for family, 
friends, and visitors to read burial information. Council received funding for fencing works to take 
place in the old cemetery section. This fencing will stop vehicular access to the old cemetery thus 
minimizing degradation and help preserve the area.  

As Bourke Shire Council is a registered operator of a cemetery, Council completed its legislative 
obligation in completing the statutory operator activity report for the prescribed reporting period. 

Noxious Weeds Management 

Council continued its progress in ensuring it meets its responsibilities in noxious weeds 
management under the Weeds Action Program. Bourke Shire Council receives funding through 
the Weeds Action Program with targeted criteria set as part of the funding agreement. Regular 
inspections were conducted of Council owned/controlled property to ensure the obligations 
under the Bio Security Act. Regular property inspections were also undertaken to provide advice 
to landowners with respect to noxious weeds control. Council continued their membership with 
the Macquarie and Lachlan Valley Weeds Committee and in doing so, attended meetings and 
participated in regional programs. 

Council’s War Memorial Swimming Pool Complex 

Council undertook a major refurbishment at the Pool complex which included work on the 50M 
pool and filtration. The works have seen the 50M pool totally refurbished with wet decks, 
concourses and landscaping. The refurbishment also saw the installation of an accessible ramp 
and steps into the pool which will be a big benefit for the elderly and other people who have 
disabilities with them now being able to access and utilise the pool. The filtration plant has also 
been upgraded such that it now includes a state-of-the-art system. This system will see benefits to 
Council with water savings and a reduction in power usage. Council also erected new shade 
structures at the Pool complex. Feedback from the users of the facility has been very positive in 
response to the shade now available around the pool complex for users to benefit from. 

The Splash Park continued to be a major drawcard to users of the pool complex with continued 
great comments being passed back to council, with users enjoying the many toys and water 
features within the covered area.The new learn to swim pool has seen works tendered and a 
contract awarded. Works have commenced with the total removal of the old small pool and 
works started on the build of the new swimming pool. 

The Bourke Memorial Swimming Pool Masterplan continues to be the lead document in future 
decisions for the Pool complex to develop new and upgraded facilities onsite. Council has 
completed the initial steps in the masterplan to bring the installation of the splash park and the 
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50m pool refurbishment, to fruition. Council will continue to pursue funding avenues for the 
development and improvement of the Swimming Pool Complex. 

Crown and Public Land 

Council continues with the challenges relating to the administration and management of the 
many parcels of Crown Land within the Shire. It strives to ensure all Crown and Public Land under 
Council’s control is managed in accordance with the Crown Lands Act and the Local 
Government Act 1993. A register of all land is maintained to assist with planning for the future 
requirements. 

Council continued to develop its Plans of Managements for all crown lands under Bourke Shire 
Council management in line with the new legislation. Improvements to Council managed Crown 
Land continues with works and upgrades being undertaken.  

Council received funding through the Showground Stimulus fund for an upgrade to the shade 
spectator, food and bar area and for an upgrade to the Showground residence, works have 
been completed on both of these projects. Great comments were received from users of the 
Reserve about the new shade, food and bar area.  

Council buildings 

Council continued maintenance on all Council owned buildings. Improvements this year have 
seen works undertaken with village hall upgrades, renovations to staff housing and other council 
owned buildings. 

State Of The Environment Report s 428a(1) 

A State of the Environment (SoE) Report is an important management tool which aims to provide 
the community and Local Council with information on the condition of the environment in the 
local area to assist in decision-making. Since 2007, Bourke Shire Council has joined other Central 
West Councils to produce Regional SoE Reports as part of Councils reporting requirements. 

Changes to NSW legislation have meant that Councils are no longer required to produce SoE 
Reports annually, but rather, only once every four years in the year of the Council election. 
Participating Councils have however decided to continue reporting on an annual basis so that 
they can provide a detailed Regional SoE report that covers trends in the intervening years. This 
gives a brief snapshot of data for the Bourke Local Government Area in 2021/2022 across a range 
of environmental indicators. A copy of this report can be obtained by contacting Council’s Office 
on 02 68308000, or by accessing Council’s website, www.bourke.nsw.gov.au 
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Population 
 

2340 (ABS June 2021) 

Area 
 

43,116 sq km 

Address 
 

29 Mitchell Street, Bourke, 
NSW 2840 

Postal Address 
 

PO Box 21, Bourke, NSW 
2840 

Phone 02 6830 8000 
 

Email bourkeshire@bourke.nsw.gov.au 
 

Web www.bourke.nsw.gov.au 
 

Employees 84 
 

Salaries and Wages $6,950,000.00 
 

Income $44 million 
 

Rates and Charges Income $4.3 million 
 

Rate in Dollar Bourke 
Residential 
 

1.6988 cents in the dollar of 
land value 

North Bourke Residential 1.3378 cents in the dollar of 
land value 
 

Village 3.2379 cents in the dollar of 
land value 
 

Rural 0.4100 cents in the dollar of 
land value 
 

Total Operating Expenditure $31 million 
 

Land Valuation $281,504,730 
 

Rateable Land Valuation $267,711,070 
 

Rates Assessments 2073 
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Delivery Program Report 
LGA s428(1) 
Bourke Shire Council noted a report as its meeting of 22 August 2022 in respect on the progress of 
Council’s Delivery Program actions from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022. A copy of such report is 
attached as an appendix (1) to this Annual Report.  
 
Audited Financial Reports  
LGA s428 (4) (a) 
Bourke Shire Council has maintained its positive financial position for the 2021/2022 financial year. 
 
The NSW Auditor General is Council’s appointed Auditor. The Auditors report and a full set of the 
Financial Statements for 2021/2022 are included as an appendix to this report and are available 
for viewing from Council’s Office, Library or on the Webpage www.bourke.nsw.gov.au 
 
Particulars of Environmental Upgrade Agreements 
LGA s54P(1) 
Council has not entered into any such agreements. 
 
Special Rate Variations 
Special Rate Variations Guidelines 7.1 
Council is not in receipt of any funding from a Special Rate Variation. 
 
Rates & Charges Written Off  
LG REG cl 132 
The following amounts of Rates & Charges were written off during the period: 

Pensioner Concessions 
 

Written Off $ 
General Rate - Pensioner 27,410.43  
Water – Pensioner 9,743.38  
Sewer - Pensioner 8,012.50  
Sub Total Gross Pensioner Concessions 45,166.31  
State Subsidy Refund to Council 24,841.27  
Net Loss to Council for Pensioner Rebate Concessions  20,325.04 
General Rates & Charges  25,398.10 
Total Rates & Charges Write Off  45,723.14 

It should be noted that Council received a subsidy payment from the Division of Local 
Government for 55% of the pensioner write offs for the year. In 2021/2022 the subsidy amounted to 
$24,841.27. 

Training and Ongoing Professional Development 
LG Reg 186 
 
Having regard to the requirements of the Local Government (General) Regulation in respect of 
induction training and professional development for councillors and following the non-contested 
election of Bourke Councillors on 4 December 2021, it is advised that shortly thereafter each 
Councillor, both new and returning, was provided with a Councillor Notebook, as prepared by 
Bourke Shire Council. The contents of such Notebook is as follows:  
 

 Oath or Affirmation of Office  
 Council - Office Building  
 Principles of Local Government  
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 The roles of the Council, Mayor, Councillors, General Manager, Departmental Managers 
and Departments  

 Training and professional development for the Mayor and Councillors  
 List of Senior Officers  
 Contact with Senior Officers  
 Review of Council’s operations  
 Council and its committees  
 Far North West Joint Organisation  
 Disclosure of Interests  
 Related parties  
 Payment of fees to members. Travelling expenses and insurance provisions  
 Policies and delegated authority  
 The role of the Minister and the Office of Local Government  
 Local Government NSW  
 Recommendation from Senior Officers.  

 
The Appendices in the Notebook are:  
 

 Bourke Shire Council adopted Code of Conduct 
 Delegations of Authority to the General Manager 
 Code of Meeting Practice 
 List of Councils involvement in Local Government Organisations,list of Councils Inter-

Governmental Liaison Groups and list of Councils Community Liaison Groups 
 List of Regional Advisory Groups 
 Far North West Joint Organisation of Councils – Statement of Regional Priorities  
 Declaration of interest form – for use at council/committee meetings 
 Payment of Expenses and Provision of Facilities for the Mayor and Councillors policy  

 
On 8 December 2021, the General Manager met with newly elected Councillors, Grace Ridge 
and Nathan Ryan, to introduce them to their roles and take them through the various aspects of 
the Councillor Handbook. Subsequent to this, Councillor Training/Induction took place on Monday 
28 March 2022 for both returning and new Councillors at the Back O’ Bourke Exhibition Centre with 
Councils Management Staff also in attendance.   
 
Councillor (Cr) Victor Bartley, Cr Sarah Barton, Cr Sally Davis, Cr Cec Dorrington, Cr Lachlan Ford, 
Cr Grace Ridge, Cr Nathan Ryan and Cr Robert Stutsel were in attendance with Cr Hollman and 
Cr Rice unavailable due to family matters. Induction and refresher training were subsequently 
provided to Councillors Hollman and Rice on 14 June 2022 with a supplementary induction 
training course specifically delivered to Cr Hollman, as the Mayor, that same day.  
 
The Councillor training sessions were facilitated for Council by Graeme Fleming PSM. Graeme 
Fleming has a 39 year career in local government in NSW, including 25 years as the General 
Manager of Cabonne Shire based at Molong. He has served as a Commissioner on the NSW Local 
Government Grants Commission and at one stage was the A R Bluett Trust Award Chairman & 
Trustee. The various aspects of the induction and training was reported to Councils April 2022 
meeting.  
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Overseas Visits:  
LG REG cl217 (1)(a) 
No Councillors or staff were involved in overseas travel on behalf of Council in 2021/2022 
 
Councillors Fees  
Council expended $152,535.00 on Mayoral and Councillor Fees during 2021/2022.The distribution 
was as follows: 
 
Mayoral Fees $27,060.00 
Councillors Fees $125,475.00 

 
Councillor Expenses and Provision of Facilities  
LG REG 217 (1)(a1)(i-viii) 
 
Councils Payment of Expenses and Provision of Facilities to Mayors and Councillors Policy allows 
for the payment of expenses incurred by, and the provision of facilities to the Councillors in 
relation to their roles as elected persons and members of the governing body of the Council.  
 
Total amounts of money expended during the year on the provision of facilities for use by 
Councillors and the payment of Councillor’s expenses was $28,267.32. The breakup of this 
expenditure is as follows: 
 
Provision of dedicated office equipment to Councillors - cl217(1)(a1)(i) $4,788.23 
Telephone calls made by Councillors - cl217(1)(a1)(ii) Nil 
Attendance of Councillors at Conferences and seminars - cl217(1)(a1)(iii) $14,484.51 
Induction/Ongoing Training of Councillors and provision of skills development - 
cl217(1)(a1)(iv) 

$8,994.58 

Interstate visits by Councillors, including transport, accommodation and 
other out of pocket expenses - cl217(1)(a1)(v) 

Nil 

Overseas visits by Councillors, including transport, accommodation and 
other out of pocket expenses - cl217(1)(a1)(vi) 

Nil 

Expenses of any spouse, partner or other person who accompanied a 
Councillor - cl217(1)(a1)(vii) 

Nil 

Expenses involved in the provision of care for a child or an immediate family 
member of a Councillor - cl217(1)(a1)(viii) 

Nil 
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Contracts Awarded  
LG REG cl 217(1) (a2) 
The following contracts/tenders for $150,000.00 or more were awarded during the year: 
 

Name of Contractor 
cl 217(1)(a2) 

Nature of Good or Services 
Provided cl 217(1)(a2) 

Total amount payable 
under the contract cl 

217(1)(a2) 
Stabilised Pavements of Aust Road Material $813,507.12 
NSW Spray Seal Road Material $2,442,758.36 
Boral Construction Road Material $605,542.86 
Bourke Waste Management Road Works $469,916.68 
Sandford & Duncan Plant Hire $557,776.36 
J & B Consolidated Plant Hire $180,478.18 
Rollers Australia Plant Hire $296,455.70 
Tolbra Earthmovers & Haulage Plant Hire $3,003,571.82 
NAK Grader Hire Plant Hire $971,149.32 
Orange Hire Plant Hire $266,082.94 
Darnel Pastoral Company Plant Hire $210,883.41 
THM Hire Pty Ltd Plant Hire $3,284,870.23 
Tracserv Trucks Road Plant $784,675.00 
Hutcheon & Pearce Road Plant $165,727.00 

Rosmec Sales & Service Road Plant $243,130.00 
Best Fit for Purpose Road Stabilisation $293,300.00 
Public Works Advisory Integrated Water Mgt Strategy $477,143.00 
Hydrocare Pools Swimming Pool Upgrade $1,667,383.00 
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Legal Proceedings 
LG REG cl 217(1)(a3) 
 
Rates and Charges 
 
Council retains a debt recovery service to assist in the recovery of outstanding rates and charges. 
All charges incurred in using the service are recovered as a charge against the ratepayers. 
 
Legal proceedings incurred by Council during this reporting period.  
 
Legal Costs: 

Organisation Status 
cl 217(1)(a3) 

Amount 
cl 217(1)(a3) 

S R Law 
Debt Recovery 

Ongoing $18,826.36 

Total Total $18,826.36 
 
Section 67 Work on Private Land  
LG REG cl 217(1)(a4) 
No resolutions under section 67 concerning work carried out on private land were made and no 
works of this nature were carried out during 2021/2022. 
 
Contributions and Donations  
LGA s356 &LG REG cl 217(1) (a5) 
The total amount contributed or otherwise granted by Council under Section 356 of the Local 
Government Act, 1993 was $20,502.06. 
 
External Bodies Exercising Council Functions  
LG REG cl 217(1)(a6) 
No external bodies exercised functions delegated by Council during this period. 
 
Controlling Interests  
LG REG cl 217(1)(a7) 
Council did not hold a controlling interest in any corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, 
syndicates or other bodies (whether or not incorporated or whether alone or in conjunction with 
other councils) during this financial reporting period. 
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Participation in Corporations, Partnerships, Trusts, Joint Ventures, Syndicates or other bodies. 
LG REG cl 217 (1)(a8)       
Council has participated in the following bodies during the reporting period: 

 Australian Airports Association  
 Barwon Darling Rural Fire Service (Brewarrina and Bourke Shires) 
 Barwon Darling Water 
 Far North West Joint Organisation 
 Inland Tourism Organisation 
 Kamilaroi Highway Committee 
 Kidman Way Tourist Committee 
 Orana Water Utilities Alliance Technical Committee 
 Murray Darling Association 
 Orana Economic Development Officer Network 
 Outback Arts 
 Regional Development Australia – Orana Region 
 Local Government NSW 
 Statewide Mutual 
 Statecover Mutual 
 Western Division Councils of NSW 

 
Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Programs  
LG REG cl 217 (1)(a9) 
Council has a comprehensive EEO Management Plan, with some of the objectives from the plan 
noted below:- 

 To ensure that management and all employees understand EEO and Anti-Discrimination 
principles and their responsibilities in relation to them, and the EEO and Anti-Discrimination 
Management Plan, and its implementation 

 To ensure the active participation of all employees and relevant unions in decision making 
about the EEO and Anti-Discrimination Management Plan and its implementation 

 To review recruitment policies and practices to ensure they conform with EEO and Anti- 
Discrimination principles and to demonstrate fair practice. It will also provide opportunity for 
increased representation of EEO and Anti-Discrimination target groups in the various areas 
of Council employment 

 To ensure that the Selection Committee members have sufficient skills and are fully aware 
of, and implement the principles of EEO and Anti-Discrimination 

 To ensure that the various Council workplaces and facilities are accessible to people with 
physical disabilities 

 To give the opportunity for people with a physical disability to gain a place in Council’s 
 workforce 
 To ensure that appointment, promotion and transfer policies and practices conform with 

EEO and Anti-Discrimination principles and to demonstrate fair practice 
 To increase the representation of women and other minority groups, in which they are 

currently underrepresented in Council 
 To implement and maintain an accessible and effective grievance procedure 
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General Manager Remuneration  
REG cl 217 (1)(b)(i)-(v) 
During 2021/2022 the total remuneration package of the then General Manager, Mark Riley, was 
$304,000. 
 
This figure includes the following: 
 
(i) Salary $245,500.00 
(ii) Bonus/performance payments $NIL 
(iii) Contribution to Superannuation $27,500.00 
(iv) Air Fares,Private Motor Vehicle and Housing Subsidy 
(v) FBT paid by Council for non cash benefits                                           

$31,000.00 
$NIL 

Total $304,000.00 
 

Senior Staff Remuneration 
LG REG cl 217 (1)(c) 
The General Manager is the only designated Senior Staff member as prescribed by Section 332 of 
the Local Government Act as at 30 June 2022. Council has a flat structure that includes five (5) 
Management Staff. The term ‘Management’ is used within Council and by the Councillors to 
describe the Management Executive, including the General Manager. 
 
LG REG cl 217 (1)(d)(i)-(iv) 
Annual Reporting of Labour Statistics 
Council Circular 22-20 Annual Reporting of Labour Statistics states “Wednesday, 25 May 2022 has 
been chosen as the relevant day for Councils to report on their labour statistics in their annual 
reports under section 217 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2021”. 

  
Annual Reporting of Labour Statistics: matters listed in table to section 217 of the Local Government (General) 
Regulation 2021 

Indicators Total number of persons employed by 
Council who performed paid work on 
Wednesday, 25 May 2022 

Number of persons directly employed by Council: 
on a permanent full-time basis 73 

   on a permanent part-time basis 4 
on a casual basis 25 
on a fixed tern contract 1 

Number of persons employed by Council who are “senior staff” 
for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1993 

1 

Number of persons who are engaged under a contract or other 
arrangement with the person’s employer, that is solely for the 
labour of the person 

6 

Number of persons supplied to the Council, under a contract or 
other arrangement with the persons employer, as an apprentice 
or trainee 

5 

 

 

END OF TERM 
REPORT 
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Stormwater Management 
LGA 428 (2) and REG cl 217(1)(e) 
A significant portion of the revenue derived from the stormwater levy goes towards the 
repayment of loans utilised in previous years with the balance utilised for general maintenance 
works. 
 
Council has acknowledged that the flat terrain in Bourke makes the implementation of 
stormwater drainage at best very difficult and has sought to address the issue within the limitation 
of the funding available. 
 
Council has also secured a loan subsidy under the Local Infrastructure Renewal Scheme (LIRS) 
which is an initiative of the State Government. 
 
A number of small projects have been implemented including the renewal of stormwater outlets 
which had shown signs of deterioration and posed a potential problem with integrity of the 
facility. 
 
Council has previously undertaken loan funded works in relation to the improvement to 
stormwater infrastructure and part of the stormwater revenue is applied to loan repayments. 
Council levies an Urban Drainage Charge which is applied to urban properties in Bourke. 
A total of $177,669.41 was levied and apportioned as follows:- 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Council has replaced the floodgate at the Bourke Water Treatment Plant and the Pump Station 
has been upgraded following its relocation. 
Significant works on Council’s Kerb and Gutter network has also been undertaken during the year. 
 
Other works completed include: 

 Maintaining stormwater infrastructure within budget limits  
 Effective Curb and Gutter replacement 
 Levee pump installation on an annual basis 

 

Statement Detailing Coastal Protection Services Provided (if levied)  
LG REG cl 217(1)(e1) 
 
Not Applicable 
 
Statement on Activities Relating to Enforcing and Ensuring Compliance with the Companion 
Animals Act and Regulation  
LG REG cl 217(1)(f) 
 
Refer to Information within the Environmental Services Department Section of this Annual Report 
 

 

  

Maintenance $54,100.00 
Capital $14,193.06 
Loan Repayments $109,376.35 
Total $177,669.41 
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Report on Capital Works Projects 
OLG Capital Expenditure Guidelines 
 
Nil 
 
Report on Compliance – Human Services Agencies  
Carers (Recognition) Act 2010, s8(2) 
 
Council is not a Human Service Agency under the Act; however, Council has formulated a policy 
on our obligations under the NSW Carers (Recognition) Act 2010. 
 
All Employees have the same rights, choices and opportunities. Allowance is also made to refund 
Councillors expenses involved in the provision of care for an immediate family member to allow 
the Council to undertake their civic duty. 

Implementation of Council’s Disability Inclusion Action Plan 
Disability Inclusion Act 2014, s13(1) 
 
The Disability Inclusion Action Plan (DIAP) 2022-2025 demonstrates Council commitment to 
improving access and inclusion and identifies what we can do to promote and achieve equality 
for residents and visitors to the Bourke LGA. 
 
Council in the undertaking of planning for the construction and/or upgrade for facilities gives 
consideration to ensuring that the facilities are able to be utilised by all members of the 
community. 
 
Some of the DIAP’s key achievements for this year include: 
Planning for installation of disabled access in conjunction with relocation of the Men’s Shed toilet 
facilities.  
Provision of disabled access to the Back of Bourke Centre. 
Provision of disabled access to the toilet facilities at Rotary Park. 
 
Council adheres to equal employment opportunity, and all employment and volunteer 
opportunities with Council are inclusive. 
 
Community consultation was undertaken during the review of the Disability Inclusion Action Plan. 
Feedback from community members was incorporated into the Disability Inclusion Action Plan 
2021-2025 and community consultation on the draft plan incorporates direct contact with 
individuals and disability groups to seek their feedback on the plan. 
 
Council is currently upgrading the DIAP following receipt of grant funding. 
 
Particulars of Compliance with and Effect of Planning Agreements in Force during the Year  
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, s7.5(5) 
 
No Planning Agreements were in force during the reporting period. 
 
Expenditure of Development Contributions 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021, cl 218A(1) 
 
Council does not levy developer contributions. 
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Details for projects for which contributions have been used 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021, cl 218A(2)(a)-(g) 
 
Council does not levy developer contributions. 
 
Total Value of all contributions and levies 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2021, cl 218A(3)(a),(b) 
 
Council does not levy developer contributions. 
 
Recovery and Threat Abatement Plans  
Fisheries Management Act 1994, S220ZT 
 
Council has not been identified in a recovery and threat abatement plan under the Act. 
 
Details of Inspections of Swimming Pools  
Swimming Pools Act 1992, s227F(2) & Swimming Pools Regulation 2018 s23 
 
Refer to Information within the Environmental Services Department Section of this Annual Report. 
 
Government Information Public Access Activity 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009, s125(1) and GIPA Reg,cl8, Schedule 2 
 
Council received Nil requests in 2021/2022.  
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Statistical information about access applications (schedule 2) 
 

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome* 
 

Access 
granted 
in full 

Access 
granted 
in part 

Access 
refused 
in full 

Information 
not held 

Information 
already 

available 

Refuse to 
deal with 
application 

Refuse to 
confirm/deny 

whether 
information is 

held 

Application 
withdrawn 

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of 
Parliament 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Private Sector 
business 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community 
groups 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of the 
public 
(application by 
legal 
representative) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of the 
public (other) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in 
relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B. 

 

Table B; Number of Applications by type of application and outcome 
 Access 

granted 
in full 

Access 
granted 
in part 

Access 
refused 
in full 

Information not 
held 

Information 
already 

available 

Refuse to 
deal with 
application 

Refuse to 
confirm/deny 

whether 
information is 

held 

Application 
withdrawn 

Personal 
Information 
applications* 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access 
applications 
(other than 
personal 
information 
applications) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access 
applications 
that are partly 
personal 
information 
applications 
and partly 
others 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule to the 
Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 
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Table C: Invalid applications  
Reason for Invalidity No of 

applications 
Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0 
Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0 
Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 
Total number of invalid applications received 0 
Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0 

 
 
 

Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed in Schedule 1 to Act 
 Number of times 

consideration 
used* 

Overriding secrecy laws 0 
Cabinet Information 0 
Executive Council Information 0 
Contempt 0 
Legal professional privilege 0 
Excluded information 0 
Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 
Transport safety 0 
Adoption 0 
Care and protection of children 0 
Ministerial code of conduct 0 
Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each such 
consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E. 

 

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of the Act 
 Number of 

occasions when 
applications not 

successful 

Responsible and effective government 0 
Law enforcement and security 0 
Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 0 
Business interest of agencies and other persons 0 
Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0 
Secrecy provisions 0 
Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information 0 

 
 

Table F: Timeliness  

 Number of applications 
Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 0 

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with application) 0 

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 

Total 0 
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Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome) 

 Decision 
Varied 

Decision 
upheld 

Total 

Internal review 0 0 0 
Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0 
Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0 
Review by ADT 0 0 0 
Total 0 0 0 

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions but can make recommendations to the 
original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has 
been made by the Information Commissioner. 

 

Table H: Applications for review under part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)  
Number of applications for 

review 

Applications by access applicants 0 
Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates (see section 
54 of the Act) 

0 

 
Privacy & Personal Information Protection Act 1998 
No reviews were conducted by, or on behalf of Council under Part 5 of the PPIP Act 1998. 
 
ICAC Statistics 
Council had no formal requests from ICAC, in the reporting year. 
 
Delivery Program  
APPENDIX 1: Delivery Program Review as at 30 June 2022 
 
Annual Financial Statements 
APPENDIX 2 – Auditors Report 2021-2022 
APPENDIX 3 - Financial Statements 2021-2022 
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Online: 
www.bourke.nsw.gov.au 
 

In person: 
Bourke Shire Council Chambers  
29 Mitchell St, Bourke NSW 2840 
Business Hours, Monday – Friday 
 
Telephone: 
02 6830 8000 
After Hours: 0419 722 055 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Fax: 
02 6872 3030 
 
Email: 
bourkeshire@bourke.nsw.gov.au 
 
In writing: 
Bourke Shire Council 
PO Box 21, Bourke NSW 2840 
 
 
 



Council Review

APPENDIX 1

DELIVERY PROGRAM REVIEW AS AT 30 JUNE 2022



Economic prosperity 
Our community values its history and heritage and seeks to develop the tourism industry  
Action: Jandra landing completed  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop tourism facilities 
at wharf precinct 
including Jandra landing 

Jandra landing completed  Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Progressing 50% Funding has been identified to 
complete the pontoon at wharf 
precinct. Preliminary works, including 
the required approvals, have 
commenced at the identified site and 
works will be completed in the 
2022/2023 financial year. 

Action: Reopen the North Bourke Bridge to pedestrian traffic 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve access to the 
North Bourke Bridge 

Reopen the North Bourke 
Bridge to pedestrian 
traffic 

 Completed 100% Re-opening of the North Bourke 
Bridge has broad community support. 
The bridge is now closed due to the 
poor and deteriorating condition. 
Council has resolved to prepare an 
engineering specification to allow 
tenders to be called to restore the 
Bridge, subject to restoration grant 
funding being achieved.  A grant 
application was submitted in June 
2022 with a view to funding the 
specification preparation.  

 



Action: Undertake local tourism signage audit 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve signage Undertake local tourism 
signage audit 

Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Completed 100% Audit completed. Signage roll out 
across the villages of Byrock, 
Wanaaring, Enngonia, Fords Bridge, 
Louth, Yantabulla and Barringun 
proceeding. The big Bourke entry 
signage has been installed.. 
Excellent community feedback 
received in respect of such signage. 

 
 

 

Action: Update signage 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve signage Update signage Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Completed 100% Grant funding secured to undertake 
upgrade to history and heritage 
signage. Consultation was completed 
at each of the community meetings. 
Signage has started to rollout in the 
shire villages of Byrock, Wanaaring, 
Enngonia, Fords Bridge, Louth, 
Yantabulla and Barringun.  

 

 



Action: Work with at least one group per year to explore this potential 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek opportunities to 
develop cultural tourism 
experiences  

Work with at least one 
group per year to explore 
this potential 

EDM Completed 100% From a survey in 2020/2021,62% of 
visitors surveyed wanted to engage in 
activities (attractions, tours, events) 
within the shire whilst here. This 
supports the strong sale of tickets for 
attractions at the Back o’ Bourke 
Centre.  
 
The profile of visitors travelling to the 
Bourke region is predominately baby 
boomers (77%) and are from NSW 
(78%). Baby boomers are the 
demographic cohort that are generally 
defined as people born from 1946 to 
1964 and have been Bourke’s most 
regular group of visitors for over 20 
years. These visitors are keen to 
immerse themselves into activities as 
suggested above whilst visiting the 
town and results in them staying an 
average 2-3 nights in Bourke whilst 
doing so.  
 
Staff are working with an operator to 
gauge the potential for Convent tours 
to be aligned with our core target 
market's needs and provide Bourke 
and the region with a unique selling 
proposition, thus opening the 
opportunity for it to be another 
popular activity for the visitor to 
engage in whilst visiting Bourke.. 



Action: Host at least one training opportunity each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek opportunities to 
grow the tourism sector 

Host at least one training 
opportunity each year 

 Completed 50% COVID delayed plans to progress 
training. Council to investigate and 
progress accordingly in the next 
financial year.  

 

 

Action: Participate in regional promotional committees 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek opportunities to 
grow the tourism sector 

Participate in regional 
promotional committees 

Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Completed 100% Bourke Shire Council recognises the 
importance of regional committees 
for the western region. Staff continue 
to work closely with Destination 
NSW, Darling River Run, Kidman 
Way, Kamilaroi Highway committees 
along with the Far West Joint 
Organisation. Connections through 
these committees is vital for the 
region to remain vibrant and 
competitive.   

 

 



Our community welcomes new residents and businesses  
Action: Encourage new business opportunities  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop industries and 
business development 
opportunities  

Encourage new business 
opportunities  

 Completed 100% Council continues to promote the 
positives of the region and 
investigate new business and value-
adding to existing businesses. 
The sale of the new abattoir to 
Thomas Foods International prior to 
Christmas is most positive for Bourke 
bringing employment opportunities to 
the town. Staff are working closely 
with TFI and Regional NSW to 
address planning matters to assist in 
bringing the reopening to 
fruition.Council is hopeful with a 
change of season that the agriculture 
industry will receive a significant 
boost benefiting not only that 
industry, but the whole business 
sector. Interest in the development of 
a Solar Farm, a new Motel 
Development, and a transport depot 
are new development opportunities 
currently showing interest in the 
area. 

 

 



Action: Regular Passenger Transport Service available 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a return of air 
services 

Regular Passenger 
Transport Service 
available 

MCS Completed 100% Air service re-commenced on 
25/11/2019 for Bourke and Walgett, 
Cobar commenced in October. The 
Far North West Joint Organisation is 
administering the air services. 
Passenger numbers were lower than 
anticipated on the Bourke and 
Walgett routes in 2021/2022 due to 
COVID .Post COVID numbers are 
more positive. 

 

 

Action: Ensure LEP up to date 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure land availability  Ensure LEP up to date MES Completed 100% LEP adhered to in planning 
assessments 

 

 



Action: Host welcome to Bourke function each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure new residents 
have information about 
the town, region and 
opportunities  

Host welcome to Bourke 
function each year 

Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Completed 100% The annual Welcome to Bourke 
social event was held on the 8 March 
2022 at the Back O' Bourke 
Exhibition Centre for all new 
residents to the Shire, along with 
representation from a wide range of 
community groups.  
Over 70 people were in attendance 
with 24 new residents to Bourke. It 
provided those who were new to the 
area with the opportunity to meet 
members of the community. All new 
residents were provided with a 
complimentary gift bag of local goods 
and information. 

 

 

Action: Update new residents information each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure new residents 
have information about 
the town, region and 
opportunities  

Update new residents 
information each year 

 Completed 100% Updated new residents information 
provided to participants at the  
'Welcome to Bourke' function held in 
March at Back O' Bourke Exhibition 
Centre.  

 



Action: Information available in newspapers and through direct mail 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure opportunities with 
regards to the NBN are 
maximised  

Information available in 
newspapers and through 
direct mail 

 Completed 100% Council practices a variety of 
communication modes to ensure the 
community is well briefed and 
informed on operations and activities. 
These include the Council website, 
Facebook, emails, flyers, advertising 
in local paper and other methods.  
Covid-19 information continued to be 
directed to the community in a 
efficient, effective and timely manner 
to gain major impact. Social media 
activity has increased and helps 
council to provide important up to 
date information to all including water 
issues, road closures and meeting 
notices. These are complimented 
with newspaper advertising. 
NBN is available in Bourke. 

 



Action: Action enquiries and send out information  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Promote Bourke as a 
business centre 

Action enquiries and send 
out information  

 Completed 100% COVID stalled attendance by Council 
at trade shows during the 2021/2022 
period. Council is working with the 
Far North West Joint Organisation of 
Councils to develop a Tourism 
Strategy to bring visitors to the bush. 
The Strategy is now being 
implemented through the stages to 
promote the regions. New 
businesses such as Danni's on Main, 
Little Darling Studio and Back O' 
Bourke Beauty have commenced 
operation during early 2022.  

 

 



Action: Encourage new employment opportunities  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Promote population 
growth 

Encourage new 
employment opportunities  

 Completed 100% Council continues to progress 
opportunities for business. 
The recent Abattoir sale brings and 
element of change and optimism for 
the Bourke community. Council staff 
worked with Thomas Food 
International to promote employment 
sign-on days in June 2022.COVID 
restrictions and travel between 
borders has impacted all of Australia 
and Bourke is no different. There are 
numerous vacancies in the 
community throughout the 
hospitality, health and local 
government industries with 
employers continuing to find it 
difficult to fill these positions. 

 

 

  



Environmental Sustainability 
Ensure out heritage and culture are respected 
Action: Co support at least one activity per year in regards to either land care or another community group achieving environmental 
outcomes 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure active local land 
care groups 

Co support at least one 
activity per year in regards 
to either land care or 
another community group 
achieving environmental 
outcomes 

MES Completed 100% Council continues to support local 
community groups to achieve 
environmental outcomes, such as 
fingerling release into Darling River.   
The Bourke Landcare Group is in its 
infancy stage and looking to grow in 
which Council will support. 

 

 

Action: Maintain older portion of the Bourke cemetery to a satisfactory standard 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure maintenance of 
cemeteries  

Maintain older portion of 
the Bourke cemetery to a 
satisfactory standard 

MES Completed 100% The Bourke Historic Cemetery is 
maintained to a satisfactory 
standard, in line with the cemetery 
CMP. 

 

 



Action: Maintain the new cemetery to a high level 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure maintenance of 
cemeteries  

Maintain the new 
cemetery to a high level 

MES Completed 100% Cemetery maintained to a high level. 

 

 

Action: Review and update Bourke Shire Council's trust register every second year or when required  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Manage Council trusts 
and reserves to a high 
standard 

Review and update 
Bourke Shire Council's 
trust register every 
second year or when 
required  

MES Completed 100% Trust register reviewed and updated. 

 

 

Action: Ensure Heritage Advisor is able to consult widely with community groups 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Protect local heritage 
items including significant 
architecture and 
indigenous heritage 

Ensure Heritage Advisor 
is able to consult widely 
with community groups 

MES Completed 100% Heritage Advisor engaged with 
community groups and community 
members consulted as required. 

 



Managing the built environment sustainably  
Action: Clean up at least two long term overgrown blocks each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Encourage the clean-up 
of vacant blocks 

Clean up at least two long 
term overgrown blocks 
each year 

MES Completed 100% Works undertaken to clean up 
overgrown blocks. This work was 
undertaken in consultation with the 
RFS to ensure adequate hazard 
reductions were completed to 
prevent lighting of fires. 

 

 

Action: Review LEP as per legislation 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a relevant and up 
to date Local 
Environmental Plan (LEP) 

Review LEP as per 
legislation 

MES Completed 100% LEP maintained, amended as 
required and adhered to. 

 

 



Action: Review Louth LEP with a view to increase the Village area 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a relevant and up 
to date Local 
Environmental Plan (LEP) 

Review Louth LEP with a 
view to increase the 
Village area 

MES Completed 100% LEP reviewed with an proposed 
increase to the area of the Louth 
Village to be included in a.future 
strategy, and then LEP, amendment. 

 

 

Action: Actively reduce the level of cardboard that goes to landfill 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Increase the level of 
recycling within the Shire 

Actively reduce the level 
of cardboard that goes to 
landfill 

MES Completed 70% Research continues for a viable 
recycling option for 
Bourke.Investigations proceeding into 
potentially linking recycling with the 
CDS Scheme.  

 

 

Action: Develop recycling function in partnership with private business or community groups 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Increase the level of 
recycling within the Shire 

Develop recycling function 
in partnership with private 
business or community 
groups 

MES Completed 70% Investigating avenues with the 
private sector and government 
agencies at ways to establish a 
viable recycling function into Bourke. 



Action: Review the tree policy and Master Plan at least at the start of each new Council term 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain a suitable tree 
policy 

Review the tree policy 
and Master Plan at least 
at the start of each new 
Council term 

MW Completed 80% Under review. 

 

 

Action: Maintain a minimum of two Heritage Advisor visits to Bourke each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain and active 
Heritage advisory service 

Maintain a minimum of 
two Heritage Advisor 
visits to Bourke each 
year 

MES Completed 100% Heritage Advisor visits programmed 
quarterly. 

 

 



Action: At least one bulk pick up of stockpiled waste per year in conjunction with other Netwaste Councils  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Reduce the amount of 
waste to landfill 

At least one bulk pick up 
of stockpiled waste per 
year in conjunction with 
other Netwaste Councils  

MES Completed 100% Bourke Shire Council is part of the 
Netwaste Scrap metal regional 
contract which also includes the 
provision for Ewaste to be collected. 
Council will continue to be part of the 
regional contract.  

 

 

Action: Hold yearly public awareness campaign about watering in hot climate 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek to conserve water 
where possible and 
effective 

Hold yearly public 
awareness campaign 
about watering in hot 
climate 

MW Completed 100% Water saving techniques promoted 
during Water Week. 

 

 



Secure sustainable water and waste water for all 
Action: Additional height added to the Bourke weir 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance the water 
supply options for Bourke 

Additional height added 
to the Bourke weir 

MW Progressing 50% Council is currently part of the 
Western Weirs Program. Various 
briefing updates provided to Council 
during 2021/2022 with a further 
briefing to be held at August 2022 
Council Meeting.  

 

 

Action: Ensure additional water storage for the Bourke supply 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance the water 
supply options for Bourke 

Ensure additional water 
storage for the Bourke 
supply 

MW Progressing 50% Council continued to lobby the state 
and federal governments re the need 
for additional water storage for the 
Bourke supply. 

 

 



Action: Review drought management plan as required  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance the water 
supply options for Bourke 

Review drought 
management plan as 
required  

MW Completed 100% Drought Management Plan to be 
reviewed in 2023 as part of the 
preparation of Councils Integrated 
Water Cycle Management Plan.. 

 

 

Action: Ensure sewer conforms to EPA license requirements 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a reliable sewer 
system in Bourke 

Ensure sewer conforms to 
EPA license requirements 

MW Completed 100% Council currently meeting NSW EPA 
licencing requirements in regards to  
sewer service. 

 

 

Action: Respond to sewer chokes and boundary trap blockages within two hours 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a reliable sewer 
system in Bourke 

Respond to sewer chokes 
and boundary trap 
blockages within two 
hours 

MW Completed 100% Targets being meet. 

 



Action: Ensure all repairs are undertaken as soon as possible  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure all Villages have 
access to non potable 
water 

Ensure all repairs are 
undertaken as soon as 
possible  

MW Completed 100% Conducting work in Councils time 
frames. 

 

 

Action: Meet the standard guidelines as detailed by the Lower Macquarie Water Users Alliance  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure an adequate 
water supply for Bourke 

Meet the standard 
guidelines as detailed by 
the Lower Macquarie 
Water Users Alliance  

MW Completed 100% Council currently meets all Health 
guideline and best practice. 

 

 

Action: Incremental water and waste water renewal each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure upgraded water 
and wastewater 
infrastructure  

Incremental water and 
waste water renewal each 
year 

MW Completed 100% Water and Sewer Infrastructure 
upgrades completed.  

 

 



Action: New water treatment plant operational  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure upgraded water 
and wastewater 
infrastructure  

New water treatment 
plant operational  

MW Completed 100% Project completed and operating 
successfully . 

 

 

  



Governance and Organisational performance  
Advocate the benefits of living and working in the Bourke Shire Council area 
Action: Participate in meetings between Council and inter agency stakeholders 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Promote participation and 
coordination between the 
Council and community 

Participate in meetings 
between Council and inter 
agency stakeholders 

MCS Completed 100% Numerous meetings attended 
including NGO's, and State 
Government departments. During 
COVID in 2021, the Bourke LEMC 
met on 51 occassions. 

 

 

Action: Undertake weekly column in the Western Herald 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Promote participation and 
coordination between the 
Council and community 

Undertake weekly column 
in the Western Herald 

MCS Completed 100% Weekly Column published in the 
Western Herald. 

 

 



Action: Bourke Shire Council's financial sustainability indicators improving 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Provide strategic 
leadership to the 
community 

Bourke Shire Council's 
financial sustainability 
indicators improving 

MCS Completed 100% Draft Financial Statements show 
improvement to most Financial 
indicators. Council is in a sound 
financial position. 

 

 

Action: Host yearly Village meetings  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Provide strategic 
leadership to the 
community 

Host yearly Village 
meetings  

MCS Completed 100% Meetings held in January 2022 
between Staff and village residents 
for the purpse of gaining information 
for the Community Strategic Plan. 
Meetings in 2023 and onwards will 
include Councilor’s and Staff. 

 

 



Seek continuous improvement in the business of Council  
Action: Complete development of online community diary 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Council activity is 
posted to well-maintained 
community diary 

Complete development of 
online community diary 

 Completed 100% The Bourke Jobs Board continues to 
be updated when council receives 
notifications from businesses. The 
jobs board can be difficult to 
maintain at times due to other online 
applications including Facebook, 
local newspaper and social media 
applications that provide the 
information instantly. Council 
continues to upload information 
when new jobs are found and sent to 
contact person. 

 

 

Action: Annual report completed on time 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Council meets 
legislative governance 
standards 

Annual report completed 
on time 

MCS Completed 100% The 2020/2021 Annual Report 
reporting requirements completed 
with the final document provided to 
Office of Local Government. A copy 
is available on Councils website.  

 

 



Action: No significant audit issues reported 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Council meets 
legislative governance 
standards 

No significant audit 
issues reported 

MCS Completed 100% All legislative governance standards 
have been met. Accounting for the 
RFS Red fleet may be an Audit issue 
for the 2021/2022 period. Council 
resolved not to disclose the value of 
these RFS assets in the  2021/2022 
Financial Statements.  

 

 

Action: Report progress on other functions such as Business Continuity, WHS issues, Policy updates and staff training 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Council meets 
legislative governance 
standards 

Report progress on other 
functions such as 
Business Continuity, 
WHS issues, Policy 
updates and staff training 

MCS Completed 100% Legislative governance standards 
met.Review of all Council Policies is 
continuing. WHS requirements 
reviewed and areas of concern 
identified. BCP reviewed. 

 

 



Action: No reasonable customer complaints 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure excellent 
customer services  

No reasonable customer 
complaints 

MCS Completed 100% No reasonable complaints 
received.Customer Service is a key 
focus of Council. 

 

 

Action: Library open for 5.5 days per week 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain library services  Library open for 5.5 days 
per week 

 Completed 100% Library open 5.5 days per week. 
Covid-19 restricted operations in early 
2021/2022 to meet the requirements 
of the Public Safety Order. To 
compensate for this, the Library 
promoted a wide variety of digital 
programming for both children and 
adults which continues. A Library App 
has also been added to aide in the 
communication process with the 
community. Residents of the 
Rivergum Lodge participated in the 
iPad user program.   

 

 



Action: Review strategic needs of Council each budget period for year ahead 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain suitable Council 
owned housing  

Review strategic needs 
of Council each budget 
period for year ahead 

MCS Completed 100% The upgrading of 12 Glen Street was 
completed. The General Managers 
house was re-carpeted during 
2021/2022.Renshaw cottage 
underwent  a renovation to both the 
interior and exterior.  

 

 

Action: At least two meetings each with State and Federal Local Members each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain working 
relationships with senior 
politicians and local 
memebrs 

At least two meetings 
each with State and 
Federal Local Members 
each year 

MCS Completed 100% Numerous meetings were held with 
both Local Members during 
2021/2022. 

 

 



Action: Host at least two inter agency forums each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Participate in inter agency 
forums and opportunities 

Host at least two inter 
agency forums each 
year 

MCS Completed 100% Meeting held with agencies as 
required. Attendance at Interagency 
meetings on a regular basis. 
Attended Senior Leaders meeting 
from January to June, these 
meetings involved a number of 
agencies within the community 

 

 

Action: Promote resolutions and activities of Council 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek continuous 
improvement in 
communications with 
residents 

Promote resolutions and 
activities of Council 

MCS Completed 100% Community consultation meetings 
held throughout Shire in January 
2022. Senior staff attended these 
meeting with a good number of 
community representatives in 
attendance. 
Weekly GM's Desk is provided to the 
the Western Herald detailing the 
activities of Council, with the GM 
also doing a weekly radio session on 
2WEB. 

 

 



Action: Finalise the development of plans and cost estimate for new construction in 2017-18 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Seek to improve Shire 
offices in the medium 
term 

Finalise the development 
of plans and cost estimate 
for new construction in 
2017-18 

MES Completed 100% Continuing to follow up on funding 
opportunities. Concept plans for a 
new council office hub have been 
completed and a QS analysis 
undertaken, however these plans are 
outside the resources of Council. 

 

 

  



Infrastructure 
Ensure adequate levels of community amenities  
Action: Develop precinct plans 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop sporting precinct 
plan to include Davidson 
Oval, Central Park and 
the pool 

Develop precinct plans MES Completed 70% Plans being developed with NSW 
Sport and Recreation. Major 
upgrades on infrastructure at 
community amenities with grant 
funding being awarded to council  

 

 

Action: Increase communication amongst sporting groups (eg Davidson Oval users and Renshaw) 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop sporting 
precinct plan to include 
Davidson Oval, Central 
Park and the pool 

Increase communication 
amongst sporting groups 
(eg Davidson Oval users 
and Renshaw) 

MES Completed 100% Future needs assessment completed 
through Sport and Recreation.Plans 
of Management completed and 
submitted to NSW Lands for approval 

 

 



Action: Increase shade areas as budget permits 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance shaded areas to 
parks 

Increase shade areas as 
budget permits 

MW Completed 100% Stage one and two completed. 

 

 

Action: Finalise development of the levee bank walk 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance walking tracks 
along the levee bank 

Finalise development of 
the levee bank walk 

MW Progressing 80% Ongoing. 

 

 

Action: Undertake discussions with aged care providers to determine in the 2017-18 financial year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure adequate levels 
of aged care facilities 

Undertake discussions 
with aged care providers 
to determine in the 2017-
18 financial year 

MCS Completed 100% Ongoing - discussions held as 
required. 
Transfer of land to Widdon Group 
completed. 

 

 



Action: Audit needs of Halls each year prior to budget process for consideration 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Community Halls 
are maintained to a 
suitable standard 

Audit needs of Halls each 
year prior to budget 
process for consideration 

MES Completed 100% Works ongoing. Hall maintenance 
programmed and undertaken within 
budget. Audits of halls undertaken for 
budget considerations. Village 
meetings, hall discussion for future 
works. 

 

 

Action: Ensure Village asset management plans are up to date 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure community 
infrastructure is well 
maintained where 
appropriate 

Ensure Village asset 
management plans are up 
to date 

MES Completed 100% Plans reviewed and updated with the 
long-term financial plan. A full 
revaluation of council’s water and 
sewer infrastructure undertaken  

 

 



Action: Complete audit of levees in line with asset management strategy. Undertake a review of levees prior to each major flood event.  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure levee banks are 
maintained to a high 
standard 

Complete audit of levees 
in line with asset 
management strategy. 
Undertake a review of 
levees prior to each major 
flood event.  

MW Progressing 80% Levee structure reviewed prior to 
major river flows in March 
2022.Flood study and levee bank 
audit currently underway. 

 

 

Action: Attend to breakdowns in the Villages as required and within guidelines. 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Village water 
supplies are adequate 

Attend to breakdowns in 
the Villages as required 
and within guidelines. 

MW Completed 100% Council currently meeting all required 
guidelines. 

 

 



Ensure adequate transport linkages 
Action: Outline the improvements made to the Wanaaring and Louth Roads each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Further develop all 
weather roads to Louth 
and Wanaaring 

Outline the improvements 
made to the Wanaaring 
and Louth Roads each 
year 

MR Completed 100% An additional 10 km of the Louth 
Road and 8 km on the Wanaaring 
Road have been sealed during 
2021/2022. This leaves 28 km to be 
sealed on Wanaaring Road. 
Wanaaring Rd seal is to be extended 
by 4 km in the 2022/2023 financial 
year, making it a 24 kilometre 
unsealed road. 

 

 

Action: Develop heavy vehicle by pass if shown to be needed 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Investigate the potential 
for a heavy vehicle 
bypass of town 

Develop heavy vehicle 
bypass if shown to be 
needed 

MR Completed 100% Still negotiating with Traffic for NSW 
and Trucking industries for triple road 
trains to bypass Bourke via Tarcoon 
St. Discussed in Traffic Committee 
that Council would consider this 
option if Traffic NSW provided Council 
with funding if the road was to be 
damaged.oute would also be the 
subject of restricted useage times. 

 



Action: Ensure that the roads schedule is completed each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain and seek to 
improve the road network 
in a sustainable way 

Ensure that the roads 
schedule is completed 
each year 

MR Completed 100% Roads schedule for the 2021/2022 
financial year has been completed. 
Projects Included: 
1) Rural Road Maintenance. 
2) RMCC-Capital and Maintenance. 
3) Flood Damage.  
4) Bourke to Louth Road- 10km- New 
Sealed pavement-Completed 
5) Wanaaring Road-8 km- New 
Sealed pavement-Completed  
6) Weelong- Road-2.36 Km- New 
Sealed pavement-Completed  
7) Weelong to Trilby Roads- On 
progress. 
8) Mitchell Lane-Completed. 
9) Reseal Program- Completed on 
regional and local roads. 
10) Louth Road- 4 km-On Progress. 
11) Wanaaring Road-4km- On 
Progress. 
12) Oxley Street - Hot mix Asphalt- 
On Progress. 
 
  

 

 



Action: Improve at lease two sections of our local roads each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain and seek to 
improve the road network 
in a sustainable way 

Improve at least two 
sections of our local 
roads each year 

MR Completed 100% Three (3) sections completed. 

Weelong Road- 2.36 Km.  
Mitchell Lane  
Weelong to Trilby on(Toorale- 
RLR10 ) 

 

Action: Update and implement heavy vehicle replacement strategy each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain heavy vehicle 
replacement strategy 

Update and implement 
heavy vehicle 
replacement strategy 
each year 

MR Completed 100% Purchase of heavy plant for 
2021/2022 ordered. Still waiting on 
delivery of a 4x 4 Crew Cab due to 
supply chain issues. 

 

Action: Ensure adequate resources are provided to maintain the Bourke airport 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain the Bourke 
airport to a high standard 

Ensure adequate 
resources are provided to 
maintain the Bourke 
airport 

MW Completed 100% Council currently meeting all 
maintenance targets. 
Funding achieved from Federal 
Government to reseal runway 05/23. 



Action: Adequate resources are provided to maintain the Village runways as required 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain Village runways 
where appropriate 

Adequate resources are 
provided to maintain the 
Village runways as 
required 

MW Completed 100% Undertaken as per Councils 
maintenance program. 

 

Manage the infrastructure needs of the Villages  
Action: Yearly Village meetings held prior to operational plans being developed 
 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure good 
communication with Village 
committees  

Yearly Village meetings 
held prior to operational 
plans being developed 
 

MCS Completed 100% Meetings held in January 2022 in all 
villages. Senior staff attended all 
meetings. These meeting were to  
review the CSP and Disability Action 
Plan. 



Action: Yearly Village meetings held prior to operational plans being developed 
 
 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure Village priorities 
are well understood 

Yearly Village meetings 
held prior to operational 
plans being developed 
 

MCS Completed 100% Meeting held in villages prior to the 
development of the Delivery and 
Operational Plan. Where possible 
and the budget allows, items 
requested considered and included. 

 

 

  



Livable and Vibrant Community 
Enjoy a vibrant Bourke and Village Community 
Action: Attend meetings held with Regional Arts Board 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop and enhance the 
arts 

Attend meetings held 
with Regional Arts Board 

EDM Completed 100% Representatives of Council attended 
meetings with the Regional Arts Board 
during 2021/2022.  
The Aboriginal Art Centre in Oxley 
Street continues to be a successful 
feature to our Arts community. Council 
staff meet regularly with Arts Centre 
staff. This project was a joint initiative 
with Muda Aboriginal Corporation and 
funded by Create NSW. The 'Bald 
Archies' were displayed at the Back O' 
Bourke Exhibition Centre during May - 
June 22. The 'Bald Archies' showcase 
every winning entry from the nation’s 
leading prize for satirical portraiture 
since 1994. 

 

 



Action: Undertake a number of activities locally 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop and enhance the 
arts 

Undertake a number of 
activities locally 

EDM Completed 100% Council continues to be proactive in 
the sphere of sourcing means to 
engage with the community, 
businesses and service providers for 
the betterment of all who live in the 
region. The Council's Community 
Consultation process is a powerful 
tool is generating community 
engagement. 
The Bourke Aboriginal Arts and 
Cultural Centre and Pottery Centre 
are two initiatives Council has 
undertaken with the community, 
along with supporting kids’ activities 
with local artists during school 
holidays. 
Council welcomed the 'Bald Archies' 
regional Art Exhibition during June 
2022. 

 

Action: Coordinate Seniors Week activities  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop cultural 
partnerships 

Coordinate Seniors Week 
activities  

EDM Completed 100% Council staff prepared a program for 
a grant application for Seniors Week 
activities.. 

 



Action: Hold a number of functions/ activities yearly with local groups 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop cultural 
partnerships 

Hold a number of 
functions/ activities yearly 
with local groups 

EDM Completed 100% The 2022 Back O Bourke Easter 
Festival saw over 5,000 free and 
ticketed attendances across 
numerous music, sporting, art and 
cultural events. Over 300 people 
experienced the Good Friday Music 
Festival with 'The Sullivan's'. The St 
Ignatius Colour Run, saw over 250 
participants run, walk or jog 5kms 
around the town. Over 100 people 
tagged onto the Dunlop and Toorale 
National Park tour. The Grand 
Parade-had over 400 onlookers with 
over 40 participants in the Wool Bale 
Rolling competition. The Old boys 
Rugby Union game saw a crowd of 
over 300 and the Back O Bourke 
Picnic races with over 2500 patrons. 
The Easter Egg hunt had over 250 
children through the Back O Bourke 
gardens looking for the elusive 
Golden Egg and collecting over 2500 
Easter eggs. Council staff continue 
to be involved with future festivals, 
gatherings and annual community 
events. 

 

 



Action: Participate in Community Working Party meetings  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop cultural 
partnerships 

Participate in Community 
Working Party meetings  

MCS Completed 100% Meeting attended when invited. 

 



Action: Undertake Australia Day activities 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Develop cultural 
partnerships 

Undertake Australia Day 
activities 

Manager Tourism and 
Events 

Completed 100% Australia Day 2022 was held at the 
newly upgraded Bourke Swimming 
Pool.Overall, participants enjoyed the 
pool party theme that had inflatables, 
Dash for Cash, Watermelon Eating 
Competition, Dive for Dough and a 
lamington stack to celebrate. 
 

Bourke’s Australia Day Ambassador 
-James Pittar, (Endurance Swimmer) 
delivered the official ceremony along 
with Mayor, Mr Barry Hollman and 
Phil Sullivan, delivering the Welcome 
to Country and Smoking Ceremony. 
Flag ceremony conducted by Tristian 
Gale along with Clontarf Academy- 
Riley Parnaby and Trae Wilson. 
 
Official winners for the day were: 
Kelly Lienesch- Citizen of the Year, 
Trae Wilson-Young Citizen of the 
Year, Laura Gordon- Sportsperson of 
the Year, Archie Nott- Young 
Sportsperson of the Year, Bourke 
Rural Fire Brigade volunteers- 
Emergency Services of the Year. 

 

 



Action: Maintain grounds to a high standard 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Encourage sport and 
recreation activities 

Maintain grounds to a 
high standard 

MW Completed 100% Council's current maintenance 
program meeting targets.  

 

 

Action: Support at least two youth initiatives each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Encourage sport and 
recreation activities 

Support at least two 
youth initiatives each 
year 

 Completed 100% With the COVID-19 restrictions, 
including social distancing, activities 
during 2021/2022 were limited to meet 
these requirements. Council made 
significant inroads to upgrading many 
social and sporting amenities in the 
region. The Back O Bourke Easter 
Festival included numerous youth 
events across the long 
weekend,including the Colour Run, 
Junior Rugby games, Park Run and 
Giant Easter egg hunt. 
Activities continue to be supported 
through the PCYC and Bourke 
Swimming Pool. 

 

 



Action: Improve and upgrade lighting to Davidson and Coolican Ovals 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Enhance our parks and 
ovals 

Improve and upgrade 
lighting to Davidson and 
Coolican Ovals 

MW Completed 100% Completed. 

 

 

Action: Meet with educational leaders at least once per year to discuss community feedback in regards to education issues 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a high level of 
education  

Meet with educational 
leaders at least once per 
year to discuss 
community feedback in 
regard to education 
issues 

MCS Completed 100% Ongoing interaction with 
representatives on a need’s basis. 

 

 



Action: Meet yearly with the BDCS committee to discuss issues and feedback 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a strong early 
childhood sector 

Meet yearly with the 
BDCS committee to 
discuss issues and 
feedback 

EDM Completed 100% Contact ongoing with BDCS. Council 
Staff attend meetings. Positive 
discussions have occurred in relation 
to the continuing support of this 
highly important community service. 

 

 

Action: Minimum six day per week community transport service 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure adequate levels 
of public transport 

Minimum six day per 
week community 
transport service 

EDM Completed 70% Community transport is a concern. 
The taxi service is currently 
unavailable, and the business is for 
sale. 
Better Living has commenced 
operation of the Bourke Community 
Transport and are seeking to provide 
a daily service Monday to Friday 
from 9am to 2pm. Better Living are 
finding it difficult to find staff to 
provide the service each day. 

 

 



Action: Report monthly on the Ranger activities and issues arising 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure adequate Ranger 
Services 

Report monthly on the 
Ranger activities and 
issues arising 

MES Completed 100% Ranger Activities reported. 

 

Action: Fund initiatives included in the Disability Inclusion Action Plan 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Foster a community that 
respects diversity and is 
supportive of cultural 
differences, ages and 
liabilities of community 
members 

Fund initiatives included 
in the Disability Inclusion 
Action Plan 

MCS Completed 100% Disability Inclusion Action Plan 
adopted. Budget allocation available 
for implementation of the plans 
initiatives. DIAP is considered when 
improvements to Councils 
infrastructure upgrades are 
considered. 

 

Action: Participate in inter agency, department, CWP meetings as requested and required 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Foster a community that 
respects diversity and is 
supportive of cultural 
differences, ages and 
liabilities of community 
members 

Participate in inter 
agency, department, 
CWP meetings as 
requested and required 

MCS Completed 100% Meetings attend when invited. 



Action: Support at least one youth initiative each quarter 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Grow and invest in our 
future leaders 

Support at least one 
youth initiative each 
quarter 

EDM Completed 100% Youth activities supported through 
the PCYC program and the Bourke 
Swimming Pool. Council continues to 
support and fund School Holiday 
activities each quarter.  

 

 

Action: Seek continuous improvement in town lighting 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve lighting 
throughout the Bourke 
township 

Seek continuous 
improvement in town 
lighting 

MW Completed 100% As Council's budget allows, solar 
being investigated.  

 

 



Action: Complete main street precinct upgrade 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve local main street 
amenity 

Complete main street 
precinct upgrade 

MCS Completed 100% The Oxley Street (CBD) Project is 
now complete. Work has been 
completed in Sturt Street and the 
Wharf precinct area is nearing 
completion. The recent plantings 
throughout the streets continue to 
grow well and the street and gardens 
looks great with very positive 
comments received from both locals 
and visitors. 

 

Action: Tangible improvements to mobile and data coverage  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve 
telecommunications 
services 

Tangible improvements to 
mobile and data coverage  

MCS Completed 100% Meeting held with Local Members. 
Will continue to lobby for improved 
services to the outback. 

 

 

Action: Improved boat ramp access, renew boat ramp 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve the boat ramp at 
North Bourke 

Improved boat ramp 
access, renew boat ramp 

MW Completed 100% Completed. 



 

Action: Focus quarterly on graffiti hotspots 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Minimise the amount of 
graffiti 

Focus quarterly on graffiti 
hotspots 

MW Completed 100% As per maintenance program. 

 

 



Our community values its safe, healthy lifestyle and is caring towards each other 
Action: Actively support Youth Council, PCYC and other NGO youth agencies 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Encourage youth 
leadership 

Actively support Youth 
Council, PCYC and other 
NGO youth agencies 

EDM Completed 100% Council supports youth group 
activities through the PCYC and 
other associated youth focused 
agencies. Council is fully aware of 
the need to ensure youth of the 
region are engaged in pursuits that 
stimulate the development of the 
mind and body. Council, PCYC and 
other associated youth focused 
agencies worked in partnership to 
provide free entry to the local pool 
this Summer. Council worked with a 
number of agencies and NGO's to 
ensure activities for January 
(Summer) and April (Easter) school 
holidays in 2021/2022 to keep the 
children engaged. 

 

Action: Support youth services quarterly 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Ensure a high level of 
youth services, amenities 
and activities  

Support youth services 
quarterly 

 Completed 100% Council, through Sport NSW, has 
supported the Active Kids Program 
and the Maranguka school holiday 
program. 

 



Action: Increased visitation for dental services to broad community 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve access to dental 
services 

Increased visitation for 
dental services to broad 
community 

 Completed 100% Dental services continue to be 
available at the Bourke Aboriginal 
Corporation Health Service. 
Dental Service are also available at 
Brewarrina, Cobar and Nyngan. 

 

Action: Undertake the strategies within the Disability Inclusion Action Plan 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Improve disability access Undertake the strategies 
within the Disability 
Inclusion Action Plan 

MW Completed 100% New Disability Action Plan 
developed. 



Action: Undertake activities that seek to increase our population  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Increase our local 
population  

Undertake activities that 
seek to increase our 
population  

EDM Progressing 90% Council continues to strive to promote 
the region as an area of choice for 
people, business and service 
providers. The Darling River 
continues to see good flows in the 
first half of 2022, the growth of 
economic diversity in the area 
appears in the positive mode.  
Communication is ongoing with the 
new operators of the Abattoir when 
this facility recommences operation 
there is expected to be an increase in 
the population within Bourke. 

 

 

Action: Six monthly formal meetings with health providers to discuss needs and improvements  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain a viable health 
system 

Six monthly formal 
meetings with health 
providers to discuss needs 
and improvements  

MCS Completed 100% Numerous meetings held of LEMC to 
address the pandemic and the 
impact to our community. 
Meeting held with health officials to 
discuss the nursing crisis and 
provision of medical services at the 
Hospital. 

 



Action: The number of Doctors in town is maintained  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain a viable health 
system 

The number of Doctors in 
town is maintained  

MCS Completed 100% Doctors numbers are stable at the 
current time. Meeting also held with 
Ochre Health when requested or 
required. 

 

 

Action: The quality and diversity of local health care is maintained  

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Maintain a viable health 
system 

The quality and diversity 
of local health care is 
maintained  

MCS Completed 100% There are a number of health 
organisations within the community 
that cover most health requirements. 
Council continues to lobby for the 
reopening of the birthing unit and to 
maintain the current level of care. 
The nursing shortage and turnover of 
management at the Multi-purpose 
Centre is having a significant impact 
on the operations of the facility. 
Discussions held with LHD regularly.   

 



Action: Actively participate in seniors week each year 

Strategy Action Name Responsible Officer 
Position 

Status Progress Comments 

Respect and make 
welcome our senior 
citizens  

Actively participate in 
seniors week each year 

EDM Completed 100% Application made for funding. COVID 
restrictions played a major role in 
2021/2022 in determining if Seniors 
week activities were undertaken. 

 

 



 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 



APPENDIX 2

AUDITORS REPORT
2021-2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Report on the general purpose financial statements 

Bourke Shire Council 

To the Councillors of Bourke Shire Council 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bourke Shire Council (the Council), which 
comprise the Statement by Councillors and Management, the Income Statement and Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2022, the Statement of Financial Position as at 
30 June 2022, the Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

In my opinion: 

• the Council’s accounting records have been kept in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Government Act 1993, Chapter 13, Part 3, Division 2 (the Division)

• the financial statements:
- have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of this

Division
- are consistent with the Council’s accounting records
- present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Council as at

30 June 2022, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

• all information relevant to the conduct of the audit has been obtained
• no material deficiencies in the accounting records or financial statements have come to light

during the audit.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 



Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information 
The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the special purpose financial statements and Special Schedules 
(the Schedules). 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the special purpose financial 
statements and Special Schedule - Permissible income for general rates. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1993, and for such 
internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 



The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• on the Original Budget information included in the Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows,

and Note B5-1 Material budget variations
• on the Special Schedules. A separate opinion has been provided on Special

Schedule - Permissible income for general rates
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial

statements on any website where they may be presented
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Manuel Moncada 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

13 October 2022 
SYDNEY 



 
 

 

 

Cr Barry Hollman 
Mayor 
Bourke Shire Council 
PO Box 21 
Bourke NSW 2840 

 

 

13 October 2022 

Dear Mayor 

Report on the Conduct of the Audit 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Bourke Shire Council 
I have audited the general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the Bourke Shire Council (the 
Council) for the year ended 30 June 2022 as required by section 415 of the Local Government Act 
1993 (the Act). 

I expressed an unmodified opinion on the Council’s GPFS. 

This Report on the Conduct of the Audit (the Report) for the Council for the year ended 30 June 2022 
is issued in accordance with section 417 of the Act. This Report should be read in conjunction with my 
audit opinion on the GPFS issued under section 417(2) of the Act. 

INCOME STATEMENT 
Operating result 
 
 

 2022 2021 Variance 

 $m $m % 

Rates and annual charges 
revenue 4.3 4.2 

 

Grants and 
contributions revenue 28.7 31.5 

 

Operating result 
from continuing operations 12.4 20.1 

 

Net operating result 
before capital grants and 
contributions 

(2.1) 0.1 
 

 
 

  2.4 

  8.9 
 

38.3 

2200 

Contact: Manuel Moncada 

Phone no: 02 9275 7311 

Our ref: D2220268/1698 
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Rates and annual charges revenue ($4.3 million) increased by $0.1 million (2.4 per cent) in 2021–
2022. 

Grants and contributions revenue ($28.7 million) decreased by $2.8 million (8.9 per cent) in 2021–
2022 due to reduced capital grant income which was partially offset by the receipt of additional 
advance payments of financial assistance grants. 

Council’s operating result ($12.4 million including the effect of depreciation and amortisation expense 
of $7.1 million) was $7.7 million higher than the 2020–21 result. This was mainly primarily due to 
reduced revenue from capital grants and additional operating costs. 

The net operating result before capital grants and contributions (a deficit of $2.1 million) was 
$2.2 million lower than the 2020–21 result. 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

• The Statement of Cash Flows 
illustrates the flow of cash and 
cash equivalents moving in and 
out of Council during the year 
and reveals that cash increased 
by $4.7 million to $14 million at 
the close of the year. 

 

 

 
 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

Cash and investments 
Cash and investments 2022 2021 Commentary 

 $m $m  

Total cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments 

35.6 30.2 • External restrictions include unspent specific 
purpose grants and domestic waste management 
charges, and water and sewerage funds. 

• Balances are internally restricted due to Council 
policy or decisions for forward plans including 
works program. 

Restricted cash and 
investments: 

  

• External restrictions 11.0 15.9 

• Internal restrictions  6.1 3.9 
 

Debt 
After repaying principal and interest of $1.4 million and taking up an additional borrowing of $1.7 
million during the financial year, total debt as at 30 June 2022 was $5.7 million (2021: $5.4 million). 
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PERFORMANCE  
Performance measures 
The following section provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the performance 
measures and performance benchmarks set by the Office of Local Government (OLG) within the 
Department of Planning and Environment. 
 

Operating performance ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 
The ‘operating performance ratio’ 
measures how well council contained 
operating expenditure within 
operating revenue (excluding capital 
grants and contributions, fair value 
adjustments, and reversal of 
revaluation decrements). The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than zero per cent. 
 
 

 
 

Own source operating revenue ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 
The ‘own source operating revenue 
ratio’ measures council’s fiscal 
flexibility and the degree to which it 
relies on external funding sources 
such as operating grants and 
contributions. The benchmark set by 
OLG is greater than 60 per cent.  
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Unrestricted current ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period. 
The ‘unrestricted current ratio’ is 
specific to local government and 
represents council’s ability to meet its 
short-term obligations as they fall due. 
The benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than 1.5 times.  
 

 
 

Debt service cover ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period.  
The ‘debt service cover ratio’ 
measures the operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments. The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than two times.  
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Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period.  
The ‘rates and annual charges 
outstanding percentage’ assesses the 
impact of uncollected rates and 
annual charges on council’s liquidity 
and the adequacy of debt recovery 
efforts. The benchmark set by OLG is 
less than 10 per cent regional and 
rural councils.  
 

 
 

Cash expense cover ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period.  
This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months the council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 
inflow. The benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than three months.  
 

 
 

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment renewals 
• Council’s asset renewal additions for the year were $9.2 million compared to $15.4 million for 

the prior year. 
• Renewals consisted of infrastructure ($8 million) and plant, equipment and other assets ($1.2 

million). 
• The level of asset renewals during the year represented 130 percent of the total depreciation 

expense ($7.1 million) for the year. 
 

Legislative compliance 
My audit procedures did not identify any instances of non-compliance with legislative requirements or 
a material deficiency in the Council’s accounting records or financial statements. The Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form to allow the GPFS to be prepared 
and effectively audited 
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• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit. 
 

The Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form that facilitated the preparation and 
the effective audit of the GPFS 

• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit. 
 

 

 

 

Manuel Moncada  
Director - Financial Audit 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 
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Bourke Shire Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) and has its principal place of business at:

Overview

29 Mitchell Street
Bourke NSW 2840

Council’s guiding principles are detailed in Chapter 3 of the LGA and includes:

• principles applying to the exercise of functions generally by council,
• principles to be applied when making decisions,
• principles of community participation,
• principles of sound financial management, and
• principles for strategic planning relating to the development of an integrated planning and reporting framework.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our reporting is timely, complete and available at minimum cost. All
press releases, financial statements and other information are publicly available on our website: www.bourke.nsw.gov.au.
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§Note/Subtotal§

Each year NSW local governments are required to present audited financial statements to their council and community.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Introduction

The financial statements set out the financial performance, financial position and cash flows of Council for the financial year
ended 30 June 2022.

What you will find in the Statements

The format of the financial statements is standard across all NSW Councils and complies with both the accounting and reporting
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and requirements as set down by the Office of Local Government.

The financial statements must be certified by senior staff as ‘presenting fairly’ the Council’s financial results for the year and
are required to be adopted by Council – ensuring both responsibility for and ownership of the financial statements.

About the Councillor/Management Statement

The financial statements incorporate five "primary" financial statements:

1. The Income Statement

About the Primary Financial Statements

Summarises Council's financial performance for the year, listing all income and expenses. This statement also displays
Council's original adopted budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

2. The Statement of Comprehensive Income
Primarily records changes in the fair value of Council's Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

3. The Statement of Financial Position
A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position indicating its assets, liabilities and “net wealth”.

4. The Statement of Changes in Equity
The overall change for the year (in dollars) of Council's "net wealth".

5. The Statement of Cash Flows
Indicates where Council's cash came from and where it was spent. This statement also displays Council's original adopted
budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide greater detail and additional information on the five primary financial statements.

About the Notes to the Financial Statements

Council’s financial statements are required to be audited by the NSW Audit Office.

About the Auditor's Reports

In NSW the auditor provides 2 audit reports:

1. an opinion on whether the financial statements present fairly the Council’s financial performance and position, and
2. their observations on the conduct of the audit, including commentary on the Council’s financial performance and financial

position.

The financial statements are publicly available documents and must be presented at a Council meeting between seven days
and five weeks after the date of the audit report.

The public can make submissions to Council up to seven days subsequent to the public presentation of the financial statements.

Council is required to forward an audited set of financial statements to the Office of Local Government.

Who uses the Financial Statements?

Bourke Shire Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Income Statement | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ '000 Notes $ '000 $ '000

Income from continuing operations
4,718 Rates and annual charges B2-1 4,276 4,185
5,587 User charges and fees B2-2 9,414 6,591
1,123 Other revenues B2-3 1,055 1,596
9,198 Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes B2-4 14,134 11,482

39,957 Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes B2-4 14,535 20,018
379 Interest and investment income B2-5 223 215

– Other income B2-6 250 286
60,962 Total income from continuing operations 43,887 44,373

Expenses from continuing operations
8,943 Employee benefits and on-costs B3-1 8,535 7,534
8,611 Materials and services B3-2 13,273 7,825

177 Borrowing costs B3-3 167 168

6,339 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial
assets

B3-4
7,138 7,239

854 Other expenses B3-5 365 397
– Net loss from the disposal of assets B4-1 2,001 1,115

24,924 Total expenses from continuing operations 31,479 24,278

36,038 Operating result from continuing operations 12,408 20,095

36,038 Net operating result for the year attributable to Council 12,408 20,095

– Net operating result for the year before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes (2,127) 77

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Bourke Shire Council

Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Comprehensive Income | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Net operating result for the year – from Income Statement 12,408 20,095

§Subnote§

Other comprehensive income:
Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
Gain (loss) on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment C1-6 16,035 492
Total items which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating 
result 16,035 492

Total other comprehensive income for the year 16,035 492

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to Council 28,443 20,587

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Financial Position | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents C1-1 13,997 9,308
Investments C1-2 21,638 20,851
Receivables C1-4 6,613 11,306
Inventories C1-5 207 153
Other – 1
Total current assets 42,455 41,619

Non-current assets
Receivables C1-4 293 255
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE) C1-6 317,292 291,648
Right of use assets C2-1 24 37
Investments accounted for using the equity method D2-1 654 704
Total non-current assets 318,263 292,644

Total assets 360,718 334,263

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables C3-1 3,886 2,921
Income received in advance C3-1 286 276
Contract liabilities C3-2 4,676 7,956
Lease liabilities C2-1 4 25
Borrowings C3-3 1,306 1,228
Employee benefit provisions C3-4 3,232 3,273
Total current liabilities 13,390 15,679

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities C2-1 – 4
Borrowings C3-3 4,414 4,106
Employee benefit provisions C3-4 98 101
Provisions C3-5 60 60
Total non-current liabilities 4,572 4,271

Total liabilities 17,962 19,950

Net assets 342,756 314,313

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus C4-1 197,245 184,272
IPPE revaluation reserve C4-1 145,511 130,041
Council equity interest 342,756 314,313

Total equity 342,756 314,313

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Changes in Equity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021

Accumulated
surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity
Accumulated 

surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity
Notes $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Opening balance at 1 July 184,272 130,041 314,313 164,177 129,549 293,726
Opening balance 184,272 130,041 314,313 164,177 129,549 293,726

§Subnote§

Net operating result for the year 12,408 – 12,408 20,095 – 20,095
Net operating result for the period 12,408 – 12,408 20,095 – 20,095

Other comprehensive income
Gain (loss) on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment C1-6 – 16,035 16,035 – 492 492
Other reserves movements 565 (565) – – – –
Other comprehensive income 565 15,470 16,035 – 492 492

Total comprehensive income 12,973 15,470 28,443 20,095 492 20,587

Closing balance at 30 June 197,245 145,511 342,756 184,272 130,041 314,313

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Cash Flows | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget Actual Actual
2022 2022 2021

$ '000 Notes $ '000 $ '000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts:

4,718 Rates and annual charges 4,352 4,332
5,587 User charges and fees 10,479 7,163

379 Interest received 222 66
49,155 Grants and contributions 27,893 35,075

– Bonds, deposits and retentions received 32 4
1,123 Other 5,340 2,528

Payments:
(8,943) Payments to employees (8,551) (7,691)
(8,611) Payments for materials and services (14,315) (10,324)

(177) Borrowing costs (169) (170)
– Bonds, deposits and retentions refunded (34) –

(854) Other (191) (910)
42,377 Net cash flows from operating activities G1-1 25,058 30,073

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts:

– Sale of investments 14,706 39,051
– Proceeds from sale of IPPE 495 299

Payments:
– Purchase of investments (15,493) (44,258)

(51,037) Payments for IPPE (20,440) (23,738)
(51,037) Net cash flows from investing activities (20,732) (28,646)

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts:

9,114 Proceeds from borrowings 1,614 1,656
Payments:

(1,224) Repayment of borrowings (1,228) (1,095)
– Principal component of lease payments (23) (22)

7,890 Net cash flows from financing activities 363 539

(770) Net change in cash and cash equivalents 4,689 1,966

– Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,308 7,342
(770) Cash and cash equivalents at end of year C1-1 13,997 9,308

– plus: Investments on hand at end of year C1-2 21,638 20,851
(770) Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 35,635 30,159

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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These financial statements were authorised for issue by Council on 25 July 2022. Council has the power to amend and reissue
these financial statements in cases where critical information is received from public submissions or where the OLG directs
Council to amend the financial statements.
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Local Government Act 1993 (Act) and Local Government (General) Regulation 2005
(Regulation), and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

Council is a not for-profit entity.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain
financial assets and liabilities and certain classes of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment and investment property.

Historical cost convention

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Council's accounting policies.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Council and that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

Council makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year include:

(i) estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – refer Note C1-6

(ii) employee benefit provisions – refer Note C3-4.

i. Impairment of receivables – refer Note C1-4.

Significant judgements in applying the Council's accounting policies

ii. Determination of whether performance obligations are sufficiently specific and whether the contract is within the scope
of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and / or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities – refer to Notes
B2-2 – B2-4.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW), all money and property received
by Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated Fund.

Monies and other assets received by Council

The Consolidated Fund

Cash and other assets of the following entities have been included as part of the Consolidated Fund:

◾ General purpose operations
◾ Water service
◾ Sewerage service

continued on next page ... 

A About Council and these financial statements

A1-1 Basis of preparation
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Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
that are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Council has no material reliance on volunteer services and there is no financial impact on the financial statements as presented.

Volunteer services

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations (ie. pronouncements) have been published by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2022 reporting period.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Council's assessment of these new standards and interpretations (where they have been deemed as having a material impact
on Council's future financial performance, financial positon and cash flows) are set out below:

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current
AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current – Deferral of Effective Date

This Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current.

For example the amendments clarify that a liability is classified as non-current if an entity has the right at the end of the
reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The meaning of settlement
of a liability is also clarified.

Council does not expect any material impact from the above amendments and to its classification of liabilities as
current or non-current.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2024 reporting period.

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other
Amendments

This Standard amends a number of standards as follows:

◾ AASB 1 to simplify the application of AASB 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in relation
to the measurement of cumulative translation differences,

◾ AASB 3 to update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations,

◾ AASB 9 to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability,

◾ AASB 116 to require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from selling items produced while preparing property,
plant and equipment for its intended use and the related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the amounts received
from the cost of the asset,

◾ AASB 137 to specify the costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making and

◾ AASB 141 to remove the requirement to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning
the fair value measurement requirements in AASB 141 with those in other Australian Accounting Standards.

continued on next page ... 

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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Council does not expect any material impact from the above amendments.

This standard has an effective date for the 30 June 2023 reporting period.

Apart from the standards listed above there are no other released standards and interpretations (with future effective dates)
that are expected to have a material impact on Council.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

During the year Council adopted all accounting standards and interpretations (as issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board) which were mandatorily effective from the first time at 30 June 2022.

New accounting standards adopted during the year

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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Income, expenses and assets have been directly attributed to the following functions or activities. Details of those functions or activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Income Expenses Operating result Grants and contributions Carrying amount of assets
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Functions or activities
Governance – – 285 248 (285) (248) – – – –
Administration 9,488 8,315 2,981 1,670 6,507 6,645 9,138 6,453 45,095 41,253
Public order & safety 331 301 568 780 (237) (479) 415 297 1,977 1,857
Health 414 99 741 751 (327) (652) 40 44 881 879
Environment 927 1,053 1,615 1,782 (688) (729) – 240 20,918 21,513
Community services & education 65 261 186 226 (121) 35 146 114 1,182 931
Housing & community amenities 270 257 698 749 (428) (492) 101 152 7,555 7,661
Water supplies 4,067 9,020 2,790 3,350 1,277 5,670 2,021 6,523 37,656 35,233
Sewerage services 1,084 1,040 1,291 894 (207) 146 12 34 12,489 12,209
Recreation & culture 619 1,927 2,226 1,994 (1,607) (67) 3,004 4,243 17,195 15,867
Mining, manufacturing & construction 6 9 12 30 (6) (21) – – – –
Transport & communication 24,686 20,257 15,850 9,821 8,836 10,436 13,792 13,388 205,605 187,046
Economic affairs 1,930 1,793 2,186 1,983 (256) (190) – 12 9,511 9,110
Joint arrangements – 41 50 – (50) 41 – – 654 704
Total functions and activities 43,887 44,373 31,479 24,278 12,408 20,095 28,669 31,500 360,718 334,263

B Financial Performance

B1 Functions or activities

B1-1 Functions or activities – income, expenses and assets
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Governance
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Details relating to the Council’s functions or activities as reported in B1-1 are as follows:

Includes costs relating to Council's role as a component of democratic government, including elections, Councillors fees,
subscriptions to local authority organisations, conduct of Council meetings, legislative compliance and public disclosure.

Administration

Includes costs associated with management and corporate support, staffing, workplace health & safety, engineering and other
administrative support services.

Public order & safety

Includes fire protection and management, emergency services, community safety, law enforcement and animal control.

Health

Includes costs relating to the control of public health, management of health centres and food and consumable safety.

Environment

Includes noxious weed and vermin control, environmental protection, waste management, sanitation, street cleaning,
stormwater management and levees.

Community services & education

Includes education and pre-school services, aboriginal community services administration, youth services, aged and disability
services, family and children's services.

Housing & community amenities

Includes public cemeteries, public conveniences, street lighting, town planning, housing and accommodation services.

Water supplies

Includes management of water schemes, costs of reticulation, treatment and supply, and management of water infrastructure.

Sewerage services

Includes management of sewerage schemes, costs of reticulation and treatment, and management of sewer infrastructure.

Recreation & culture

Includes costs relating to the management of public libraries, museums, art centres, community halls, sporting grounds, parks
and gardens, swimming pools and other recreation facilities.

Mining, manufacturing & construction

Includes building control, management of quarries & gravel pits, construction activities, abattoirs and mining activities.

Transport & communication

Includes the management, maintenance and construction of public roads, footpaths, kerb and guttering, parking areas,
aerodromes and other transport facilities.

Economic affairs

Includes camping & caravan parks, tourism promotion, industrial and economic development, saleyards and other business
undertakings.

Joint arrangements

Includes interest in Far North West Joint Organisation of Councils.

B1-2 Components of functions or activities
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Timing 2022 2021
 $ '000 $ '000

Ordinary rates
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Residential 1 441 428
Farmland 1 1,189 1,166
Business 1 115 113
Less: pensioner rebates (mandatory) 1 (14) (15)
Rates levied to ratepayers 1,731 1,692

Pensioner rate subsidies received 2 8 8
Total ordinary rates 1,739 1,700

Annual charges
(pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)

Domestic waste management services 1 303 302
Water supply services 1 1,083 1,043
Sewerage services 1 846 834
Drainage 1 167 164
Waste management services (non-domestic) 1 153 156
Less: pensioner rebates (mandatory) 1 (31) (32)
Annual charges levied 2,521 2,467

Pensioner subsidies received:
– Domestic waste management 2 5 5
- Urban drainage 2 2 2
– Water 2 5 6
– Sewerage 2 4 5
Total annual charges 2,537 2,485

Total rates and annual charges 4,276 4,185

Timing of revenue recognition for rates and annual charges
Rates and annual charges recognised over time (1)  4,252 –
Rates and annual charges recognised at a point in time (2)  24 4,185
Total rates and annual charges 4,276 4,185

Council has used 2019 year valuations provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates.

Rates and annual charges are recognised as revenue at the beginning of the rating period to which they relate. Prepaid rates
are recognised as a financial liability until the beginning of the rating period.

Accounting policy

Pensioner rebates relate to reductions in rates and certain annual charges for eligible pensioners’ place of residence in the
local government council area that are not subsidised by the NSW Government.

Pensioner rate subsidies are received from the NSW Government to provide a contribution towards the pensioner rebates and
are recognised within the underlying revenue item based on their substance.

B2 Sources of income

B2-1 Rates and annual charges
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Timing 2022 2021
 $ '000 $ '000

Specific user charges
(per s.502 - specific 'actual use' charges)
Water supply services 2 518 764
Waste management services (non-domestic) 2 152 69
Total specific user charges 670 833

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)
Building regulation 2 6 9
Inspection services 2 12 13
Planning and building regulation 2 25 10
Private works – section 67 2 148 664
Registration fees 2 4 3
Regulatory fees 2 4 12
Section 10.7 certificates (EP&A Act) 2 13 10
Section 603 certificates 2 11 5
Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory 223 726

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))
Aerodrome 2 5 5
Cemeteries 2 26 30
Child care 2 19 15
Leaseback fees – Council vehicles 2 – 2
Library and art gallery 2 2 4
Park rents 2 1 –
Transport for NSW works (state roads not controlled by Council) 2 8,455 4,969
Saleyards 2 3 5
Tourism 3 –
Water connection fees 2 7 2
Total fees and charges – other 8,521 5,032

Total other user charges and fees 8,744 5,758

Total user charges and fees 9,414 6,591

Timing of revenue recognition for user charges and fees
User charges and fees recognised at a point in time (2)  9,414 6,591
Total user charges and fees 9,414 6,591

Revenue arising from user charges and fees is recognised when or as the performance obligation is completed and the
customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.

Accounting policy

The performance obligation relates to the specific services which are provided to the customers and generally the payment
terms are within 30 days of the provision of the service or in some cases such as caravan parks, the customer is required to
pay on arrival. There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns.

Where an upfront fee is charged such as membership fees for the leisure centre the fee is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the expected life of the membership.

Licences granted by Council are all either short-term or low value and all revenue from licences is recognised at the time that
the licence is granted rather than the term of the licence.

B2-2 User charges and fees
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Timing 2022 2021
 $ '000 $ '000

Fines 1 1 –
Legal fees recovery – rates and charges (extra charges) 2 2 –
Commissions and agency fees 2 115 114
Diesel rebate 1 45 136
Insurance claims recoveries 1 72 316
Recycling income (non-domestic) 2 21 33
Sales of inventories 2 1 4
Sales – general 2 9 1
Aboriginal communities program 1 235 308
Back O’Bourke centre 2 318 352
Jandra boat 2 45 176
Tourism 2 10 26
Other 1 181 130
Total other revenue 1,055 1,596

Timing of revenue recognition for other revenue
Other revenue recognised over time (1)  397 890
Other revenue recognised at a point in time (2)  658 706
Total other revenue 1,055 1,596

Accounting policy for other revenue

Where the revenue is earned the provision of specified goods / services under an enforceable contract, revenue is recognised
when or as the the obligations are satisfied.

Statutory fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received or when
the penalty has been applied, whichever occurs first.

Other revenue is recorded when the payment is due, the value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, whichever
occurs first.

B2-3 Other revenues
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Operating Operating Capital Capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

Timing $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

General purpose grants and non-developer 
contributions (untied)
General purpose (untied)
Current year allocation
Financial assistance – general component 1 2,521 2,151 – –
Financial assistance – local roads component 1 1,053 954 – –
Payment in advance - future year allocation
Financial assistance – general component 1 3,871 2,301 – –
Financial assistance – local roads component 1 1,625 1,024 – –
Amount recognised as income during current
year 9,070 6,430 – –

Special purpose grants and non-developer 
contributions (tied)
Cash contributions
Previously specific grants:
Water supplies 1 217 – 1,653 6,514
Sewerage services 1 – – 12 34
Economic development 1 – – – 12
Employment and training programs 2 30 15 – –
Environmental programs 2 – 240 – –
Floodplain management 1 47 – – –
Heritage and cultural 2 6 26 747 340
Library – per capita 1 69 68 – –
LIRS subsidy 1 7 9 – –
Noxious weeds 1 40 44 – –
Recreation and culture 2 20 278 2,120 2,748
Storm/flood damage 2 444 643 – –
Community development 1 253 97 – 887
Public order and safety 1 90 – 60 7
Youth services 1 13 17 – –
Street lighting 1 35 35 – –
Transport (roads to recovery) 1 1,576 1,733 – –
Transport (other roads and bridges funding) 2 6 – 9,643 8,524
Previously contributions:
Bushfire services 1 149 155 – –
Transport for NSW contributions (regional roads, block
grant) 2 1,945 1,545 144 944
Water supplies (excl. section 64 contributions) 2 – – 151 8
Other contributions 2 117 147 5 –
Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions – cash 5,064 5,052 14,535 20,018

Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions (tied) 5,064 5,052 14,535 20,018

Total grants and non-developer 
contributions 14,134 11,482 14,535 20,018

Comprising:
– Commonwealth funding  8 707 2,000 2,926
– State funding  14,034 10,685 12,379 17,032
– Other funding  92 90 156 60

14,134 11,482 14,535 20,018

B2-4 Grants and contributions
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Operating Operating Capital Capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000
§Subnote§

Total grants and contributions 14,134 11,482 14,535 20,018

Timing of revenue recognition for grants and contributions
Grants and contributions recognised over time (1) 11,566 556 1,914 19,074
Grants and contributions recognised at a point in time (2) 2,568 10,926 12,621 944
Total grants and contributions 14,134 11,482 14,535 20,018

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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Unspent grants and contributions

Certain grants and contributions are obtained by Council on the condition they be spent in a specified manner or in a future 
period but which are not yet spent in accordance with those conditions are as follows:

Operating Operating Capital Capital
2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Unspent grants and contributions
Unspent funds at 1 July 438 384 8,988 860
Add: capital grants received for the provision

of goods and services 3,731 1,471 16,810 28,007
Less: operating grants recognised in the current
period and now spent (3,248) (1,417) (14,348) (19,444)
Less: Funds received in prior year but revenue

recognised and funds spent in current
year (8) – (6,744) (435)

Unspent funds at 30 June 913 438 4,706 8,988

Other Contributions
Unspent funds at 1 July 12 – 189 197
Add: contributions received for the provision of

goods and services 2,211 2,234 199 556
Less: Funds recognised in the current reporting

period now spent (2,097) (2,222) (144) (556)
Less: contributions recognised as revenue in

previous years that have been spent
during the reporting year – – (151) (8)

Unspent contributions at 30 June 126 12 93 189

Grants and contributions – enforceable agreement with sufficiently specific performance obligations

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Grant and contribution revenue from an agreement which is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific performance
obligations is recognised as or when control of each performance obligations is transferred.

The performance obligations vary according to the agreement, but may include achievement of agreed service levels, or the
completion of certain works or delivery of specified services. Payment terms vary depending on the terms of the grant, cash
is received upfront for some grants and on the achievement of certain payment milestones for others.

Performance obligations may be satisfied either at a point in time or over time and this is reflected in the revenue recognition
pattern. Point in time recognition occurs when the beneficiary obtains control of the goods / services at a single time (e.g.
completion of the project when a report / outcome is provided), whereas over time recognition is where the control of the
services is ongoing throughout the project (e.g. provision of community health services through the year).

Where control is transferred over time, generally the input methods being either costs or time incurred are deemed to be the
most appropriate methods to reflect the transfer of benefit.

Capital grants

Capital grants received by Council under an enforceable contract for the acquisition or construction of infrastructure, property,
plant and equipment to identified specifications which will be under Council’s control on completion are recognised as revenue
as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed.

For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred since this is
deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness of the construction project.

For acquisitions of assets, the revenue is recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by the Council.

continued on next page ... 

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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Other grants and contributions

Assets, including cash, received from other grants and contributions are recognised at fair value when the asset is received.
Council considers whether there are any related liability or equity items associated with the asset which are recognised in
accordance with the relevant accounting standard.

Once the assets and liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any remaining asset value at the time
that the asset is received.

B2-5 Interest and investment income
§Subnote§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Overdue rates and annual charges (incl. special purpose rates) 106 63
– Cash and investments 117 152
Total interest and investment income (losses) 223 215

Interest and investment income is attributable to:
Unrestricted investments/financial assets:
Overdue rates and annual charges (general fund) 55 35
General Council cash and investments 65 152
Restricted investments/funds – external:
Water fund operations 58 18
Sewerage fund operations 45 10
Total interest and investment income 223 215

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate at the date that interest is earned.

Accounting policy

B2-6 Other income
§Subnote§

2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Rental income
Other lease income
Housing accommodation 91 91
Government services, health and allied services 80 88
Leaseback fees - council vehicles 29 7
Cultural facilities, communications and other 50 59
Total other lease income 250 245

Total rental income C2-2 250 245

Net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method
Joint arrangements – 41
Total net share of interests in joint ventures and associates 
using the equity method D2-1 – 41

Total other income 250 286

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Salaries and wages 6,950 7,062
Employee leave entitlements (ELE) 873 763
Superannuation 739 710
Workers’ compensation insurance 168 235
Fringe benefit tax (FBT) 18 19
Sick leave insurance 5 5
Other 135 68
Total employee costs 8,888 8,862

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Less: capitalised costs (353) (1,328)
Total employee costs expensed 8,535 7,534

Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end 84 82
Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end (incl. vacancies) 94 96

Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by the employee.

Accounting policy

All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes to various defined
benefit plans and defined contribution plans on behalf of its employees.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Council participates in a defined benefit plan under the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, however, sufficient
information to account for the plan as a defined benefit is not available and therefore Council accounts for its obligations to
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its obligations to defined contribution plans, i.e. as an expense when it becomes
payable – refer to Note E3-1 for more information.

B3-2 Materials and services
§Subnote§

2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Raw materials and consumables 26,609 24,740
Contractor and consultancy costs 633 745
Advertising 249 180
Audit Fees F2-1 67 61
Bank charges 20 24
Cleaning 33 40
Computer software charges 143 136
Cost of sales 11 40
Election expenses 26 –
Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses F1-2 191 185
Electricity and heating 404 369
Fire control expenses 110 132
Insurance 496 464
Office expenses (including computer expenses) 84 78
Postage 7 8
Printing and stationery 37 58
Street lighting 76 147
Subscriptions and publications 28 27
Telephone and communications 96 89
Tourism expenses (excluding employee costs) 30 73
Training costs (other than salaries and wages) 60 118

continued on next page ... 

B3 Costs of providing services

B3-1 Employee benefits and on-costs
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2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Travel expenses 312 277
Valuation fees 17 17
Other expenses 9 11
Legal expenses:
– Legal expenses: other 28 37
Total materials and services 29,776 28,056

Less: capitalised costs (16,503) (20,231)
Total materials and services 13,273 7,825

Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as the Council receives the goods or services.

Accounting policy

B3-3 Borrowing costs
§Subnote§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

(i) Interest bearing liability costs
Interest on leases – 1
Interest on loans 167 167
Total interest bearing liability costs 167 168

Total interest bearing liability costs expensed 167 168

Total borrowing costs expensed 167 168

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

Accounting policy

B3-2 Materials and services (continued)
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2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Depreciation and amortisation
Plant and equipment 1,056 1,016
Office equipment 62 68
Furniture and fittings 20 10
Infrastructure: C1-6

– Buildings – non-specialised 86 84
– Buildings – specialised 544 514
– Other structures 416 378
– Roads 2,161 1,871
– Bridges 317 316
– Footpaths 75 75
– Stormwater drainage 81 81
– Water supply network 951 1,535
– Sewerage network 338 381
– Swimming pools 123 67
– Other open space/recreational assets 285 228
– Levee bank 397 434
– Other infrastructure 124 124
Right of use assets C2-1 11 13
Other assets:
– Other Heritage 70 25
– Library books 21 19
Total gross depreciation and amortisation costs 7,138 7,239

Total depreciation and amortisation costs 7,138 7,239

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment for 
non-financial assets 7,138 7,239

Accounting policy

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives.

Depreciation and amortisation

Council assets held at fair value that are not held primarily for their ability to generate net cash flow, and that are deemed to
be specialised, are not tested for impairment since these assets are assessed on an annual basis to ensure that the carrying
amount is not materially different from fair value and therefore an impairment loss would be captured during this assessment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Other non-financial assets that do not meet the criteria above are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Impairment losses for revalued assets are firstly offset against the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset,
with only the excess to be recognised in the Income Statement.

B3-4 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets
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2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Impairment of receivables
Other 117 (6)
Total impairment of receivables C1-4 117 (6)

Net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method
Joint arrangements 50 –
Total net share of interests in joint ventures and associates 
using the equity method D2-1 50 –

Other
Contributions/levies to other levels of government
– Emergency services levy (includes FRNSW, SES, and RFS levies) 155 349
– Other contributions/levies 22 21
Donations, contributions and assistance to other organisations (Section 356) 21 33
Total other 198 403
Total other expenses 365 397

Other expenses are recorded on an accruals basis when Council has an obligation for the expenses.

Accounting policy

Impairment expenses are recognised when identified.

B3-5 Other expenses
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2022 2021
Notes $ '000 $ '000

Gain (or loss) on disposal of property (excl. investment property)
Proceeds from disposal – property 34 –
Less: carrying amount of property assets sold/written off (22) (64)
Gain (or loss) on disposal 12 (64)

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Gain (or loss) on disposal of plant and equipment C1-6

Proceeds from disposal – plant and equipment 461 299
Less: carrying amount of plant and equipment assets sold/written off (267) (157)
Gain (or loss) on disposal 194 142

Gain (or loss) on disposal of infrastructure C1-6

Less: carrying amount of infrastructure assets sold/written off (2,207) (1,193)
Gain (or loss) on disposal (2,207) (1,193)

Gain (or loss) on disposal of investments C1-2

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets – held to maturity investments 14,706 39,051
Less: carrying amount of investments sold/redeemed/matured (14,706) (39,051)
Gain (or loss) on disposal – –

Net gain (or loss) from disposal of assets (2,001) (1,115)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. The gain or loss on sale of an
asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer and the asset is de-recognised.

Accounting policy

B4 Gains or losses

B4-1 Gain or loss from the disposal, replacement and de-recognition of assets
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§Note/Subtotal§

Council’s original budget was adopted by the Council on 21/06/2021 and is not required to be audited. The original projections
on which the budget was based have been affected by a number of factors. These include state and federal government
decisions, including new grant programs, changing economic activity, environmental factors, and by decisions made by
Council.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

While these General Purpose Financial Statements include the original budget adopted by Council, the Act requires Council to
review its financial budget on a quarterly basis, so it is able to manage the variation between actuals and budget that invariably
occur during the year.

Material variations of more than 10% between original budget and actual results or where the variance is considered material
by nature are explained below.

Variation Key: F = Favourable budget variation, U = Unfavourable budget variation.

 2022 2022 2022
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

Revenues

Rates and annual charges 4,718 4,276 (442) (9)% U

User charges and fees 5,587 9,414 3,827 68% F
RMCC works completed for Transport for NSW on State Roads was increased in the period by $3.4M.

Other revenues 1,123 1,055 (68) (6)% U

Operating grants and contributions 9,198 14,134 4,936 54% F
Council received additional grant funding from both the Commonwealth and State Governments, including $5.5M in 
Financial Assistance Grant advance payment.

Capital grants and contributions 39,957 14,535 (25,422) (64)% U
Grant applications were unsuccessful or not available for Louth Levee project of $10M, North Bourke Bridge upgrade $4M, 
Bourke Aboriginal Cultural Centre $3.5M and $12.7M to complete the sealing of MR 405 - Wanaaring Road.

Interest and investment revenue 379 223 (156) (41)% U
Interest rates remained very flat during the period. Council's cash postion has however remained stong.

Other income – 250 250 ∞ F
Disclosure of rental income previously included in other Notes.

B5 Performance against budget

B5-1 Material budget variations
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 2022 2022 2022
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

Expenses

Employee benefits and on-costs 8,943 8,535 408 5% F

Materials and services 8,611 13,273 (4,662) (54)% U

§Total§

With additional grants received in 2021/2022 there was more focus on capital works projects to safisfy the conditons of the 
grants received.

Borrowing costs 177 167 10 6% F

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
non-financial assets 6,339 7,138 (799) (13)% U

Additional depreciation was incurred through additional captial works and increase in values.

Other expenses 854 365 489 57% F
Re-allocation of budget expenses from Other Costs to Materials and Services within the 2021/2022 budget

Net losses from disposal of assets – 2,001 (2,001) ∞ U
Disposal of remaining components of renewed infrastrcuture assets (roads and bridges) not included in the original budget

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities 42,377 25,058 (17,319) (41)% U
Due to grant funds not received and included in original budget, there are less funds than budgeteed for.

Cash flows from investing activities (51,037) (20,732) 30,305 (59)% F
Cash expenditure was below original budget grant funds not received.

Cash flows from financing activities 7,890 363 (7,527) (95)% U
Less borrowings were drawn down as they were not required.

B5-1 Material budget variations (continued)
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2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Cash assets
Cash on hand and at bank 892 1,419

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Cash equivalent assets
– Short-term deposits 13,105 7,889
Total cash and cash equivalents 13,997 9,308

§Subnote§

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents per Statement of Financial Position 13,997 9,308
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows 13,997 9,308

For Statement of Cash Flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include: cash on hand; deposits held at call
with financial institutions; other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

C Financial position

C1 Assets we manage

C1-1 Cash and cash equivalents
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Debt securities at amortised cost
Long term deposits 21,638 – 20,851 –
Total 21,638 – 20,851 –

Total financial investments 21,638 – 20,851 –

Total cash assets, cash equivalents and 
investments 35,635 – 30,159 –

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Council becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Financial assets

On initial recognition, Council classifies its financial assets into the following categories – those measured at:

Classification

• amortised cost
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
• fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument (FVOCI-equity)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where:

Amortised cost

• the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, and
• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

Council’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables,term deposits and cash and cash
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position. Term deposits with an initial term of more than 3 months are classified as
investments rather than cash and cash equivalents.

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less
provision for impairment.

Interest income, impairment and gains or loss on de-recognition are recognised in profit or loss.

C1-2 Financial investments
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2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(a) Externally 
restricted 
cash, cash
equivalent
s and 
investmen
ts

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Total cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments 35,635 – 35,635 30,159 – 30,159

§Total§

Less: Externally 
restricted cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments (10,964) – (10,964) (15,855) – (15,855)
Cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments not 
subject to external 
restrictions 24,671 – 24,671 14,304 – 14,304

External restrictions
§Total§

External restrictions – included in liabilities
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above comprise:

Specific purpose unexpended grants – general fund 4,355 7,709
Specific purpose unexpended grants – water fund 321 247
External restrictions – included in liabilities 4,676 7,956

External restrictions – other
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above 
comprise:

Specific purpose unexpended grants (recognised as revenue) – general fund 892 1,615
Specific purpose unexpended grants (recognised as revenue) – water fund 270 56
Water fund 2,558 3,715
Sewer fund 2,539 2,460
Domestic waste management 29 53
External restrictions – other 6,288 7,899
Total external restrictions 10,964 15,855

Cash, cash equivalents and investments subject to external restrictions are those which are only available for specific use 
by Council due to a restriction placed by legislation or third-party contractual agreement.

C1-3 Restricted and allocated cash, cash equivalents and investments
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2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(b) Internal allocations

Cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments not 
subject to external 
restrictions 24,671 – 24,671 14,304 – 14,304

§Total§

Less: Internally 
restricted cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments (6,101) – (6,101) (3,930) – (3,930)
Unrestricted and 
unallocated cash, 
cash equivalents 
and investments 18,570 – 18,570 10,374 – 10,374

Internal allocations
At 30 June, Council has internally allocated funds to the following:

Employees leave entitlement 600 600
Deposits, retentions and bonds 5 5
Prepaid Financial Asssitance Grant 5,496 3,325
Total internal allocations 6,101 3,930

§Total§

Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external restrictions may be internally allocated by resolution or
policy of the elected Council.

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

(c) Unrestricted and unallocated

§Subnote§

Unrestricted and 
unallocated cash, 
cash equivalents 
and investments 18,570 – 18,570 10,374 – 10,374

C1-3 Restricted and allocated cash, cash equivalents and investments (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Rates and annual charges 793 271 763 277
Interest and extra charges 248 90 234 85
User charges and fees 2,608 100 2,942 30
Accrued revenues
– Interest on investments 62 – 56 –
Government grants and subsidies 3,364 – 5,618 –
Net GST receivable – – 415 –
Other debtors – – 1,656 –
Total 7,075 461 11,684 392

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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Less: provision for impairment
Rates and annual charges (357) (130) (284) (103)
Interest and extra charges (105) (38) (87) (32)
User charges and fees – – (7) (2)
Total provision for impairment – 
receivables (462) (168) (378) (137)

Total net receivables 6,613 293 11,306 255

Externally restricted receivables
§Subnote§

Water supply
– Rates and availability charges 163 59 160 58
– Other 1,213 – 403 –
Sewerage services
– Rates and availability charges 138 39 148 54
– Other 25 – – –
Total external restrictions 1,539 98 711 112

Unrestricted receivables 5,074 195 10,595 143

Total net receivables 6,613 293 11,306 255

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Movement in provision for impairment of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year (calculated in accordance with AASB 139) 514 528
+ new provisions recognised during the year 125 136
– amounts provided for but recovered during the year (9) (150)
Balance at the end of the year 630 514

§Subnote§

C1-4 Receivables
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Accounting policy

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. Receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis.

Impairment

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, and when
estimating ECL, the Council considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on Council’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment, and including forward-looking information.

When considering the ECL for rates debtors, Council takes into account that unpaid rates represent a charge against the
rateable property that will be recovered when the property is next sold. For non-rates debtors, Council uses the presumption
that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant increase in credit risk.

Council uses the presentation that a financial asset is in default when:
• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Council in full, without recourse by the Council to actions

such as realising security (if any is held) or
• the financial assets (for non-rates debtors) are more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with
the contract, and the cash flows expected to be received. This is applied using a probability weighted approach.

On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 months is recognised. Where the
asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime losses are estimated and recognised.

Council uses the simplified approach for trade receivables where the expected lifetime credit losses are recognised on day 1.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

The Council writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the receivables are over 1 year past due, whichever occurs first.

None of the receivables that have been written off are subject to enforcement activity.

Where the Council renegotiates the terms of receivables due from certain customers, the new expected cash flows are
discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.

Rates and annual charges outstanding are secured against the property.

C1-4 Receivables (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Inventories at cost
Stores and materials 98 – 75 –
Trading stock 109 – 78 –
Total inventories at cost 207 – 153 –

Total inventories 207 – 153 –

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

§Subnote§

§Subnote§§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods

C1-5 Inventories
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At 1 July 2021 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2022

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals   1

Additions new 
assets

Carrying value 
of disposals

Depreciation 
expense WIP transfers

Revaluation 
increments to 
equity (ARR)

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amountBy aggregated 

asset class $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Capital work in progress 9,833 – 9,833 3,936 933 – – (8,987) – 5,715 – 5,715
Plant and equipment 11,821 (6,822) 4,999 1,024 387 (258) (1,056) – – 12,366 (7,270) 5,096
Office equipment 778 (423) 355 61 13 – (62) 9 – 861 (485) 376
Furniture and fittings 191 (108) 83 59 – – (20) – – 251 (128) 123

§TocItem§
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Land:
– Operational land 2,518 – 2,518 – – (22) – – – 2,496 – 2,496
– Community land 508 – 508 – – – – – – 508 – 508
– Crown land 1,957 – 1,957 – – – – – – 1,957 – 1,957
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 3,628 (1,200) 2,428 173 – – (86) 58 311 4,312 (1,428) 2,884
– Buildings – specialised 27,658 (12,268) 15,390 59 – – (544) – 2,303 31,636 (14,427) 17,209
– Other structures 7,754 (3,696) 4,058 77 613 – (416) 493 151 9,087 (4,111) 4,976
– Roads 180,468 (28,248) 152,220 3,020 5,229 (1,692) (2,161) 7,295 8,340 206,873 (34,621) 172,252
– Bridges 32,189 (11,419) 20,770 12 1,910 (515) (317) 39 2,169 37,627 (13,559) 24,068
– Footpaths 5,904 (3,568) 2,336 150 178 – (75) 191 161 6,843 (3,902) 2,941
– Stormwater drainage 5,445 (1,899) 3,546 – 69 – (81) – 233 5,879 (2,112) 3,767
– Water supply network 50,277 (20,518) 29,759 387 176 – (951) 443 1,263 53,777 (22,699) 31,078
– Sewerage network 21,063 (11,701) 9,362 – 23 – (338) 184 517 22,476 (12,728) 9,748
– Swimming pools 4,370 (645) 3,725 47 387 – (123) – 72 4,891 (783) 4,108
– Other open space/recreational 
assets 10,536 (5,141) 5,395 193 53 – (285) 275 102 11,268 (5,535) 5,733
– Levee bank 24,709 (7,378) 17,331 – – – (397) – – 24,709 (7,775) 16,934
– Aerodromes 4,923 (1,169) 3,754 – – – (124) – 392 5,456 (1,433) 4,023
Other assets:
– Library Books & Reader 205 (52) 153 28 – (9) (21) – – 208 (56) 152
– Heritage items 11,048 (9,880) 1,168 – 29 – (70) – 21 11,368 (10,220) 1,148
Total infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment 417,783 (126,135) 291,648 9,226 10,000 (2,496) (7,127) – 16,035 460,564 (143,272) 317,292

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
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At 1 July 2020 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2021

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and 
impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Additions 
renewals   1

Additions 
new assets

Carrying 
value of 

disposals
Depreciation 

expense WIP transfers
Adjustments 

and transfers

Revaluation 
decrements 

to equity 
(ARR)

Revaluation 
increments to
equity (ARR)

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and 
impairment

Net
carrying
amountBy aggregated 

asset class $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Capital work in progress 9,786 – 9,786 3,655 5,313 – – (8,922) – – – 9,833 – 9,833
Plant and equipment 11,690 (6,374) 5,316 445 410 (157) (1,016) – – – – 11,821 (6,822) 4,999
Office equipment 778 (355) 423 – – – (68) – – – – 778 (423) 355
Furniture and fittings 127 (98) 29 65 – – (10) – – – – 191 (108) 83
Land:
– Operational land 2,454 – 2,454 – 64 – – – – – – 2,518 – 2,518
– Community land 683 – 683 – – (64) – – (122) – 10 508 – 508
– Crown land 1,835 – 1,835 – – – – – 122 – – 1,957 – 1,957
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 3,533 (1,116) 2,417 95 – – (84) – – – – 3,628 (1,200) 2,428
– Buildings – specialised 25,597 (11,818) 13,779 696 185 (19) (514) 1,262 – – – 27,658 (12,268) 15,390
– Other structures 6,369 (3,168) 3,201 494 172 (48) (378) 72 – – 546 7,754 (3,696) 4,058
– Roads 174,726 (26,463) 148,263 1,215 2,231 (415) (1,871) 2,799 – – – 180,468 (28,248) 152,220
– Bridges 32,114 (11,104) 21,010 71 – – (316) 4 – – – 32,189 (11,419) 20,770
– Footpaths 5,894 (3,493) 2,401 9 – – (75) – – – – 5,904 (3,568) 2,336
– Stormwater drainage 5,440 (1,819) 3,621 5 – – (81) – – – – 5,445 (1,899) 3,546
– Water supply network 40,012 (18,796) 21,216 6,537 141 – (1,535) 3,218 – – 181 50,277 (20,518) 29,759
– Sewerage network 20,849 (11,213) 9,636 23 – – (381) – – – 85 21,063 (11,701) 9,362
– Swimming pools 3,136 (1,565) 1,571 1,576 35 (507) (67) 1,010 – – 107 4,370 (645) 3,725
– Levee bank 24,709 (6,944) 17,765 – – – (434) – – – – 24,709 (7,378) 17,331
– Other open space/recreational assets 8,849 (4,673) 4,176 468 214 (202) (228) – – – 966 10,536 (5,141) 5,395
– Aerodromes 4,923 (1,044) 3,879 – – – (124) – – – – 4,923 (1,169) 3,754
Other assets:
– Heritage collections 2,530 (582) 1,948 – 92 – (25) 557 – (1,403) – 11,048 (9,880) 1,168
– Library books 191 (36) 155 20 – (2) (19) – – – – 205 (52) 153
Total infrastructure, property, plant 
and equipment 386,225 (110,661) 275,564 15,374 8,857 (1,414) (7,226) – – (1,403) 1,895 417,783 (126,135) 291,648

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued)
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Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are held at fair value. Independent valuations are performed at least every five
years, however, the carrying amount of assets is assessed at each reporting date to confirm that it is not materially different
from current fair value.

Accounting policy

Water and sewerage network assets are indexed at each reporting period in accordance with the Rates Reference Manual
issued by Crown Lands and Water (CLAW).

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to the asset revaluation reserve. To the extent that the
increase reverses a decrease previously recognising profit or loss relating to that asset class, the increase is first recognised
as profit or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of assets in the same class are first charged against revaluation
reserves directly in equity to the extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the class; all other decreases are charged to
the Income Statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Land is not depreciated. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the
Income statement. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment
Office equipment

Years
8 to 10

Other equipment
Playground equipment

Years
3 to 20

Office furniture 10 Benches, seats etc. 5 to 30
Computer equipment 3 to 50
Vehicles 2 to 10 Buildings
Heavy plant/road making equipment 5 to 10 Buildings: masonry 50 to 80
Other plant and equipment 5 to 50 Buildings: other 20 to 80

Water and sewer assets Stormwater assets
Dams and reservoirs 20 to 100 Drains 50 to 100
Bores 10 to 50 Culverts 50 to 80
Reticulation pipes: PVC 50 to 80 Flood control structures 20 to 80
Reticulation pipes: other 25 to 50
Pumps and telemetry 8 to 20

Transportation assets Other infrastructure assets
Sealed roads: surface 15 Bulk earthworks Infinite
Sealed roads: structure 60 to 100 Swimming pools 20 to 50
Unsealed roads 20 to 100 Unsealed roads 20 to 100
Bridge: concrete 100 Other open space/recreational assets 3 to 50
Bridge: other 100 Other infrastructure 3 to 50
Road pavements 20 to 70 Heritage 10 to 100
Kerb, gutter and footpaths 15 to 75

Land under roads is land under roadways and road reserves including land under footpaths, nature strips and median strips.

Land under roads

Council has elected not to recognise land under roads acquired before 1 July 2008 in accordance with AASB 1051 Land
Under Roads. Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 is recognised in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and
Equipment.

Crown Reserves under Council’s care and control are recognised as assets of the Council. While ownership of the reserves
remains with the Crown, Council retains operational control of the reserves and is responsible for their maintenance and use
in accordance with the specific purposes to which the reserves are dedicated.

Crown reserves

continued on next page ... 

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued)
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Improvements on Crown Reserves are also recorded as assets, while maintenance costs incurred by Council and revenues
relating to the reserves are recognised within Council’s Income Statement.

Under Section 119 of the Rural Fire Services Act 1997 (NSW), “all firefighting equipment purchased or constructed wholly

Rural Fire Service assets

or from money to the credit of the Fund is to be vested in the council of the area for or on behalf of which the firefighting
equipment has been purchased or constructed”.

Council has assessed the value of the rural fire service plant and equipment "Red Fleet" and determined the value of these
assets are not material and have not recognised them in the financial statements.

§Note§

Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

as at 30/06/22 as at 30/06/21
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depn. and 

impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depn. and 

impairment

Net
carrying
amount

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Water supply
WIP 1,700 – 1,700 535 – 535
Plant and equipment 488 366 122 475 345 130
Buildings 691 543 148 619 477 142
Other structures 96 72 24 94 66 28
Infrastructure 53,777 22,699 31,078 50,277 20,518 29,759
Total water supply 56,752 23,680 33,072 52,000 21,406 30,594

§TocItem§
§TocItem§§Subnote§

Sewerage services
WIP – – – 184 – 184
Plant and equipment 96 96 – 96 96 –
Infrastructure 22,476 12,728 9,748 21,063 11,701 9,362
Total sewerage services 22,572 12,824 9,748 21,343 11,797 9,546

Total restricted 
infrastructure, property, plant
and equipment 79,324 36,504 42,820 73,343 33,203 40,140

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued)
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§Note/Subtotal§

Council has leases over a range of assets including land, buildings and road plant & equipment. Information relating to the
leases in place and associated balances and transactions is provided below.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Terms and conditions of leases

Lease
Number

Council
Reference Lessor Asset Class /

Type Start date End date Type Annual
Repayments $

L0003 BYROCK RAIL
LAND

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 1/03/1988 28/02/2087 Peppercorn 527

L0004 RAILWAY LAND
VARIOUS

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 30/06/2022 29/06/2023 Peppercorn 129

L0005
RAILWAY LAND
STATION
BUILDING

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 31/07/2021 31/07/2022 Peppercorn 674

L0006 RAILWAY LAND
SALEYARDS

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 1/03/2022 28/02/2023 Peppercorn 1,200

L0007 RAILWAY LAND
SALEYARDS

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 30/04/2022 29/04/2023 Peppercorn 518

L0008

VARIOUS
LOCAL
GOVERNMENT
PURPOSES

NSW
TRANSPORT
ASSET
HOLDING
ENTITY

Land -
Community land 1/09/2022 31/08/2023 Peppercorn 1,017

L0010 RAINBAR CAMP
HEFFERNAN
PASTORAL
PTY LTD

Land
improvements -
non-depreciable

1/01/2020 1/01/2030 Low Value 12

L0011 YANDAROO
CAMP

GARTH DAVIS
& MARY
LOUISE DAVIS

Land
improvements -
non-depreciable

1/01/2020 1/01/2030 Low Value 12

L0012 LIBRARY
2020-2024

ESSENTIAL
ENERGY

Infrastructure -
Buildings – non-
specialised

1/09/2020 31/08/2024 Ordinary 23,332

L0013 Tender 01/2021
ROLLERS
AUSTRALIA
P/L

Plant and
equipment 1/07/2021 30/06/2022 Short Term 359,783

Total annual payments 387,204

Council leases land and buildings for its library services, water supply infrastructure and for other community purposes. The
term of the leases varies according to the particular purpose and range between 2 year with 2 year options, and up to 99
years in the case of certain Crown lands.

Buildings

The building leases contains an annual pricing mechanism based on either fixed increases or CPI movements at each
anniversary of the lease inception.

C2 Leasing activities

C2-1 Council as a lessee
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Vehicles
Council leases road plant & equipment which are secured by annual tender and have a term of 1 year only. The lease payments
are fixed on a usage basis during the lease term and there is no renewal option.

Council does not lease IT and office equipment.

Office and IT equipment

Council includes an option in the building lease to provide flexibility and certainty to Council operations and to ensure continuity
of available services to its community. At commencement date and each subsequent reporting date, Council assesses where
it is reasonably certain that the extension options will be exercised.

Extension options

(a) Right of use assets
§Subnote§

Buildings - 
Non 

Specialised Total
$ '000 $ '000

2022
Opening balance at 1 July 37 37

Adjustments to right-of-use assets due to re-measurement of lease liability (2) (2)
Depreciation charge (11) (11)
Balance at 30 June 24 24

2021
Opening balance at 1 July 3 3

Additions to right-of-use assets 47 47
Depreciation charge (13) (13)
Balance at 30 June 37 37

(b) Lease liabilities
§Subnote§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Lease liabilities 4 – 25 4
Total lease liabilities 4 – 25 4

C2-1 Council as a lessee (continued)
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(c) The maturity analysis

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is shown in the table below:

< 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2022
Cash flows 4 – – 4 4

2021
Cash flows 25 4 – 29 29

(d) Income Statement
§Subnote§

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement relating to leases where Council is a lessee are shown below:

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Interest on lease liabilities – 1
Depreciation of right of use assets 11 13

11 14

(e) Statement of Cash Flows
§Subnote§

Total cash outflow for leases 387 244
387 244

(f) Leases at significantly below market value – concessionary / peppercorn leases
§Subnote§

Council has a number of leases at significantly below market value for land and buildings which are used for:

• water supply storage
• works depot and storage
• storage of materials, and
• other comunity purposes

The leases are generally between 10 to 99 years and require annual payments of amounts not exceeding $5000 per year. The
use of the right-to-use asset is restricted by the lessors to specified community services which Council must provide, these
services are detailed in the leases.

Council does not believe that any of the leases in place are individually material from a statement of financial position or
performance perspective.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

At inception of a contract, Council assesses whether a lease exists – i.e. does the contract convey the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration?

Council has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components for any class of asset and has accounted
for payments as a single component.

At the lease commencement, Council recognises a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease term. The
lease term includes extension periods where Council believes it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

continued on next page ... 

C2-1 Council as a lessee (continued)
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The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises: the lease liability, initial
direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease incentives. The right-of-use
is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment
of asset accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the
lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then the Council’s
incremental borrowing rate for a similar term with similar security is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The
lease liability is re-measured when there is a lease modification, or change in estimate of the lease term or index upon which
the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI).

Where the lease liability is re-measured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the re-measurement.

Exceptions to lease accounting
Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal
to 12 months) and leases of low-value assets. Council recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases at significantly below market value / concessionary leases
Council has elected to measure the right of use asset arising from the concessionary leases at cost which is based on the
associated lease liability at initial recognition.

C2-1 Council as a lessee (continued)
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§Subnote§

Operating leases

Council leases out a number of properties and facilities to community groups, essential community health providers and to 
staff for accommodation. These leases have been classified as operating leases for financial reporting purposes and the 
assets are included in IPP&E (refer Note C1-6).

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement relating to operating leases where Council is a lessor are shown below

Operating lease expenses

(ii) Assets held as property, plant and equipment

Lease income (excluding variable lease payments not dependent on an index or rate) 250 245
Total income relating to operating leases for Council assets 250 245

§Subnote§

Reconciliation of IPPE assets leased out as operating leases

Buildings
Plant & 

Equipment
Plant & 

Equipment Specialised Specialised Non 
Specialised

Buildings - Non
Specialised

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Opening balance as at 1 
July 224 373 3,263 2,817 2,116 2,325

Additions new assets 53 – – 665 – 95
Carrying value of disposals (68) – – – – –
Depreciation expense (69) (82) (103) (78) (85) (74)
Adjustments and transfers – (67) 405 (141) 304 (230)

Closing balance as at 30 
June 140 224 3,565 3,263 2,335 2,116

When Council is a lessor, the lease is classified as either an operating or finance lease at inception date, based on whether
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset have been transferred to the lessee. If the risks
and rewards have been transferred then the lease is classified as a finance lease, otherwise it is an operating lease.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

When Council has a sub-lease over an asset and is the intermediate lessor then the head lease and sub-lease are accounted
for separately. The classification of the sub-lease is based on the right-of-use asset which arises from the head lease rather
than the useful life of the underlying asset.

If the lease contains lease and non-lease components, the non-lease components are accounted for in accordance with AASB
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term for an operating lease and as finance income
using amortised cost basis for finance leases.

C2-2 Council as a lessor
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Payables
Goods and services – operating expenditure 3,128 – 1,016 –
Goods and services – capital expenditure 386 – 1,594 –
Accrued expenses:
– Borrowings 11 – 13 –
– Salaries and wages 189 – 161 –
Security bonds, deposits and retentions 135 – 137 –
ATO – net GST payable 37 – – –
Total payables 3,886 – 2,921 –

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Income received in advance
Payments received in advance 286 – 276 –
Total income received in advance 286 – 276 –

Total payables 4,172 – 3,197 –

§Subnote§

Payables relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Externally restricted assets
Water 140 – 309 –
Sewer 15 – 38 –
Payables relating to externally restricted assets 155 – 347 –

Total payables relating to restricted 
assets 155 – 347 –

Total payables relating to unrestricted 
assets 4,017 – 2,850 –

Total payables 4,172 – 3,197 –
§Subnote§

Current payables not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

Nil

Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Council prior to the end of financial year that are unpaid. The
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Payables

C3 Liabilities of Council

C3-1 Payables
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Notes $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Grants and contributions received in 
advance:
Unexpended capital grants (to 
construct Council controlled assets) (i) 4,588 – 7,759 –
Unexpended operating grants 
(received prior to performance 
obligation being satisfied) (ii) – – 8 –

Unexpended capital contributions (to 
construct Council controlled assets) (i) 88 – 189 –
Total grants received in 
advance 4,676 – 7,956 –

Total contract liabilities 4,676 – 7,956 –

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Notes

(i) Council has received funding to construct assets including public facilites, recreation, water supply and other infrastructure.
The funds received are under an enforceable contract which require Council to construct an identified asset which will be under
Council’s control on completion. The revenue is recognised as Council constructs the asset and the contract liability reflects the
funding received which cannot yet be recognised as revenue. The revenue is expected to be recognised in the next 12 months.

(ii) The contract liability relates to grants received prior to the revenue recognition criteria in AASB 1058 being satisfied since
the performance obligations are ongoing.

§Subnote§

Contract liabilities relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Externally restricted assets
Water 321 – 247 –
Unspent grants held as contract liabilities (excl.
Water & Sewer) 4,355 – 7,709 –
Contract liabilities relating to externally 
restricted assets 4,676 – 7,956 –

Total contract liabilities 4,676 – 7,956 –
§Subnote§

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Grants and contributions received in advance:
Capital grants (to construct Council controlled assets) 6,744 435
Operating grants (received prior to performance obligation being satisfied) 8 –
Operating contributions (received prior to performance obligation being satisfied) 151 8

Total revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the period 6,903 443

Contract liabilities arose on adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 for the first time for reporting period ending 30 June 2020.
During the current reporting period ending 30 June 2022, there has been a significant decrease in the value of contract

§Subnote§

Significant changes in contract liabilities

C3-2 Contract Liabilities
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liabilities, primarily due to an increase in the amount of programmed works during the year in the scope of AASB 1058, and
capital grants received by Council to acquire or construct assets which will be under Council’s control.

Contract liabilities are recorded when consideration is received from a customer / fund provider prior to Council transferring a
good or service to the customer, Council presents the funds which exceed revenue recognised as a contract liability.

Accounting policy

C3-3 Borrowings
§Note§

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Loans – secured   1 1,306 4,414 1,228 4,106
Total borrowings 1,306 4,414 1,228 4,106

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) Loans are secured over the general rating income of Council.
Disclosures on liability interest rate risk exposures, fair value disclosures and security can be found in Note 20.

§Subnote§

Borrowings relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Externally restricted assets
Water 45 218 42 263
Sewer 5 56 5 61
Borrowings relating to externally restricted 
assets 50 274 47 324

Total borrowings relating to restricted 
assets 50 274 47 324

Total borrowings relating to 
unrestricted assets 1,256 4,140 1,181 3,782

Total borrowings 1,306 4,414 1,228 4,106

C3-2 Contract Liabilities (continued)
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(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2021 Non-cash movements 2022

Opening
Balance Cash flows Acquisition

Fair value 
changes

Acquisition 
due to change 
in accounting 

policy
Other non-cash

movement
Closing 
balance

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Loans – secured 5,334 (1,228) 1,614 – – – 5,720
Lease liability (Note C2-1b) 29 (23) – – – (2) 4
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 5,363 (1,251) 1,614 – – (2) 5,724

2020 Non-cash movements 2021

Opening
Balance Cash flows Acquisition

Fair value 
changes

Acquisition due 
to change in 

accounting 
policy

Other non-cash 
movement Closing balance

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Loans – secured 4,773 (1,095) 1,656 – – – 5,334
Lease liability (Note C2-1b) 4 (22) 47 – – – 29
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 4,777 (1,117) 1,703 – – – 5,363

§Subnote§

(b) Financing arrangements
§Subnote§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Total facilities
Bank overdraft facilities   1 200 200
Credit cards/purchase cards 20 20
Total financing arrangements 220 220

Drawn facilities
– Credit cards/purchase cards 2 2
Total drawn financing arrangements 2 2

Undrawn facilities
– Bank overdraft facilities 200 200
– Credit cards/purchase cards 18 18
Total undrawn financing arrangements 218 218

(1) The bank overdraft facility may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.

Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.

Borrowings are removed from the Statement of Financial Position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in other income or borrowing costs.

C3-3 Borrowings (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-current Current Non-current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Annual leave 1,090 – 1,027 –
Sick leave 128 – 144 –
Long service leave 1,859 98 1,911 101
Other leave 155 – 191 –
Total employee benefit provisions 3,232 98 3,273 101

§TocItem§§Subnote§

§Subnote§

Employee benefit provisions relating to restricted assets

Externally restricted assets
Water 185 6 185 6
Sewer 123 4 124 4
Employee benefit provisions relating to externally 
restricted assets 308 10 309 10

Total employee benefit provisions relating to 
restricted assets 308 10 309 10

Total employee benefit provisions relating to 
unrestricted assets 2,924 88 2,964 91

Total employee benefit provisions 3,232 98 3,273 101

C3-4 Employee benefit provisions
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Current employee benefit provisions not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

The following provisions, even though classified as current, are not expected to be settled 
in the next 12 months.
Provisions – employees benefits 1,949 1,733

1,949 1,733

§Subnote§

Description of and movements in provisions

ELE provisions

Annual leave Sick leave
Long service

leave

Other 
employee 

benefits Total
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2022
At beginning of year 1,027 144 2,012 191 3,374
Additional provisions 463 187 (169) 133 614
Amounts used (payments) (400) (203) 114 (169) (658)
Total ELE provisions at end of year 1,090 128 1,957 155 3,330

2021
At beginning of year 1,063 151 2,196 162 3,572
Additional provisions 434 277 12 – 723
Amounts used (payments) (470) (284) (196) 29 (921)
Total ELE provisions at end of year 1,027 144 2,012 191 3,374

§Total§

Short-term obligations

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised
in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liability for long-service leave and annual leave that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

On-costs
The employee benefit provisions include the aggregate on-cost liabilities that will arise when payment of current employee
benefits is made in future periods.

These amounts include superannuation, payroll tax and workers compensation expenses which will be payable upon the future
payment of certain leave liabilities which employees are entitled to at the reporting period.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position if the Council does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement
is expected to occur.

C3-4 Employee benefit provisions (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
Current Non-Current Current Non-Current

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Asset remediation/restoration:
Asset remediation/restoration (future works) – 60 – 60
Sub-total – asset remediation/restoration – 60 – 60

Total provisions – 60 – 60

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Total provisions relating to unrestricted
assets – 60 – 60

Total provisions – 60 – 60

§Subnote§

§Subnote§

Description of and movements in provisions

Other provisions

Asset 
remediation Total

$ '000 $ '000

2022
At beginning of year 60 60

§Total§

Total other provisions at end of year 60 60

2021
At beginning of year 30 30
Other 30 30
Total other provisions at end of year 60 60

Provisions are recognised when Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

During the year Council recognised a provision for the reinstatement of pits and quarries as per its annual budget allocation.

C3-5 Provisions
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The infrastructure, property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve is used to record increments / decrements of non-current
asset values due to their revaluation.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

IPPE Revaluation reserve

Changes in the fair value of financial assets are taken up through other comprehensive income revaluation reserve. The
accumulated changes in fair value are transferred to profit or loss when the financial asset is derecognised or impaired.

C4 Reserves

C4-1 Nature and purpose of reserves
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General fund refers to all Council activities other than water and sewer. All amounts disclosed in this note are gross i.e. 
inclusive of internal charges and recoveries made between the funds. Assets and liabilities shown in the water and sewer 
columns are restricted for use for these activities.

D1-1 Income Statement by fund
§Subnote§

General Water Sewer
2022 2022 2022

 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Income from continuing operations
Rates and annual charges 2,146 1,224 906
User charges and fees 8,832 582 –
Interest and investment revenue 120 58 45
Other revenues 773 165 117
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 13,935 195 4
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 12,691 1,832 12
Net gains from disposal of assets (11) 11 –
Other income 250 – –
Total income from continuing operations 38,736 4,067 1,084

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 8,247 194 94
Materials and services 10,857 1,572 844
Borrowing costs 141 20 6
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets 5,796 1,004 338
Other expenses 356 – 9
Net losses from the disposal of assets 2,001 – –
Total expenses from continuing operations 27,398 2,790 1,291

Operating result from continuing operations 11,338 1,277 (207)

Net operating result for the year 11,338 1,277 (207)

Net operating result attributable to each council fund 11,338 1,277 (207)

Net operating result for the year before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes (1,353) (555) (219)

D Council structure

D1 Results by fund
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General Water Sewer
2022 2022 2022

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,309 3,149 2,539
Investments 21,638 – –
Receivables 5,074 1,376 163
Inventories 207 – –
Total current assets 35,228 4,525 2,702

Non-current assets
Receivables 195 59 39
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 274,472 33,072 9,748
Investments accounted for using the equity method 654 – –
Right of use assets 24 – –
Total non-current assets 275,345 33,131 9,787

Total assets 310,573 37,656 12,489

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 3,731 140 15
Income received in advance 286 – –
Contract liabilities 4,355 321 –
Lease liabilities 4 – –
Borrowings 1,256 45 5
Employee benefit provision 2,924 185 123
Total current liabilities 12,556 691 143

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 4,140 218 56
Employee benefit provision 88 6 4
Provisions 60 – –
Total non-current liabilities 4,288 224 60

Total liabilities 16,844 915 203

Net assets 293,729 36,741 12,286

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 170,382 22,326 4,537
Revaluation reserves 123,347 14,415 7,749
Council equity interest 293,729 36,741 12,286

Total equity 293,729 36,741 12,286

D1-2 Statement of Financial Position by fund
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Council’s share of net assets
2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000

Council’s share of net assets

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method 
– assets
Joint arrangements 654 704
Total net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the 
equity method – assets 654 704

Total Council’s share of net assets 654 704

D2-1 Interests in joint arrangements
§Subnote§

The following information is provided for joint arrangements that are individually material to the Council. Included are the
amounts as per the individual joint arrangement's financial statements, adjusted for fair-value adjustments, rather than
Council's share.

§Total§

Council is a member of the Far North West Joint Organisation of Councils (FNWJO). Details of Council's membership and
participation is as follows:

Legal status of Joint Organisation

The FNWJO is a separately constituted entity pursuant to Part 7 (Sections 400O to 400ZH) of the Local Government Act
(NSW) 1993, as amended, and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2008. The Charter of the FNWJO can be found
here: https://www.farnorthwestjo.nsw.gov.au/f.ashx/%24341338%24Far-North-West-JO-Charter.pdf

The FNWJO has the same year end date as the Council.

What the Joint Organisation does

The principle purpose of the FNWJO is to establish strategic regional priorities and to provide regional leadership to the
geographical area for which it serves, and to identify and take up opportunities for intergovernmental cooperation on matters
relating to the joint organisation area.

Joint Organisation participants

The percentage ownership interest held is equivalent to the percentage voting rights for all associates as follows:

FNWJO comprises the Councils of the Shires of Bourke, Cobar and Walgett in north western NSW. The Board of the FNWJO
comprises 3 voting members being the Mayors of the three member Councils, and non voting members being the General
Managers of the Shires of Bourke, Cobar and Walgett , as well as 3 appointed members from the State Government and
Cabinet (non-voting).

Council’s powers of control or influence over the Joint Organisation

Bourke Shire Council, as a member of the FNWJO, has a one third voting right in respect to the decisions of the Board.

Council's financial obligations to the Joint Organisation

In accordance with the Charter each member of the FNWJO contributes annual fees towards the operation of the joint
organisation. In 2021/2022 the contribution made by Bourke Shire Council was $10,926.

Council's liability obligations in relation to the Joint Organisation

Members of the FNWJO are indemnified from liability for functions and duties carried out or omitted honestly, in good faith
and with due care and diligence.

Liability for operational losses or winding up of the FNWJO

The FNWJO has engaged an Executive Officer on a standard Local Government employment contract for 3 years. A provision
has been provided for ELE and funding from the initial start-up of the FNWJO. All grant funding received and distributed
through the FNWJO will have a 5% administration fee that will remain with the JO.

continued on next page ... 
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The FNWJO has signed a contract to provide an Air Service to the towns of Bourke, Cobar, Lightning Ridge and Walgett, the
contract is Commercial-in-confidence and has a clause that to safe guard Councils for any long term liability which is contained
within the termination clause. The air service will be supported by funding provided to the FNWJO from the State Government.

There are no liability issues identified for Council in the short to medium term.
Far North West Joint

Organisation

2022 2021

Equity Method

$'000 $'000

Summarised Statement of Financial Position

Cash and cash equivalents 6,029 7,032

Current assets 6,072 7,073

Non-current assets - -

Current liabilities

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (1,375) (1,725)

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (2,446) (3,143)

Net assets 1,961 2,110

Summarised Statement of Income and other Comprehensive Income

Revenue 1,809 1,809

Interest income 27 45

Depreciation and amortisation - -

Interest expense - -

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations (150) 124

Total Comprehensive Income (150) 124

Summarised Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities (1,003) (1,302)

Cash flows from investing activities - 2,000

Cash flows from financing activities - -

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,003) 698

Reconciliation of carrying amount of interest in the joint arrangement to summarised financial information for
FNWJO accounted for using the Equity method

Bourke Shire Council's share of 33.33% of Net Assets 654 704

Carrying amount 654 704

Interests in joint arrangements are accounted for using the equity method in accordance with AASB128 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures.

§Total§

Accounting policy

continued on next page ... 
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Under this method, the investment is initially recognised as a cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the Council’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the Council’s share of losses of a joint arrangement equals or exceeds its interest in the joint arrangement, the Council
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.

The Council’s share in the joint arrangments gains or losses arising from transactions between itself and its joint arrangment
are eliminated.

Adjustments are made to the joint arrangement's accounting policies where they are different from those of the Council for
the purposes of the consolidated financial statements.

D2-1 Interests in joint arrangements (continued)
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§Note/Subtotal§

Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity and
preserving capital. The finance team manages the cash and Investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisors.
Council has an investment policy which complies with the s 625 of the Act and the Ministerial Investment Order. The policy
is regularly reviewed by Council and a monthly investment report is provided to Council setting out the make-up performance
of the portfolio as required by local government regulations.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance team under policies approved by the Councillors.

The fair value of Council’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amount.

Carrying value Carrying value Fair value Fair value
2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Financial assets
Measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 13,997 9,308 13,997 9,308
Receivables 6,906 11,561 6,906 11,561
Investments
– Financial assets at amortised cost held to 
maturity 21,638 20,851 21,638 20,851
Total financial assets 42,541 41,720 42,541 41,720

Financial liabilities
Payables 3,886 2,921 3,886 2,921
Loans/advances 5,720 5,334 5,720 5,334
Total financial liabilities 9,606 8,255 9,606 8,255

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity and
preserving capital.

Council's finance area manages the cash and Investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisors.

Council has an investment policy which complies with the Local Government Act 1993 and Minister’s investment order 625.
This policy is regularly reviewed by Council and it’s staff and an investment report is tabled before Council on a monthly basis
setting out the portfolio breakup and its performance as required by Local Government regulations.

The risks associated with the instruments held are:

• Price risk – the risk that the capital value of Investments may fluctuate due to changes in market prices, whether
there changes are caused by factors specific to individual financial instruments or their issuers or are caused by factors
affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

• Interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns and income.

• Liquidity risk – the risk that Council will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

• Credit risk – the risk that the investment counterparty will not complete their obligations particular to a financial
instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council – be it of a capital or income nature.

Council manages these risks (amongst other measures) by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing investments with high
credit ratings or capital guarantees. Council also seeks advice from independent advisers before placing any funds in cash
equivalents and investments.

E Risks and accounting uncertainties

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held
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§Note/Subtotal§

(a) Market risk – interest rate and price risk

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

The impact on result for the year and equity of a reasonably possible movement in the price
of investments held and interest rates is shown below. The reasonably possible movements
were determined based on historical movements and economic conditions in place at the 
reporting date.
Impact of a 1% movement in interest rates
– Equity / Income Statement 356 287
Impact of a 10% movement in price of investments
– Equity / Income Statement – –

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)

Page 61 of 100

Bourke Shire Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022



continued on next page ... 

§Note/Subtotal§

(b) Credit risk

Council’s major receivables comprise (i) rates and annual charges and (ii) user charges and fees.

Council manages the credit risk associated with these receivables by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent
debt recovery procedures. Council also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is considered negligible, since the counterparties are
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry
sectors and/or regions.

The level of outstanding receivables is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored for acceptable
collection performance.

Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most non-rate debtors.

There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

Credit risk profile
§Total§

Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to recover these debts as a secured charge over
the land; that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest on overdue rates and annual
charges at higher than market rates which further encourages payment.

Receivables – rates and annual charges

overdue rates and annual chargesNot yet
overdue < 5 years 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years ≥ 5 years Total

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2022
Gross carrying amount 168 228 166 245 257 1,064

2021
Gross carrying amount – 353 354 333 – 1,040

Council applies the simplified approach for non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets to provide for expected
credit losses, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision at inception. To measure the expected credit losses,
non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

§Total§

Receivables - non-rates and annual charges and contract assets

The loss allowance provision is determined as follows. The expected credit losses incorporate forward-looking information.

Overdue debtsNot yet
overdue 0 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days > 91 days Total

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2022
Gross carrying amount 318 205 392 437 5,120 6,472
Expected loss rate (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.80% 2.22%
ECL provision – – – – 143 143

2021
Gross carrying amount 31 3,009 2,589 482 4,925 11,036
Expected loss rate (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.60% 1.16%
ECL provision – – – – 128 128

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)
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(c) Liquidity risk

Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to meet payment
obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can (in extenuating circumstances) also be extended and overdraft facilities utilised as required.

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely affect funding
costs and debt servicing requirements. Council manages this risk through diversification of borrowing types, maturities and
interest rate structures. The finance team regularly reviews interest rate movements to determine if it would be advantageous
to refinance or renegotiate part or all of the loan portfolio.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement
dates. The timing of expected outflows is not expected to be materially different from contracted cashflows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows and therefore the balances in the table may
not equal the balances in the statement of financial position due to the effect of discounting.

payable in:
Weighted

average
interest 

rate

Subject
to no

maturity ≤ 1 Year 1 - 5 
Years > 5 Years Total cash

outflows

Actual 
carrying 

values
% $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2022
Payables 0.00% 135 3,751 – – 3,886 3,886
Borrowings 4.80% – 1,306 3,326 1,088 5,720 5,720
Total financial liabilities 135 5,057 3,326 1,088 9,606 9,606

2021
Payables 0.00% 137 2,784 – – 2,921 2,921
Borrowings 4.50% – 1,228 2,840 1,266 5,334 5,334
Total financial liabilities 137 4,012 2,840 1,266 8,255 8,255

There were no breaches to loan agreements during the reporting year.

Loan agreement breaches

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)
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The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for either recognition
and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a ‘level’ in the
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value measurement hierarchy

Date of latest 
valuation

Level 2 Significant 
observable inputs

Level 3 Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
$ '000 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Recurring fair value measurements

§Subnote§

Infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment

C1-6

Plant and equipment 30/06/21 30/06/20 – – 5,096 4,999 5,096 4,999
Furniture and fittings/Office 
Equipment 30/06/21 30/06/20 – – 499 438 499 438
Operational land 30/06/21 30/06/20 – – 2,496 2,518 2,496 2,518
Community land 30/06/21 30/06/20 – – 508 508 508 508
Crown Land 30/06/21 30/06/20 – – 1,957 1,957 1,957 1,957
Buildings non–specialised 30/06/18 30/06/18 – – 2,884 2,428 2,884 2,428
Buildings specialised 30/06/18 30/06/18 – – 17,209 15,390 17,209 15,390
Other structures 30/06/21 30/06/21 – – 4,976 4,058 4,976 4,058
Roads 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 172,252 152,220 172,252 152,220
Bridges 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 24,068 20,770 24,068 20,770
Footpaths 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 2,941 2,336 2,941 2,336
Stormwater drainage 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 3,767 3,546 3,767 3,546
Levee banks 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 16,934 17,331 16,934 17,331
Water supply network 30/06/17 30/06/17 – – 31,078 29,759 31,078 29,759
Sewerage network 30/06/17 30/06/17 – – 9,748 9,362 9,748 9,362
Swimming pools 30/06/21 30/06/21 – – 4,108 3,725 4,108 3,725
Open spaces/recreational 30/06/21 30/06/21 – – 5,733 5,395 5,733 5,395
Aerodromes 30/06/20 30/06/20 – – 4,023 3,754 4,023 3,754
Heritage Items 30/06/21 30/06/21 – – 1,148 1,168 1,148 1,168
Other assets 30/06/18 30/06/18 – – 152 153 152 153
Total infrastructure, 
property, plant and 
equipment – – 311,577 281,815 311,577 281,815

§Subnote§

Valuation techniques

Plant and equipment

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE)

Plant & Equipment are valued at cost but are disclosed at fair value in the notes. The carrying amount of these assets is
assumed to approximate fair value due to the nature of the items.

E2-1 Fair value measurement
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Examples of assets within these classes are as follows:

Graders, trucks, rollers, tractors and motor vehicles

There has been no change to the valuation process during the reporting period.

Operational, Crown and Community land

Values are based on the Land values provided by the Valuer-General. Operational Land is based on the Valuer-General’s
land value, as these are representative of actual market values in the Bourke LGA or an average unit rate based on the Land
Value for similar properties where the Valuer-General did not provide a Land Value, having regard to the highest and best
use for the Land.

As these rates are not considered to be observable market evidence they have been classified as a Level 3.

There was a revaluation of Land conducted in 2020, by an internal valuation, which utilised the independent Valuer-General
data, which saw parcels revalued in 2019 and the data released to Council, in 2020.

This revaluation saw an increase in Operational Land, being a combination of a rise in value by the Valuer-General, for a
number of parcels and a parcel being brought to account, which hadn’t previously been taken up.

Crown Land increased due to a combination of a rise in value by the Valuer-General, for a number of parcels and due to Crown
Land, not previously held by Bourke Shire Council being brought to account.

Community Land decreased due to a change in the value by the Valuer-General between the office’s valuations and a decrease
in value of some parcels, purchased since the last valuation, between the recorded purchase price, at cost and the Valuer-
General’s 2020 valuation.

Buildings – non specialised and specialised

Non Specialised & Specialised Buildings were valued by Australis Asset Advisory Group as at 30th June 2018, at Fair Value.
This approach estimated the fair value for each building by componentising the building into significant parts.

All buildings were physically inspected and elements such as useful life reassessed. An independent valuation is conducted
every five years and is scheduled for revaluation in 2023.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

Valuation of all Building classes has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last
comprehensive revaluation.

Other structures

This class of assets was revalued by AssetVal as at 30th June 2021 at fair value, with a comprehensive physical inspection
undertaken of all assets in this asset class. During the revaluation process Council reclassified a number of existing assets
to Heritage in accordance with their historic or cultural significance.

Due to the varying nature of physical assets in this asset class, some elements of value may be supported from market
evidence (Level 2 inputs) other inputs such as, estimates of pattern of consumption, unit rates, asset condition and useful life,
will impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

Examples of assets within this class are as follows:
Waste depot, structures other than buildings, saleyards, fences, street furniture, bollards.

The latest valuation has been conducted in accordance with current asset valuation techniques and methodologies in
compliance with all relevant Accounting Standards and pronouncements. Valuation of Other Structures has been indexed at
30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Roads

Roads comprise of road carriageway, roadside shoulders, islands, kerb & guttering. They include sections sealed and
unsealed.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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An independent valuation was conducted by EMC-Works in 2020. The physical inspection took place in December 2019, with
the report presenting the assets at fair value, as at 30th June 2020. Assets acquired between January and June 2020 were
brought to account at cost.

The valuation used fair value measurements in accordance with Level 3 inputs.

For Level 3 measurement estimates for the works were prepared using BSC rates (labour, plant, materials) and/ or contract
rates
An independent valuation is conducted every five years, with the next scheduled valuation being 2025. Valuation of Roads
assets has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Bridges

Bridge assets were valued by EMC-Works as at 30th June 2020, at Current Replacement Cost. This category consists of all
concrete bridges.

This revaluation saw an increase in value since the last revaluation in 2015. This was due to an increase in unit rate, based
on industry increase of cost of construction, in the last 5 years and reflected in assets brought to account at cost since 2015.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

An independent valuation is conducted every five years, with the next scheduled valuation being 2025. Valuation of Bridge
assets has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Footpaths

Footpath assets were valued by EMC-Works as at 30th June 2020, at Current Replacement Cost. The carrying amount of these
is assumed to approximate fair value due to the nature of the items. Due to the different types and uses for footpaths/shared
pathways, across the LGA all 3 levels of fair value measurement, are applicable.

For Level 3 measurement estimates for the works were prepared using BSC rates (labour, plant, materials) and/ or contract
rates.
An independent valuation is conducted every five years, with the next scheduled valuation being 2025. Valuation of Footpath
assets has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Aerodromes

Aerodrome assets comprise of runways and air strips, lighting and security assets. They include sealed and unsealed runways
and air strips.

The carrying amount of these is assumed to approximate fair value due to the nature of the items. Due to the different types
and sophistication, of the assets, across the LGA all 3 levels of fair value measurement, are applicable.

For Level 3 measurement estimates for the works were prepared using BSC rates (labour, plant, materials) and/ or contract
rates.

An independent valuation is conducted every five years, with the next scheduled valuation being 2025. Valuation of Aerodrome
assets has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Drainage infrastructure

Stormwater Drainage assets were valued by EMC-Works as at 30th June 2020, at Current Replacement Cost Assets within
this class comprise pit, traps, pipes and channels.

The Cost Approach is utilised with each asset being componentised into significant parts, with different useful lives and taking
into account a range of factors in determination of fair value.

While unit rates based on elements, such as linear metres and pipe diameter, may be supported by market evidence (Level 2)
other inputs such as estimates of consumption, residual value, asset condition and useful life, require extensive professional
judgement and impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

For Level 3 measurement estimates for the works were prepared using BSC rates (labour, plant, materials) and/ or contract
rates.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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An independent valuation is conducted every five years, with the next scheduled valuation being 2025. Valuation of Drainage
assets has been indexed at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Water supply network

Water Supply assets were valued by Australis Asset Advisory Group as at 30th June 2017 at Current Replacement Cost and
utilising Fair Value measurement.

Assets within this class comprise reservoirs, pumping stations, treatment plant and pipelines.

The Cost Approach is utilised with each asset being componentised into significant parts, with different useful lives and taking
into account a range of factors.

While unit rates based on elements, such as linear metres and pipe diameter, may be supported by market evidence (Level 2)
other inputs such as estimates of consumption, residual value, asset condition and useful life, require extensive professional
judgement and impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

These assets are indexed each year in line with the NSW Reference Rates manual as published by the Office of Water.

Water assets are normally independently valued every five years, however, Council has scheduled for revaluation in 2023.

There has been no change to the valuation process during the reporting period.

Sewerage network

Sewerage Network assets were valued by Australis Asset Advisory Group as at 30th June 2017 at Current Replacement Cost
and utilising Fair Value measurement.

Assets within this class comprise pumping stations, treatment plant and pipelines.

The Cost Approach is utilised with each asset being componentised into significant parts, with different useful lives and taking
into account a range of factors.

While unit rates based on elements, such as linear metres and pipe diameter, may be supported by market evidence (Level 2)
other inputs such as estimates of consumption, residual value, asset condition and useful life, require extensive professional
judgement and impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

These assets are indexed each year in line with the NSW Reference Rates manual as published by the Office of Water.

Sewer assets are normally independently valued every five years, however, Council has scheduled for revaluation in 2023.

There has been no change to the valuation process during the reporting period.

Swimming pools

This class of assets was revalued by AssetVal as at 30th June 2021 at fair value, with a comprehensive physical inspection
undertaken of all assets.

Some elements of value may be supported from market evidence (Level 2inputs) other inputs such as, estimates of pattern of
consumption, unit rates, asset condition and useful life, will impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

Examples of assets within this class are as follows:
Swimming pools, wading pools and associated infrastructure.

The latest valuation has been conducted in accordance with current asset valuation techniques and methodologies in
compliance with all relevant Accounting Standards and pronouncements. Valuation of Swimming Pool assets has been indexed
at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Open spaces/recreational assets

This class of assets was revalued by AssetVal as at 30th June 2021 at fair value, with a comprehensive physical inspection
undertaken of all assets.

Some elements of value may be supported from market evidence (Level 2 inputs) other inputs such as, estimates of pattern
of consumption, unit rates, asset condition and useful life, will impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

Assets within this class comprise leisure and sporting equipment and facilities within cemeteries, parks, ovals sporting
complexes and other recreational areas.

The Cost Approach is utilised with each asset being componentised into significant parts, with different useful lives and taking
into account a range of factors. These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

The latest valuation has been conducted in accordance with current asset valuation techniques and methodologies in
compliance with all relevant Accounting Standards and pronouncements. Valuation of Open Space assets has been indexed
at 30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

Heritage assets

This class of assets was revalued by AssetVal as at 30th June 2021 at fair value, with a comprehensive physical inspection
undertaken of all assets.

Some elements of value may be supported from market evidence (Level 2inputs) other inputs such as, estimates of pattern of
consumption, unit rates, asset condition and useful life, will impact significantly on the final determination of fair value.

These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

Assets within this class comprise heritage structures, culturally significant monuments and displays, and historical artefacts
and equipment.

The Cost Approach is utilised with each asset being componentised into significant parts, with different useful lives and taking
into account a range of factors. These assets have been classified as Level 3 valuation inputs.

The latest valuation has been conducted in accordance with current asset valuation techniques and methodologies in
compliance with all relevant Accounting Standards and pronouncements. Valuation of Heritage assets has been indexed at
30 June 2022, to account for increases in cost indecies since the last comprehensive revaluation.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

Significant unobservable valuation inputs used (for level 3 asset classes) and their relationship to fair value.
§Total§

The following table summarises the quantitative information relating to the significant unobservable inputs used in deriving the various level 3 asset class fair values.

Valuation technique/s Unobservable inputs

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant and equimpent Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Land Fair value Land Value as per Valuer General value
Buildings Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Roads, Bridges & Footpaths Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Aerodromes Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Stormwater/Levees Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Water Supply Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Sewerage Network Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Other Structures, Open Spaces & Swim Pools Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 

Useful Life, Residual Value
Other Assets - Library, Heritage, Office Equip & 
Furniture & Fittings

Fair value Current Replacement Cost, Remaining 
Useful Life, Residual Value

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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§Note/Subtotal§
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A reconciliation of the movements in recurring fair value measurements allocated to Level 3 of the hierarchy is provided below:

Plant and equimpent Office equipment Operational land
Crown/ Community 

land
Buildings 

non-specialised Buildings specialised Other Structures
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Opening balance 4,999 5,316 438 452 2,518 2,454 2,465 2,518 2,428 2,417 15,390 13,779 4,058 3,201
Total gains or losses for the
period
Other movements
Purchases (GBV) 1,411 855 142 65 – 64 – (64) 231 95 59 2,143 1,183 737
Disposals (WDV) (258) (157) – – (22) – – – – – – (19) – (48)
Depreciation and impairment (1,056) (1,016) (82) (78) – – – – (86) (84) (544) (514) (416) (378)
Other movement (Indexation) – – – – – – – 10 311 – 2,303 – 151 546
Rounding – 1 1 (1) – – – 1 – – 1 1 – –
Closing balance 5,096 4,999 499 438 2,496 2,518 2,465 2,465 2,884 2,428 17,209 15,390 4,976 4,058

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Swimming pools Roads Bridges Footpaths Recreational
Water Supply 

network Sewerage Network
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Opening balance 3,725 1,571 152,220 148,263 20,770 21,010 2,336 2,401 5,395 4,176 29,759 21,216 9,362 9,636
Total gains or losses for the
period
Other movements
Purchases (GBV) 434 2,620 15,544 6,245 1,961 75 519 9 521 682 1,006 9,896 207 23
Disposals (WDV) – (507) (1,693) (415) (515) – – – – (202) – – – –
Depreciation and impairment (123) (67) (2,161) (1,871) (317) (316) (75) (75) (285) (228) (951) (1,535) (338) (381)
Other movement (Indexation) 72 107 8,340 – 2,168 – 161 – 102 966 1,263 181 518 85
Rounding – 1 2 (2) 1 1 – 1 – 1 1 1 (1) (1)
Closing balance 4,108 3,725 172,252 152,220 24,068 20,770 2,941 2,336 5,733 5,395 31,078 29,759 9,748 9,362

§Total§

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Levee banks / stormwater 
drainage Lib/Hertge Aero/Other Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Opening balance 20,877 21,386 5,075 5,982 281,815 265,778
Purchases (GBV) 69 5 57 669 23,344 24,119
Disposals (WDV) – – (9) (2) (2,497) (1,350)
Depreciation and impairment (478) (515) (215) (169) (7,127) (7,227)
Other movement (Indexation) 233 – 413 (1,403) 16,035 492
Rounding – 1 2 (2) 7 3
Closing balance 20,701 20,877 5,323 5,075 311,577 281,815

Information relating to the transfers into and out of the level 3 fair valuation hierarchy includes:
§Total§

Transfers out of Level 3 into level 2 and Level 1 are as per
the class revaluations.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Highest and best use

All of Council’s non-financial assets are considered as being utilised for their highest and best use.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but their knowledge 
and disclosure is considered relevant to the users of Council’s financial report.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED

1. Guarantees

Council is party to an Industry Defined Benefit Plan under the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, named The Local
Government Superannuation Scheme – Pool B (the Scheme) which is a defined benefit plan that has been deemed to be a
‘multi-employer fund’ for purposes of AASB119 Employee Benefits for the following reasons:

(i) Defined benefit superannuation contribution plans

– Assets are not segregated within the sub-group according to the employees of each sponsoring employer.

– The contribution rates have been the same for all sponsoring employers. That is, contribution rates have not varied for each
sponsoring employer according to the experience relating to the employees of that sponsoring employer.

– Benefits for employees of all sponsoring employers are determined according to the same formulae and without regard to
the sponsoring employer.

– The same actuarial assumptions are currently used in respect of the employees of each sponsoring employer.

Given the factors above, each sponsoring employer is exposed to the actuarial risks associated with current and former
employees of other sponsoring employers, and hence shares in the associated gains and losses (to the extent that they are
not borne by members).

Description of the funding arrangements.

Pooled Employers are required to pay future service employer contributions and past service employer contributions to the
fund.

The future service employer contributions were determined using the new entrant rate method under which a contribution rate
sufficient to fund the total benefits over the working life-time of a typical new entrant is calculated. The current future service
employer contribution rates are:

Division B 1.9 times member contributions for non 180 Point Members (Nil for 180 Point members)*
Division C 2.5% salaries
Division D 1.64 times employee contributions

*For 180 Point Members employers are required to contribute 7.5% of salaries for the year ending 30 June 2022 (increasing
to 8.0% in line with the increase in Superannuation Guarantee) to these members accumulation accounts which are paid in
addition to members defined benefits.

The past service contribution for each Pooled Employer is a share of the past service contributions of $40 million for 1 July
2019 to 31 December 2021, and $20 million per annum from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, apportioned according
to each employer's share of the accrued liabilities as at 30 June 2021. These past service contributions are used to maintain
the adequacy of the funding position for the accrued liabilities.

The adequacy of contributions is assessed at each triennial actuarial investigation and monitored annually between triennials.

Description of the extent to which Council can be liable to the plan for other Council’s obligations under the terms and conditions
of the multi-employer plan

As stated above, each sponsoring employer (Council) is exposed to the actuarial risks associated with current and former
employees of other sponsoring employers and hence shares in the associated gains and losses.

However, there is no relief under the Fund's trust deed for employers to walk away from their defined benefit obligations.
Under limited circumstances, an employer may withdraw from the plan when there are no active members, on full payment
of outstanding additional contributions. There is no provision for allocation of any surplus which may be present at the date
of withdrawal of the Council.

There are no specific provisions under the Fund's trust deed dealing with deficits or surplus on wind-up.

There is no provision for allocation of any surplus which may be present at the date of withdrawal of an employer.

continued on next page ... 

E3-1 Contingencies
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The amount of Council employer contributions to the defined benefit section of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme
and recognised as an expense for the year ending 30 June 2022 was $84,515.57. The last formal valuation of the Fund was
undertaken by the Fund Actuary, Richard Boyfield FIAA, as at 30 June 2021.

Council’s expected contribution to the plan for the next annual reporting period is $65,699.40.

The estimated employer reserves financial position for the Pooled Employers at 30 June 2022 is:

Employer reserves only * $millions Asset Coverage
Assets 2,376.6
Past Service Liabilities 2,380.7 99.8%
Vested Benefits 2,391.7 99.4%

* excluding member accounts and reserves in both assets and liabilities.

Based on a Past Service Liabilities methodology, the share of the deficit that can be attributed to Council is 0.17%.

Council’s share of that deficiency cannot be accurately calculated as the Scheme is a mutual arrangement where assets and
liabilities are pooled together for all member councils. For this reason, no liability for the deficiency has been recognised in
Council’s accounts. Council has a possible obligation that may arise should the Scheme require immediate payment to correct
the deficiency.

The key economic long term assumptions used to calculate the present value of accrued benefits are:

Investment return 5.5% per annum
Salary inflation * 3.5% per annum
Increase in CPI 2.5% per annum

* Plus promotional increases

The contribution requirements may vary from the current rates if the overall sub-group experience is not in line with the actuarial
assumptions in determining the funding program; however, any adjustment to the funding program would be the same for all
sponsoring employers in the Pooled Employers group.

Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual pool scheme providing liability insurance to local government.

(ii) Statewide Limited

Membership includes the potential to share in either the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on its past performance.
Council’s share of the net assets or liabilities reflects Council’s contributions to the pool and the result of insurance claims
within each of the fund years.

The future realisation and finalisation of claims incurred but not reported to 30/6 this year may result in future liabilities or
benefits as a result of past events that Council will be required to fund or share in respectively.

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited and holds a partly paid share in the entity.

(iii) StateCover Limited

StateCover is a company providing workers compensation insurance cover to the NSW local government industry and
specifically Council.

Council has a contingent liability to contribute further equity in the event of the erosion of the company’s capital base as a
result of the company’s past performance and/or claims experience or as a result of any increased prudential requirements
from APRA.

These future equity contributions would be required to maintain the company’s minimum level of net assets in accordance
with its licence requirements.

Council has provided no other guarantees other than those listed above.

(iv) Other guarantees

continued on next page ... 
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2. Other liabilities

The Council is involved from time to time in various claims incidental to the ordinary course of business including claims for
damages relating to its services.

(i) Third party claims

Council believes that it is appropriately covered for all claims through its insurance coverage and does not expect any material
liabilities to eventuate.

As permitted under AASB 1051, Council has elected not to bring to account land under roads that it owned or controlled up
to and including 30/6/08.

ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED

(i) Land under roads

Garbage is disposed of in pits at the Bourke, Louth, Wanaaring, Enngonia and Byrock Waste Depots. When a new pit is
required the old pit is reinstated at the same time as the digging of the new pit. As a result reinstatement costs are expensed
each year for village waste depots that include Louth, Wanaaring, Enngonia and Byrock Waste Depots. Should current practice
change, it will be necessary to consider the need to establish a Garbage Depot Remediation provision. An internal restriction
is included for the Bourke waste depot reinstatement.

(ii) Garbage Depot Reinstatement

Council’s practice with regards to the remediation of road reserve and private property gravel pits is to construct water storage
for future road maintenance or a farm dam in return for the use of the material where feasible. If this is not feasible for
whatever reason then the pit is scarified and seeded upon completion of works undertaken and expensed accordingly. While
this operational approach is usually managed within each program budget, Council has also recognised a small provision in
its annual budget to meet any extraordinary future costs.

(iii) Gravel Pits Reinstatement

Fines and penalty income, the result of Council issuing infringement notices is followed up and collected by the Infringement
Processing Bureau.

(iv) Infringement notices/fines

Council’s revenue recognition policy for such income is to account for it as revenue on receipt.

Accordingly, at year end, there is a potential asset due to Council representing issued but unpaid infringement notices.

Due to the limited information available on the status, value and duration of outstanding notices, Council is unable to determine
the value of outstanding income.

E3-1 Contingencies (continued)
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Key management personnel (KMP) of the council are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the council, directly or 
indirectly.

The aggregate amount of KMP compensation included in the Income Statement is:

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Compensation:
Short-term benefits 1,251 1,168
Post-employment benefits 115 91
Other long-term benefits 43 27
Total 1,409 1,286

§Subnote§

Other transactions with KMP and their related parties

Transactions 
during the year

Outstanding 
balances
including 

commitments Terms and conditions

Impairment
provision on
outstanding 

balances
Impairment

expense
Nature of the transaction Ref $ '000 $ '000  $ '000 $ '000

2022
Contract works 4 494 – 14 days – –
Supply of Air-conditioning and repairs 3 129 – 7 days – –
Advertising and media 5 92 – 7 days – –
Accommodation 1 23 – 7 days – –
Supply of consumables 2 31 – 30 days – –
Membership of incorporated association 8 – – 30 days – –
Sale of property 6 – – At purchase – –
Legal services 7 – – 14 days – –

F People and relationships

F1 Related party disclosures

F1-1 Key management personnel (KMP)
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Transactions 
during the year

Outstanding 
balances
including 

commitments Terms and conditions

Impairment
provision on
outstanding 

balances
Impairment

expense
Nature of the transaction Ref $ '000 $ '000  $ '000 $ '000

2021
Contract works 4 414 – 14 days – –
Supply of Air-conditioning and repairs 3 177 – 7 days – –
Advertising and media 5 44 – 7 days – –
Accommodation 1 32 – 7 days – –
Supply of consumables 2 29 – 30 days – –
Membership of incorporated association 8 13 – 30 days – –
Sale of property 6 – – At purchase – –
Legal services 7 – – 14 days – –

1 Accommodation provided to key contracting staff that are working for longer periods of time. The procurement of the accommodation is undertaken in line with the current
Procurement Policy. Amounts billed were based on normal rates for such a supply and were due and payable under normal payment terms.

2 Council purchased giftware during the year from a KMP family member. Amounts billed were based on normal rates for such supplies and were due and payable under normal
payment conditions

3
Close family members of Council's KMP are engaged to undertake service, repair and installation works. They are also provide goods and service to the Council. This works
is procured under the conditions of the Procurement Policy. Amounts billed were based on normal rates for such supplies and were due and payable under normal payment
conditions following the procurement process

4 Contract works undertaken by the KMP within a speciality area. The KMP was a Councillor. Amounts billed were based on normal rates for such supply and were due and
payable under normal payment terms

5 Media and advertising works undertaken by the KMP. The KMP is a Councillor. Amounts billed were based on normal rates for such a supply and were due and payable under
normal payment terms

6 Sale of Property to Council that was fit for purpose for the identified use. Amounts billed were based on the agreed price and were due and payable under normal payment
terms through the contract.

7 Legal works undertake on behalf of Council, the Solicitor is a KMP. This works is procured under the conditions of the procurement policy. Amounts billed were based on normal
rates for such supply and were due and payable under normal payment conditions.

8 Council is a member of the Outback Arts Incorporated, the members is a KMP. Amounts billed were based on normal rates agreed through the incorporated body and were
due and payable under normal payment terms.

F1-1 Key management personnel (KMP) (continued)
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2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

The aggregate amount of Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses 
included in materials and services expenses in the Income Statement are:

Mayoral fee 27 27
Councillors’ fees 125 122
Other Councillors’ expenses (including Mayor) 39 36
Total 191 185

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

F1-2 Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses
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Transactions 
during the year

Outstanding 
balances
including 

commitments Terms and conditions

Impairment
provision on
outstanding 

balances
Impairment

expense
 $ '000 $ '000  $ '000 $ '000

2022

§TocItem§§TocItem§§Subnote§

Far North West Joint Organisation - Council is a member of the FNWJO 
with two other councils, each council contributes an equal amount 
each year for the operations of the organisation for the benefit of the 
residents and ratepayers of each area. 11 – Untied member contribution – –
2021
Far North West Joint Organisation - Council is a member of the FNWJO with 
two other councils, each council contributes an equal amount each year for 
the operations of the organisation for the benefit of the residents and 
ratepayers of each area. 10 – Untied member contribution – –

F1-3 Other related parties
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2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by the auditor 
of Council, related practices and non-related audit firms

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Auditors of the Council - NSW Auditor-General:

(i) Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 67 61
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services 67 61

Total Auditor-General remuneration 67 61

Total audit fees 67 61

F2 Other relationships

F2-1 Audit fees
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Reconciliation of net operating result to cash provided from operating activities

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Net operating result from Income Statement 12,408 20,095
Add / (less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 7,138 7,239
(Gain) / loss on disposal of assets 2,001 1,115
Share of net (profits)/losses of associates/joint ventures using the equity method 50 (41)

Movements in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:
(Increase) / decrease of receivables 4,540 (5,405)
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 115 (13)
(Increase) / decrease of inventories (54) (51)
(Increase) / decrease of other current assets 1 (1)
Increase / (decrease) in payables 2,112 (72)
Increase / (decrease) in accrued interest payable (2) (2)
Increase / (decrease) in other accrued expenses payable 28 70
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 45 98
Increase / (decrease) in contract liabilities (3,280) 7,209
Increase / (decrease) in employee benefit provision (44) (198)
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions – 30
Net cash flows from operating activities 25,058 30,073

G Other matters

G1-1 Statement of Cash Flows information
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Capital commitments (exclusive of GST)

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings 1,520 3,076
Plant and equipment 1,507 1,788
Road infrastructure – 1,156
Total commitments 3,027 6,020

These expenditures are payable as follows:
Within the next year 3,027 6,020
Later than one year and not later than 5 years – –
Total payable 3,027 6,020

Sources for funding of capital commitments:
Unrestricted general funds 313 –
Future grants and contributions 707 3,626
Internally restricted reserves – 606
Unexpended loans 2,007 1,788
Total sources of funding 3,027 6,020

Purchase of Heavy Plant and Equipment, Renewal Charles St Reservoir, Bridge Renewal and Infrastructure upgrade to shade
structures at Bourke Pool.

Details of capital commitments

G2-1 Commitments
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Council is unaware of any material or significant ‘non-adjusting events’ that should be disclosed.

G3-1 Events occurring after the reporting date
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Voluntary changes in accounting policies

Council made no voluntary changes in accounting policies during the year.

§Total§

G4-2 Changes in accounting estimates
§Note§

Council made no changes in accounting estimates during the year.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Nature and effect of changes in accounting estimates on current year

G4 Changes from prior year statements

G4-1 Changes in accounting policy
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 Amounts Indicator Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2022 2021 2020

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding 
capital grants and contributions less operating 
expenses   1, 2 (76)
Total continuing operating revenue excluding 
capital grants and contributions   1

29,352
(0.26)% 4.71% 1.77% > 0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding all 
grants and contributions   1 15,218
Total continuing operating revenue   1 43,887

34.68% 28.95% 24.94% > 60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions 29,952
Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities 6,252 4.79x 4.74x 5.10x > 1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital excluding interest 
and depreciation/impairment/amortisation   1 7,229
Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows) 
plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

1,418 5.10x 6.66x 5.41x > 2.00x

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding
percentage
Rates and annual charges outstanding 772
Rates and annual charges collectable 5,237 14.74% 16.72% 16.93% < 10.00%

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents plus all
term deposits 35,635
Monthly payments from cash flow of operating 
and financing activities

2,043
17.45
mths

17.91
mths

13.19
mths

> 3.00
mths

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) Excludes fair value increments on investment properties, reversal of revaluation decrements, reversal of impairment losses on 
receivables, net gain on sale of assets and net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method and includes 
pensioner rate subsidies

(2) Excludes impairment/revaluation decrements of IPPE, fair value decrements on investment properties, net loss on disposal of assets 
and net loss on share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method

G5 Statement of performance measures

G5-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results
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 General Indicators   3 Water Indicators Sewer Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions less 
operating expenses   1, 2

Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions   1
2.68% 9.68% (24.83)% (36.73)% (20.43)% 5.86% > 0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions   1

Total continuing operating revenue   1 31.26% 27.25% 50.16% 27.63% 98.52% 96.25% > 60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions
Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities 4.79x 4.74x (1.67)x 3.56x (1.71)x 0.73x > 1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital excluding interest and 
depreciation/impairment/amortisation   1

Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows) plus borrowing costs (Income 
Statement)

4.93x 6.09x 7.56x 11.27x 11.36x 63.57x > 2.00x

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage
Rates and annual charges outstanding
Rates and annual charges collectable 28.44% 26.51% (5.11)% 1.29% (1.12)% 5.99% < 10.00%

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents plus all term deposits
Monthly payments from cash flow of operating and financing activities

17.16
mths

12.93
mths

15.36
mths

28.79
mths

27.42
mths

65.97
mths

> 3.00
mths

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) - (2) Refer to Notes at Note G5-1 above.
(3) General fund refers to all of Council's activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

G5-2 Statement of performance measures by fund
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End of the audited financial statements

§TocItem§§Subnote§
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1. Operating performance ratio

Purpose of operating 
performance ratio

This ratio measures Council’s 
achievement of containing 

operating expenditure within 
operating revenue.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      (0.26)%

Cost of materials and services for the year has 
increased at a level greater than originally budgeted 

for.

Benchmark: ― > 0.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

§TocItem§§Subnote§

2. Own source operating revenue ratio

Purpose of own source 
operating revenue ratio

This ratio measures fiscal 
flexibility. It is the degree of 
reliance on external funding 

sources such as operating grants 
and contributions.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      34.68%

The Own Source Revenue ratio measures Council's 
dependence on external funding. During the year 
Council continues to receive significant external 

funding, however the ratio has improved slightly from 
the previous 3 years.

Benchmark: ― > 60.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

3. Unrestricted current ratio

Purpose of unrestricted
current ratio

To assess the adequacy of 
working capital and its ability to 
satisfy obligations in the short 

term for the unrestricted activities 
of Council.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      4.79x

Council continues to meet and exceed the 
benchmark for this ratio.

Benchmark: ― > 1.50x Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

H Additional Council disclosures (unaudited)

H1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs)
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4. Debt service cover ratio

Purpose of debt service
cover ratio

This ratio measures the 
availability of operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      5.10x

Council continues to meet the benchmark for the 
ratio although operating cash has reduced in 

2021/2022.

Benchmark: ― > 2.00x Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

§Total§

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage

Purpose of rates and 
annual charges 

outstanding percentage

To assess the impact of 
uncollected rates and annual 

charges on Council’s liquidity and 
the adequacy of recovery efforts.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      14.74%

Council continues to work closely with ratepayers to 
ensure prompt payment of outstanding rates and 
charges. Notwithstanding significant impacts of 

Covid-19 on many ratepayers, Council has seen a 
slight increase in outstanding rates and charges. 

Council ratepayers are finding it more difficult to meet
their commitments.

Benchmark: ― < 10.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

6. Cash expense cover ratio

Purpose of cash 
expense cover ratio

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months a Council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 

inflow.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      17.45 mths

Council remains in a strong position to maintain 
services and activities.

Benchmark: ― > 3.00mths Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

H1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs) (continued)
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Principal place of business:

§TocItem§§Subnote§

29 Mitchell Street
Bourke NSW 2840

Council's Office hours are 8.00am to 4.30pm daily.

Contact details

Service NSW office hours are Monday to Thursday 8.30am to 4pm and Friday 8.30am to 3.45pm.

Council can be contacted by telephoning (02) 6830 8000 or by email at bourkeshire@bourke.nsw.gov.au.

Council's website address is www.bourke.nsw.gov.au

Mailing Address:

29 Mitchell Street

or

PO Box 21
Bourke NSW 2840

General Manager
Officers

Leonie Brown

Responsible Accounting Officer
Leonie Brown

Public Officer
Leonie Brown

Auditors
Auditor General of NSW

Mayor
Elected members

Clr Barry Holman

Councillors

Cr. Lachlan Ford (Deputy Mayor)
Cr. Victor Bartley
Cr. Sarah Barton
Cr. Nathan Ryan
Cr. Sally Davis
Cr. Cec Dorrington
Cr. Sam Rice
Cr. Robert Stutsel
Cr. Grace Ridge

ABN: 96 716 194 950
Other information

H1-2 Council information and contact details
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Report on the general purpose financial statements 

Bourke Shire Council 

 

To the Councillors of Bourke Shire Council 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bourke Shire Council (the Council), which 
comprise the Statement by Councillors and Management, the Income Statement and Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2022, the Statement of Financial Position as at 
30 June 2022, the Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

In my opinion: 

• the Council’s accounting records have been kept in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1993, Chapter 13, Part 3, Division 2 (the Division) 

• the financial statements: 
- have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of this 

Division 
- are consistent with the Council’s accounting records 
- present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Council as at 

30 June 2022, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 

• all information relevant to the conduct of the audit has been obtained 
• no material deficiencies in the accounting records or financial statements have come to light 

during the audit. 
 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 
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Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information 
The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the special purpose financial statements and Special Schedules 
(the Schedules). 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the special purpose financial 
statements and Special Schedule - Permissible income for general rates. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1993, and for such 
internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• on the Original Budget information included in the Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, 

and Note B5-1 Material budget variations 
• on the Special Schedules. A separate opinion has been provided on Special 

Schedule - Permissible income for general rates 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Manuel Moncada 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

13 October 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Cr Barry Hollman 
Mayor 
Bourke Shire Council 
PO Box 21 
Bourke NSW 2840 

 

 

13 October 2022 

Dear Mayor 

Report on the Conduct of the Audit 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Bourke Shire Council 
I have audited the general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the Bourke Shire Council (the 
Council) for the year ended 30 June 2022 as required by section 415 of the Local Government Act 
1993 (the Act). 

I expressed an unmodified opinion on the Council’s GPFS. 

This Report on the Conduct of the Audit (the Report) for the Council for the year ended 30 June 2022 
is issued in accordance with section 417 of the Act. This Report should be read in conjunction with my 
audit opinion on the GPFS issued under section 417(2) of the Act. 

INCOME STATEMENT 
Operating result 
 
 

 2022 2021 Variance 

 $m $m % 

Rates and annual charges 
revenue 4.3 4.2 

 

Grants and 
contributions revenue 28.7 31.5 

 

Operating result 
from continuing operations 12.4 20.1 

 

Net operating result 
before capital grants and 
contributions 

(2.1) 0.1 
 

 
 

  2.4 

  8.9 
 

38.3 

2200 

Contact: Manuel Moncada 

Phone no: 02 9275 7311 

Our ref: D2220268/1698 
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Rates and annual charges revenue ($4.3 million) increased by $0.1 million (2.4 per cent) in 2021–
2022. 

Grants and contributions revenue ($28.7 million) decreased by $2.8 million (8.9 per cent) in 2021–
2022 due to reduced capital grant income which was partially offset by the receipt of additional 
advance payments of financial assistance grants. 

Council’s operating result ($12.4 million including the effect of depreciation and amortisation expense 
of $7.1 million) was $7.7 million higher than the 2020–21 result. This was mainly primarily due to 
reduced revenue from capital grants and additional operating costs. 

The net operating result before capital grants and contributions (a deficit of $2.1 million) was 
$2.2 million lower than the 2020–21 result. 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

• The Statement of Cash Flows 
illustrates the flow of cash and 
cash equivalents moving in and 
out of Council during the year 
and reveals that cash increased 
by $4.7 million to $14 million at 
the close of the year. 

 

 

 
 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

Cash and investments 
Cash and investments 2022 2021 Commentary 

 $m $m  

Total cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments 

35.6 30.2 • External restrictions include unspent specific 
purpose grants and domestic waste management 
charges, and water and sewerage funds. 

• Balances are internally restricted due to Council 
policy or decisions for forward plans including 
works program. 

Restricted cash and 
investments: 

  

• External restrictions 11.0 15.9 

• Internal restrictions  6.1 3.9 
 

Debt 
After repaying principal and interest of $1.4 million and taking up an additional borrowing of $1.7 
million during the financial year, total debt as at 30 June 2022 was $5.7 million (2021: $5.4 million). 
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PERFORMANCE  
Performance measures 
The following section provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the performance 
measures and performance benchmarks set by the Office of Local Government (OLG) within the 
Department of Planning and Environment. 
 

Operating performance ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 
The ‘operating performance ratio’ 
measures how well council contained 
operating expenditure within 
operating revenue (excluding capital 
grants and contributions, fair value 
adjustments, and reversal of 
revaluation decrements). The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than zero per cent. 
 
 

 
 

Own source operating revenue ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 
The ‘own source operating revenue 
ratio’ measures council’s fiscal 
flexibility and the degree to which it 
relies on external funding sources 
such as operating grants and 
contributions. The benchmark set by 
OLG is greater than 60 per cent.  
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Unrestricted current ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period. 
The ‘unrestricted current ratio’ is 
specific to local government and 
represents council’s ability to meet its 
short-term obligations as they fall due. 
The benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than 1.5 times.  
 

 
 

Debt service cover ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period.  
The ‘debt service cover ratio’ 
measures the operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments. The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than two times.  
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Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period.  
The ‘rates and annual charges 
outstanding percentage’ assesses the 
impact of uncollected rates and 
annual charges on council’s liquidity 
and the adequacy of debt recovery 
efforts. The benchmark set by OLG is 
less than 10 per cent regional and 
rural councils.  
 

 
 

Cash expense cover ratio 

The Council met the OLG benchmark 
for the current reporting period.  
This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months the council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 
inflow. The benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than three months.  
 

 
 

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment renewals 
• Council’s asset renewal additions for the year were $9.2 million compared to $15.4 million for 

the prior year. 
• Renewals consisted of infrastructure ($8 million) and plant, equipment and other assets ($1.2 

million). 
• The level of asset renewals during the year represented 130 percent of the total depreciation 

expense ($7.1 million) for the year. 
 

Legislative compliance 
My audit procedures did not identify any instances of non-compliance with legislative requirements or 
a material deficiency in the Council’s accounting records or financial statements. The Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form to allow the GPFS to be prepared 
and effectively audited 
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• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit. 
 

The Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form that facilitated the preparation and 
the effective audit of the GPFS 

• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit. 
 

 

 

 

Manuel Moncada  
Director - Financial Audit 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 
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Bourke Shire Council
SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Contents Page

Statement by Councillors and Management      

Special Purpose Financial Statements:

Income Statement of water supply business activity      
Income Statement of sewerage business activity      

Statement of Financial Position of water supply business activity      
Statement of Financial Position of sewerage business activity      

Note – Significant Accounting Policies      

Auditor's Report on Special Purpose Financial Statements      

i. These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Office of Local
Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

ii. The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a ‘level playing field’ between persons/entities competing
in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, state or local, should operate without
net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

iii. For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality and public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being water
supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation, and (b) those activities with a turnover of more
than $2 million that Council has formally declared as a business activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

iv. In preparing these financial statements for Council’s self-classified Category 1 businesses and ABS-defined activities,
councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including tax-equivalent regime
payments and debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from Council's borrowing position by comparison with
commercial rates).

Background

Bourke Shire Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Income Statement of water supply business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges 1,224 1,032
User charges 554 1,277
Fees 28 2
Interest and investment income 58 27
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 195 29
Net gain from the disposal of assets 11 –
Other income 165 154
Total income from continuing operations 2,235 2,521

§Subnote§

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 194 158
Borrowing costs 20 22
Materials and services 1,572 1,558
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1,004 1,603
Other expenses – 9
Total expenses from continuing operations 2,790 3,350

Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts (555) (829)

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 1,832 6,499
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts 1,277 5,670

Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax 1,277 5,670

Surplus (deficit) after tax 1,277 5,670

Plus accumulated surplus 21,049 14,810
Closing accumulated surplus 22,326 20,480

Return on capital % (1.6)% (2.6)%
Subsidy from Council 1,745 1,263

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax 1,277 5,670
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions) (1,832) (6,499)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes – –

Potential dividend calculated from surplus – –

Bourke Shire Council

Income Statement of water supply business activity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Income Statement of sewerage business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges 906 826
Interest and investment income 45 22
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 4 5
Other income 117 154
Total income from continuing operations 1,072 1,007

§Subnote§

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 94 86
Borrowing costs 6 5
Materials and services 844 421
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 338 381
Other expenses 9 2
Total expenses from continuing operations 1,291 895

Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts (219) 112

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 12 34
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts (207) 146

Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax (207) 146

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (25%) [based on result before capital] – (29)
Surplus (deficit) after tax (207) 117

Plus accumulated surplus 4,744 4,598
– Corporate taxation equivalent – 29
Closing accumulated surplus 4,537 4,744

Return on capital % (2.2)% 1.2%
Subsidy from Council 570 25

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax (207) 117
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions) (12) (34)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes – 83

Potential dividend calculated from surplus – 42

Bourke Shire Council

Income Statement of sewerage business activity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Financial Position of water supply business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

ASSETS

§Subnote§

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,149 4,018
Receivables 1,376 563
Total current assets 4,525 4,581

Non-current assets
Receivables 59 58
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 33,072 30,594
Total non-current assets 33,131 30,652

Total assets 37,656 35,233

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 321 247
Payables 140 286
Income received in advance – 23
Borrowings 45 42
Employee benefit provisions 185 185
Total current liabilities 691 783

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 218 263
Employee benefit provisions 6 6
Total non-current liabilities 224 269

Total liabilities 915 1,052

Net assets 36,741 34,181

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 22,326 20,480
Revaluation reserves 14,415 13,701
Total equity 36,741 34,181

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position of water supply business activity
as at 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Statement of Financial Position of sewerage business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2021
$ '000 $ '000

ASSETS

§Subnote§

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,539 2,460
Receivables 163 148
Total current assets 2,702 2,608

Non-current assets
Receivables 39 54
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 9,748 9,546
Total non-current assets 9,787 9,600

Total assets 12,489 12,208

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 15 15
Income received in advance – 23
Borrowings 5 5
Employee benefit provisions 123 124
Total current liabilities 143 167

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 56 61
Employee benefit provisions 4 4
Total non-current liabilities 60 65

Total liabilities 203 232

Net assets 12,286 11,976

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 4,537 4,744
Revaluation reserves 7,749 7,232
Total equity 12,286 11,976

Bourke Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position of sewerage business activity
as at 30 June 2022
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§Note/Subtotal§

A statement summarising the supplemental accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the special purpose financial
statements (SPFS) for National Competition Policy (NCP) reporting purposes follows.

These financial statements are SPFS prepared for use by Council and the Office of Local Government. For the purposes of
these statements, the Council is a non-reporting not-for-profit entity.

The figures presented in these special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition
and measurement criteria of relevant Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and Australian Accounting Interpretations.

The disclosures in these special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government
Act 1993 (Act), the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 (Regulation) and the Local Government Code of Accounting
Practice and Financial Reporting.

The statements are prepared on an accruals basis. They are based on historic costs and do not take into account changing
money values or, except where specifically stated, fair value of non-current assets. Certain taxes and other costs, appropriately
described, have been imputed for the purposes of the National Competition Policy.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

The Statement of Financial Position includes notional assets/liabilities receivable from/payable to Council's general fund. These
balances reflect a notional intra-entity funding arrangement with the declared business activities.

Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive neutrality’ in its business activities as part of the National Competition Policy
which is being applied throughout Australia at all levels of government. The framework for its application is set out in the June
1996 NSW Government Policy statement titled 'Application of National Competition Policy to Local Government'. The Pricing
and Costing for Council Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality issued by the Office of Local Government in July
1997 has also been adopted.

National Competition Policy

The pricing and costing guidelines outline the process for identifying and allocating costs to activities and provide a standard
for disclosure requirements. These disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing and/or financial reporting systems and include
taxation equivalents, Council subsidies, and returns on investments (rate of return and dividends paid).

In accordance with Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality, Council has declared that
the following are to be considered as business activities:

Declared business activities

Category 1
(where gross operating turnover is over $2 million)

Council has no Category 1 Business Activities.

Category 2
(where gross operating turnover is less than $2 million)

a. Bourke Shire Council Water Supplies
Water supply operations and net assets servicing the town of Bourke and the villages of Byrock, Enngonia, Fords Bridge,
Louth and Wanaaring.

b. Bourke Shire Council Sewerage Service
Sewerage reticulation and treatment operations and net assets servicing the town of Bourke.

Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial duties. Where this is the case, they are disclosed as a cost of operations
just like all other costs.

Taxation equivalent charges

However, where Council does not pay some taxes which are generally paid by private sector businesses, such as income
tax, these equivalent tax payments have been applied to all Council-nominated business activities and are reflected in Special
Purpose Finanncial Statements.

For the purposes of disclosing comparative information relevant to the private sector equivalent, the following taxation
equivalents have been applied to all Council-nominated business activities (this does not include Council’s non-business
activities):

continued on next page ... 

Note – Significant Accounting Policies
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Notional rate applied (%)

Corporate income tax rate – 25%

Land tax – the first $755,000 of combined land values attracts 0%. For the combined land values in excess of $755,000 up
to $4,616,000 the rate is $100 + 1.6%. For the remaining combined land value that exceeds $4,616,000 a premium marginal
rate of 2.0% applies.

Payroll tax – 4.85% on the value of taxable salaries and wages in excess of $1,200,000.

In accordance with the Department of Industry (DoI) – Water guidelines, a payment for the amount calculated as the annual
tax equivalent charges (excluding income tax) must be paid from water supply and sewerage business activities.

The payment of taxation equivalent charges, referred to in the Best Practice Management of Water Supply and Sewer
Guidelines as a ‘dividend for taxation equivalent’, may be applied for any purpose allowed under the Local Government Act,
1993.

Achievement of substantial compliance to the DoI – Water guidelines is not a prerequisite for the payment of the tax equivalent
charges, however the payment must not exceed $3 per assessment.

An income tax equivalent has been applied on the profits of the business activities.

Income tax

Whilst income tax is not a specific cost for the purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be taken into account in terms
of assessing the rate of return required on capital invested.

Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a pre-tax level - gain/(loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts,
as would be applied by a private sector competitor. That is, it should include a provision equivalent to the corporate income
tax rate, currently 25%.

Income tax is only applied where a gain/ (loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts has been achieved.

Since the taxation equivalent is notional – that is, it is payable to Council as the ‘owner’ of business operations - it represents
an internal payment and has no effect on the operations of the Council. Accordingly, there is no need for disclosure of internal
charges in the SPFS.

The rate applied of 25% is the equivalent company tax rate prevalent at reporting date. No adjustments have been made for
variations that have occurred during the year.

A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges for all Category 1 businesses has been applied to all assets owned, or
exclusively used by the business activity.

Local government rates and charges

The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that Council business activities face ‘true’ commercial borrowing costs in line with
private sector competitors. In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, Council has determined what the differential borrowing
rate would have been between the commercial rate and Council’s borrowing rate for its business activities.

Loan and debt guarantee fees

Government policy requires that subsidies provided to customers, and the funding of those subsidies, must be explicitly
disclosed. Subsidies occur where Council provides services on a less than cost recovery basis. This option is exercised on a
range of services in order for Council to meet its community service obligations. The overall effect of subsidies is contained
within the Income Statements of business activities.

(i) Subsidies

The NCP policy statement requires that councils with Category 1 businesses ‘would be expected to generate a return on capital
funds employed that is comparable to rates of return for private businesses operating in a similar field’.

(ii) Return on investments (rate of return)

Funds are subsequently available for meeting commitments or financing future investment strategies. The rate of return is
disclosed for each of Council’s business activities on the Income Statement.

continued on next page ... 

Note – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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The rate of return is calculated as follows:

Operating result before capital income + interest expense

Written down value of I,PP&E as at 30 June

As a minimum, business activities should generate a return equal to the Commonwealth 10 year bond rate which is 3.66%
at 30/6/22.

Council is not required to pay dividends to either itself (as owner of a range of businesses) or to any external entities.

(iii) Dividends

Local government water supply and sewerage businesses are permitted to pay an annual dividend from its water supply or
sewerage business surplus.

Each dividend must be calculated and approved in accordance with the Department of Industry – Water guidelines and must
not exceed:

• 50% of this surplus in any one year, or
• the number of water supply or sewerage assessments at 30 June 2022 multiplied by $30 (less the payment for tax

equivalent charges, not exceeding $3 per assessment).

In accordance with the Department of Industry – Water guidelines a Dividend Payment form, Statement of Compliance,
Unqualified Independent Financial Audit Report and Compliance Audit Report are required to be submitted to the Department
of Industry – Water.

Note – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Report on the special purpose financial statements 

Bourke Shire Council 

 

To the Councillors of Bourke Shire Council 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements (the financial statements) of 
Bourke Shire Council’s (the Council) Declared Business Activities, which comprise the Statement by 
Councillors and Management, the Income Statement of each Declared Business Activity for the year 
ended 30 June 2022, the Statement of Financial Position of each Declared Business Activity as at 
30 June 2022 and the Significant accounting policies note. 

The Declared Business Activities of the Council are: 

• Water Supply Business 
• Sewerage Business 
 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Council’s Declared Business Activities as at 30 June 2022, and their financial performance for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards described in the Significant 
accounting policies note and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial 
Reporting 2021–22 (LG Code). 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as the auditor of councils 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  
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Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  
Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the Significant accounting policies note to the 
financial statements which describes the basis of accounting. The financial statements have been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities under the LG 
Code. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.  

Other Information 
The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the general purpose financial statements and Special Schedules 
(the Schedules). 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the general purpose financial 
statements and Special Schedule ‘Permissible income for general rates’.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.  

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
and for determining that the accounting policies, described in the Significant accounting policies note 
to the financial statements, are appropriate to meet the requirements in the LG Code. The Councillors’ 
responsibility also includes such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

Manuel Moncada 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

13 October 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Bourke Shire Council | Permissible income for general rates | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Calculation Calculation
2021/22 2022/23

Notes $ '000 $ '000

Notional general income calculation   1

Last year notional general income yield a 1,956 1,995
Plus or minus adjustments   2 b (1) (1)
Notional general income c = a + b 1,955 1,994

§Subnote§

Permissible income calculation
Or rate peg percentage e 2.00% 2.10%

Or plus rate peg amount i = e x (c + g) 39 42
Sub-total k = (c + g + h + i + j) 1,994 2,036

Plus (or minus) last year’s carry forward total l 1 –
Sub-total n = (l + m) 1 –

Total permissible income o = k + n 1,995 2,036

Less notional general income yield p 1,995 2,037
Catch-up or (excess) result q = o – p – (1)

Carry forward to next year   3 t = q + r + s – (1)

Notes

(1) The notional general income will not reconcile with rate income in the financial statements in the corresponding year. The statements are
reported on an accrual accounting basis which include amounts that relate to prior years’ rates income.

(2) Adjustments account for changes in the number of assessments and any increase or decrease in land value occurring during the year.
The adjustments are called ‘supplementary valuations’ as defined in the Valuation of Land Act 1916 (NSW).

(3) Carry forward amounts which are in excess (an amount that exceeds the permissible income) require ministerial approval by order 
published in the NSW Government Gazette in accordance with section 512 of the Local Government Act 1993. The OLG will extract 
these amounts from Council’s Permissible income for general rates Statement in the financial data return (FDR) to administer this 
process.

Bourke Shire Council

Permissible income for general rates
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Special Schedule – Permissible income for general rates 

Bourke Shire Council 

 

To the Councillors of Bourke Shire Council 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying Special Schedule – Permissible income for general rates (the 
Schedule) of Bourke Shire Council (the Council) for the year ending 30 June 2023. 

In my opinion, the Schedule is prepared, in all material respects in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting 2021–22 (LG Code) 
and is in accordance with the books and records of the Council.  

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Schedule’ section of my 
report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  
Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the special purpose framework used to prepare the 
Schedule. The Schedule has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Council’s reporting 
obligations under the LG Code. As a result, the Schedule may not be suitable for another purpose.  
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Other Information 
The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the Schedule and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are responsible for the 
other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have 
received comprise the general purpose financial statements, special purpose financial statements and 
Special Schedule ‘Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022’. 

My opinion on the Schedule does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the general purpose financial 
statements and the special purpose financial statements. 

In connection with my audit of the Schedule, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Schedule or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Schedule  
The Councillors are responsible for the preparation of the Schedule in accordance with the LG Code. 
The Councillors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the Schedule that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Schedule, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Schedule  
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance whether the Schedule as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the Schedule. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the Schedule is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar8.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.  
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited Schedule on any 

website where it may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the Schedule. 
 

 

 

Manuel Moncada 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

13 October 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Bourke Shire Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Asset Class Asset Category

Estimated cost
to bring assets
to satisfactory 

standard

Estimated cost
to bring to the 

agreed level of 
service set by 

Council

2021/22 
Required 

maintenance   a

2021/22
Actual

maintenance
Net carrying 

amount

Gross 
replacement 

cost (GRC)

Assets in condition as a percentage of 
gross replacement cost

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 1 2 3 4 5

Buildings – non-specialised – – 352 253 2,884 4,312 8.0% 17.0% 69.0% 6.0% 0.0%
Buildings – specialised 2,000 2,000 230 311 17,209 31,636 10.0% 20.0% 56.0% 14.0% 0.0%

Buildings

Sub-total 2,000 2,000 582 564 20,093 35,948 9.8% 19.6% 57.6% 13.0% 0.0%

§Subnote§

Other Structures – – 451 505 4,976 9,087 15.0% 55.0% 29.0% 1.0% 0.0%Other 
structures Sub-total – – 451 505 4,976 9,087 15.0% 55.0% 29.0% 1.0% 0.0%

Sealed roads – – 896 1,994 66,592 81,226 70.0% 7.0% 16.0% 7.0% 0.0%
Unsealed roads – – 1,100 812 96,725 102,970 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Bridges – – – 5 24,068 37,627 39.0% 57.0% 4.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Footpaths 450 450 42 11 2,941 6,843 16.0% 26.0% 58.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other road assets – – 175 95 6,217 11,034 70.0% 20.0% 10.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Kerb & Guttering 2,500 2,500 33 5 2,717 11,642 1.0% 5.0% 85.0% 9.0% 0.0%

Roads

Sub-total 2,950 2,950 2,246 2,922 199,261 251,342 32.0% 12.6% 52.7% 2.7% 0.0%

Water supply network – – 193 942 31,078 53,777 38.0% 21.0% 37.0% 4.0% 0.0%Water supply 
network Sub-total – – 193 942 31,078 107,554 19.0% 10.5% 18.5% 2.0% 50.0%

Sewerage network – – 330 532 9,749 22,477 6.0% 26.0% 68.0% 0.0% 0.0%Sewerage 
network Sub-total – – 330 532 9,748 44,954 3.0% 13.0% 34.0% 0.0% 50.0%

Stormwater drainage – – 54 81 3,767 5,879 13.0% 34.0% 53.0% 0.0% 0.0%Stormwater 
drainage Sub-total – – 54 81 3,767 5,879 13.0% 34.0% 53.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Swimming pools – – – 81 4,108 4,891 67.0% 14.0% 19.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other Open Spaces – – 530 534 5,733 11,268 18.0% 25.0% 54.0% 3.0% 0.0%

Open space / 
recreational 
assets Sub-total – – 530 615 9,841 16,159 32.8% 21.7% 43.4% 2.1% 0.0%

Aerodromes – – 117 184 4,023 5,456 80.0% 14.0% 3.0% 3.0% 0.0%Other 
infrastructure 
assets Sub-total – – 117 184 4,023 5,456 80.0% 14.0% 3.0% 3.0% 0.0%

continued on next page ... 
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Asset Class Asset Category

Estimated cost
to bring assets
to satisfactory 

standard

Estimated cost
to bring to the 

agreed level of 
service set by 

Council

2021/22 
Required 

maintenance   a

2021/22
Actual

maintenance
Net carrying 

amount

Gross 
replacement 

cost (GRC)

Assets in condition as a percentage of 
gross replacement cost

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 1 2 3 4 5

infrastructure – Levee Banks – – 44 26 16,934 24,709 15.0% 84.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0%Additional 
asset class (if 
required) Sub-total – – 44 26 16,934 24,709 15.0% 84.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Heritage Items – – – – 1,148 11,368 6.0% 0.0% 0.0% 94.0% 0.0%Additional 
asset class (if 
required) Sub-total – – – – 1,148 11,368 6.0% 0.0% 0.0% 94.0% 0.0%

Total – all assets 4,950 4,950 4,547 6,371 300,869 512,456 23.8% 17.2% 39.3% 4.8% 14.9%

(a) Required maintenance is the amount identified in Council’s asset management plans.
Infrastructure asset condition assessment ‘key’

1 Excellent/very good No work required (normal maintenance)
2 Good Only minor maintenance work required
3 Satisfactory Maintenance work required
4 Poor Renewal required
5 Very poor Urgent renewal/upgrading required

Bourke Shire Council

Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 (continued)
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Bourke Shire Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Infrastructure asset performance indicators (consolidated)   *

 Amounts Indicator Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2022 2021 2020

Buildings and infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals   1 8,054
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 5,898 136.55% 247.48% 166.66% >= 100.00%

Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory 
standard 4,950
Net carrying amount of infrastructure assets 323,518

1.53% 1.30% 1.66% < 2.00%

Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance 6,371
Required asset maintenance 4,547 140.11% 84.08% 96.30% > 100.00%

Cost to bring assets to agreed service level
Estimated cost to bring assets to
an agreed service level set by Council 4,950
Gross replacement cost 512,456

0.97% 1.00% 1.18%

(*) All asset performance indicators are calculated using classes identified in the previous table.

(1) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent capacity/performance  as opposed to
the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that increases capacity/performance.

Bourke Shire Council

Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Buildings and infrastructure renewals ratio

Buildings and 
infrastructure 
renewals ratio

To assess the rate at 
which these assets are 
being renewed relative 
to the rate at which they 

are depreciating.

Commentary on result

21/22 ratio      136.55%

Benchmark: ― >= 100.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

Infrastructure backlog ratio

Infrastructure 
backlog ratio

This ratio shows what 
proportion the backlog is
against the total value of

a Council’s 
infrastructure.

Commentary on result

21/22 ratio      1.53%

Benchmark: ― < 2.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

Asset maintenance ratio

Asset 
maintenance ratio

Compares actual vs. 
required annual asset 
maintenance. A ratio 
above 1.0 indicates 
Council is investing 

enough funds to stop 
the infrastructure 
backlog growing.

Commentary on result

21/22 ratio      140.11%

Benchmark: ― > 100.00% Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

Cost to bring assets to agreed service level

Cost to bring 
assets to agreed 

service level

This ratio provides a 
snapshot of the 

proportion of 
outstanding renewal 

works compared to the 
total value of assets 
under Council's care 

and stewardship.

Commentary on result

21/22 ratio      0.97%

Bourke Shire Council

Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022
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Bourke Shire Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Infrastructure asset performance indicators (by fund)

 General fund Water fund Sewer fund Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Buildings and infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals   1

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 184.35% 200.05% 38.55% 417.43% 0.00% 6.04% >= 100.00%

Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory standard
Net carrying amount of infrastructure assets 1.86% 1.50% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% < 2.00%

Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance
Required asset maintenance 121.69% 83.69% 488.08% 90.04% 161.21% 76.40% > 100.00%

Cost to bring assets to agreed service level
Estimated cost to bring assets to an agreed service level set by 
Council
Gross replacement cost

1.38% 1.13% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(1) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent capacity/performance  as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that
increases capacity/performance.

Bourke Shire Council
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